
CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT

Regular Board Meeting 

3945 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 

March 31, 2022 
Thursday 

9:00AM 

1



  Carmel   Area   Wastewater    District 
  P.O. Box 221428 Carmel California  93922 ❖ (831) 624-1248 ❖  FAX (831) 624-0811 

Barbara Buikema 
General Manager 

Ed Waggoner 
Operations Superintendent 

Robert R. Wellington 
Legal Counsel 

Board of Directors 

Gregory D'Ambrosio 

Michael K. Rachel 

Robert Siegfried 

Charlotte F. Townsend 

Ken White 

COVID-19 Public Meeting Procedures 

As per the Governor’s Executive Order #N-08-21 (June 11, 2021) the following will 

be in effect until September 30, 2021. 

• CAWD will not make a physical location available from which members of the

public may observe and offer public comment.

• All CAWD public meetings shall take place via teleconferencing and shall be

posted on the District website (www.cawd.org) and allow members of the public

to attend and address the meeting electronically.

• The District will give advance notice of all teleconference meeting as prescribed

by the Brown Act

• The public may listen to the meeting by logging on to the District website and

clicking on the Virtual Webinar.

• Public comment may be submitted 24 hours prior to the meeting by clicking on

the “Public Comment Form” listed directly beneath the Virtual Webinar on our

website.  If received within 24 hours of the meeting we will ensure that a

response is given at the meeting.  All participants have access during the meeting
to be recognized and utilize the platform to speak. Please use the virtual "raised
hand" to be acknowledged.

• The District is requesting that the public submit comments at least 24 hours in

advance of the scheduled meeting to enable staff to post all comment on the

District web site.  Any comment received after this time will be posted after the

Board meeting.

• The teleconference Board meeting will require that all voting is done by roll call

• The teleconference Board meeting will require that speakers identify themselves

prior to addressing other attendees in order to facilitate the flow of the  meeting

and minimize confusion.

• The District advises that the public refer to our website periodically for updates

regarding the District and Board activity.

2

http://www.cawd.org/


UPDATE ON: 

COVID-19
Risk Mitigation and 

Response Efforts
PRESENTATION TO BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MARCH 31, 2022

1

3



Update Topics

• Latest State guidance incorporated into CAWD 

COVID policies  

• No changes to policies for unvaccinated 

employee(s)

• Masking for public board meetings

2

4



New State Guidance 

• New Cal/OSHA standards (effective 1/14/2022) 

• Incorporates 1/6/2022 California Department of Public Health (CDPH) 
return-to-work standards

• Specifies no-cost testing as part of return-to-work decisions

• CDPH face covering (mask) guidance (effective 2/16/2022) 

• Lifts mask requirements for vaccinated employees (both indoors and 
outdoors)

• Masks still required in shared vehicles

• Masks still required for unvaccinated employees

3

5



No Changes for Unvaccinated

• CAWD policies remain unchanged
• N-95 respirator required when indoors and in shared vehicles

• 6-foot separation still required when eating

• All non-essential, work-related training/travel remains cancelled

• Weekly testing

• Daily screening

4

6



Masking During Public Meetings

• If vaccinated and boosted, masks are not required during 
public meetings

• If not boosted then the standards, as described on recent 
agendas, will apply.
• For public meetings at the Administration building, all entrants shall be required to show proof of COVID-

19 vaccine or a negative COVID-19 test result within 48 hours of the meeting. Alternatively, entrants may 
provide proof of a positive antibody test within the last 90 days. Masks are required at all times except 
while eating or drinking. Masks will not be required if entrants provide proof of being vaccinated and 
boosted. 

5

7



6

8

Q&A



CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

COVID-19 Risk Mitigation and Response Plan 
 

 
CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

3945 Rio Road 
Carmel, CA 93923 

March 1, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9



This plan has been updated to protect the District employees against the evolving hazards 

from COVID-19.  The goals of this March 2022 update are to: 

 

• Incorporate the updated Exposure Control Plan meeting updated Cal-OSHA requirements 

(effective January 14, 2022) 

• Incorporate the new Return to Work Guidance from California Department of Public 

Health (effective January 6, 2022).  

• Incorporate the updated facial covering (mask) Guidance from California Department of 

Public Health (effective February 16, 2022).  

• Specify protocols for in-person Board of Director meetings 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

1. Incorporation of Updated Exposure Control Plan     3 

 

2. Additional Measures to Reduce the Spread of COVID-19 in the  Workplace  3 

2.1  Responsibilities for District Employees     3 

2.2  Responsibilities for District Management     3 

2.3. Additional Control Measures not covered in ECP    3-4 

2.4. Vaccination and Testing Requirements for Employees   4-5 

 

3. Tiered Plan for Maintaining District Operations (placeholder)    5 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Exposure Control Plan  (updated per Jan 2022 Cal/OSHA requirements)  

Appendix B: Screening Protocols (unchanged from Aug 2021)    

Appendix C: Exposure and Illness Response Protocols (replaced w/ CDPH guidance) 

Appendix D: Vaccination/Testing Requirements (unchanged from Aug 2021)   

Appendices D1-4:  [All unchanged from Aug 2021]   

     

The General Manager reserves the right to modify or change this plan at any time based on her 

discretion, and updated information or direction from health authorities and regulators. 

 

If the General Manager is not able to continue to work due to quarantine or illness then the role will be 

assigned in this order:  Plant Engineer, Maintenance Superintendent, Principal Engineer. 

 

10



Carmel Area Wastewater District 
COVID-19 Risk Mitigation and Response Plan 

(Response Plan) 
 

1. Incorporation of COVID-19 Exposure Control Plan 

An Updated Exposure Control Plan (ECP) has been updated based on the latest Cal-OSHA 

regulations effective as of January 14, 2022.    

 

The ECP will remain the primary/guiding document for ongoing controls and measures and 

is found as Appendix A.    Where District policy exceeds the requirements found in the 

ECP, District policy supersedes the ECP. 

 

2. Control Measures to Reduce the Hazards from COVID-19 in the Workplace 

 

2.1.      Responsibilities of all District Employees: 

 

• Follow the latest COVID-19 ECP and the additional Protocols and Measures found 

in this Response Plan. 

• Where District policy exceeds the requirements found in the ECP, District policy 

supersedes the ECP. 

 

2.2. Responsibilities by District Management 

 

• Stay aware of the latest information on the COVID-19 outbreak, available on the 
CDC website, State Department of Public Health and Monterey County Public 
Health website.  Follow the directives from these official agencies.  
 

• Identify changing hazards and, when indicated, establish and implement additional 
control measures beyond the mandated measure required by Federal, State and 
local health agencies. 
 

• Provide the required training and timely updates to staff 
 

2.3. Additional Control Measures not covered in ECP 
 
“Face covering”- means a surgical mask, medical procedure mask, a tightly woven 
fabric mask, or non-woven material of at least two layers). The mask must cover 
the nose and mouth. Unacceptable face coverings include a scarf, ski mask, 
balaclava, bandana, turtleneck, a collar or single layer of fabric.  

11



“Vaccinated”- means having received both doses of a two-dose vaccine or one dose of a one-
dose vaccine. 
 

• Vaccinated employees are no longer required to wear a face covering outdoors even if 
within 6’ of each other, however this is encouraged.  
  

• Vaccinated employees are no longer required to wear a face covering indoors but only 
when outdoor air is being maximized. If outdoor air cannot be maximized a face 
covering shall be required.  

 

• All employees, regardless of vaccination status are still required to wear a face 
covering while in vehicles when two or more persons occupy the vehicle. 
 

• All employees, regardless of vaccination status are required to wear a face covering 
when indoors with contractors or vendors unless the contractor’s or vendor’s 
vaccinated status has been verified. 
  

• Voluntarily worn N95 respirators indoors are encouraged. 
 

• Non-vaccinated employees are required to wear a N95 respirator when within 6 feet 
of other staff, the public, in vehicles or inside common area buildings.  
 

• Non-vaccinated employees will continue to implement daily health and temperature 
screening protocols when entering facilities per Appendix B.  

 

• Implement the updated Exposure and Illness Response Protocols per Appendix C.  
 

• For unvaccinated employees, all non-essential work-related travel remains cancelled 
until further notice. 
 

• For vaccinated employees, non-essential work-related travel may be approved on a 
case-by-case basis. Return to work shall be allowed and the employee will perform 
ongoing self-screening for any symptoms.  
 

• Outdoor staff gatherings are allowed where unvaccinated employees can maintain 6’ 
separation. 
 

• Indoor staff gatherings are allowed where vaccinated and unvaccinated employees can 
meet the requirements above.   

 

• Continue to use remote conference solutions such as Microsoft Teams and Zoom when 
practical. 
 

12



• The public and vendors will be admitted past interior lobby based on the same criteria 
used for in-person public meetings.  
 

• For public meetings at the Administration building, all entrants shall be required to 
show proof of COVID-19 vaccine or a negative COVID-19 test result within 48 hours of the 
meeting. Alternatively, entrants may provide proof of a positive antibody test within the 
last 90 days. Masks are required at all times except while eating or drinking. Masks will not 
be required if entrants provide proof of being vaccinated and boosted. 

 
Acceptable proof of vaccination or 
test status which includes the 
following documentation  

Examples  

 Vaccination certificate with QR code(1), digital 
pass via Smartphone application with QR 
code(1) (e.g., United Kingdom National Health 
Service COVID Pass, European Union Digital 
COVID Certificate)  

Non-verifiable paper records  Printout of COVID-19 vaccination record or a 
COVID-19 vaccination certificate issued at 
national or subnational level or by an 
authorized vaccine provider (e.g., the CDC 
vaccination card)  

Non-verifiable digital records  Digital photos of vaccination card or record, 
downloaded vaccine record or vaccination 
certificate from official source (e.g., public 
health agency, government agency, or other 
authorized vaccine provider), or a mobile 
phone application without QR code (1)  

Positive Viral Test Criteria  • If you have had a positive viral test on a 
sample taken during the past 90 days, and you 
have met the criteria to end isolation,  
• You may also provide proof of a positive IgG 
antibody test within the last 90 days.  
• A signed letter from a licensed healthcare 
provider or a public health official that states 
you have been cleared  
• The positive test result and letter together 
or a letter from your healthcare provider or a 
public health official that clears you to end 
isolation referred to as “documentation of 
recovery.”  
• The letter must be signed and dated on 
official letterhead that contains the name, 
address, and phone number of the healthcare 
provider or public health official who signed 
the letter.  

13



 

2.4. Vaccination/Testing Requirements for employees per Appendix D 
 

• Employees shall be required to be vaccinated as described in Appendix D. If 
employee chooses not to meet vaccination requirements, then a mutual 
separation will be carried out between the District and the employee.  
 

• Requirements for booster shots shall be implemented if and when official 
guidance is issued by County, State or Federal health agencies to protect worker 
safety.   
 

• If an employee with an approved medical or religious exemption does not meet 
the requirements for regular testing, then a mutual separation will be carried out 
between the district and the employee after 2 missed (cumulative) tests.  
 

• If an employee with an approved medical or religious exemption does not follow 
Personal Protective Equipment measures and social distancing protocols per this 
policy, then a mutual separation will be carried out between the district and the 
employee after 3 documented violations.  
 

• New employees shall be required to submit proof of vaccinated status prior to 
any formal offer of employment.   

 

3. Tiered Plan for Maintaining Critical District Operations (placeholder) 

[Note: This section was removed during the August 2021 update. The Board of Directors 

and/or Management may reestablish plans as needed to maintain critical services as the 

pandemic progresses.]  

 
 
 

14



APPENDIX C 
EXPOSURE AND ILLNESS RESPONSE PROTOCOLS 

 
Link- Updated Return to Work guidance from CDPH Effective Jan 6, 2022 

 

DEFINITIONS: 

 

Isolation: separates those infected with a contagious disease from people who are not infected. 

 

Quarantine: restricts the movement of persons who were exposed to a contagious disease in case 

they become infected. 
 

1. Persons Who Test Positive for COVID-19 (Everyone -- regardless of vaccination status, 
previous infection or lack of symptoms)  

 

• Stay home (PDF) for at least 5 days.  

• Isolation can end after day 5 if symptoms are not present or are resolving and a 

diagnostic specimen* collected on day 5 or later tests negative. 

• If unable to test or choosing not to test, and symptoms are not present or are resolving, 

isolation can end after day 10. 

• If fever is present, isolation should be continued until fever resolves.  

• If symptoms, other than fever, are not resolving continue to isolate until symptoms are 

resolving or until after day 10. 

• Wear a well-fitting mask around others for a total of 10 days, especially in indoor 

settings (see Section below on masking for additional information) 

*Antigen test preferred. 

 

2. Persons Who are Exposed to Someone with COVID-19 (Unvaccinated; or Vaccinated and 
booster-eligible but have not yet received their booster dose.) 

• Stay home (PDF) for at least 5 days, after your last contact with a person who has 

COVID-19.  

• Test on day 5*  

• Quarantine can end after day 5 if symptoms are not present and a diagnostic specimen 

collected on day 5 or later tests negative. 

• If unable to test or choosing not to test, and symptoms are not present, quarantine can end 

after day 10. 

• Wear a well-fitting mask around others for a total of 10 days, especially in indoor settings 

(see Section below on masking for additional information). 

• If testing positive, follow isolation recommendations above.  

• If symptoms develop, test and stay home. 

*Antigen test preferred. 

 

15

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/Guidance-on-Isolation-and-Quarantine-for-COVID-19-Contact-Tracing.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/COVID-19/self-isolation-instructions.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/Guidance-on-Isolation-and-Quarantine-for-COVID-19-Contact-Tracing.aspx#asterisk
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/Guidance-on-Isolation-and-Quarantine-for-COVID-19-Contact-Tracing.aspx
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/COVID-19/selfq_handout.pdf
https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/Guidance-on-Isolation-and-Quarantine-for-COVID-19-Contact-Tracing.aspx


 
3.  Asymptomatic Persons Who Are Exposed to Someone with COVID-19 (Vaccinated and 

boosted) 

• No isolation or quarantine if asymptomatic 

• Test on day 5*  

• Wear a well-fitting mask around others for 10 days, especially in indoor settings (see 

Section below on masking for additional information) 

• If testing positive, follow isolation recommendations above. 

• If symptoms develop, test and stay home.  

*Antigen test preferred. 
 

4.  Symptomatic Persons (Everyone -- regardless of vaccination status, booster status or 
previous infection) [CAWD Policy] 

• Notify supervisor and stay home 

• A rapid lab test will immediately be scheduled for the employee by the District. This will 

be at no cost to the employee (test, time and mileage will be covered).  

• If a rapid lab test is not available or accessible, one negative PCR test or two negative 

antigen, tests taken 24 hours apart, will be accepted. 

*An antigen test, nucleic acid amplification test (NAAT) or LAMP test are acceptable, however, it is 
recommended that persons use an antigen test for ending isolation. Exposed persons who were infected 
with SARS-CoV-2 within 90 days prior to their current exposure should also use an antigen test. Use of 
Over-the-Counter tests are also acceptable to end isolation or quarantine. 

16

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/Guidance-on-Isolation-and-Quarantine-for-COVID-19-Contact-Tracing.aspx


STAFF REPORT  
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

 
Date:             March 31, 2022 
 
Subject: Pretreatment Ordinance 2022-02 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve Ordinance No. 2022-02, adopting a 
new Pretreatment Ordinance and repeal Ordinance No. 2022-01 and 2021-03 in its entirety 
and repeal Resolution 2021-66. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The existing Pretreatment Ordinance #2022-01 was approved by the Board of Directors at 
the regular January 2022, meeting.  Staff performed a secondary proof-read of the 
Ordinance and came back with some additional “typos” that are corrected in this version.  
In addition, we have 5 items that require a greater degree of change and are returned for 
your consideration.  As follows: 
 
Page 18 
Under definition for Significant Noncompliance (SNC) under Ordinance 2022-01 it refers to 
Section 4.13 
The correct reference should be Section 4.12 
 
Page 33 
Section 2.15 under item “e” it refers to section 2.7.1  
The correct reference should be Section 2.15  
 
Page 60 
Item “A” starts “In addition to those grounds set forth in Section 3.6, item A, 6 . . . “ 
The correct reference should be “In addition to those grounds set forth in Section 3.6, item 

A. . . .”  Delete the number 6. 
 
Page 74 
The last bullet under 7.2 refers to “Department of Waste Hauler Registration or Public 

Health License.” 
This should be deleted as it repeats the ending phrase in the bullet above. 

  

17



 
 
Page 81 
Item 5 requires the report be reviewed by the District Engineer. 
The correct verbiage should be “District Engineer (or assignee)” as the Engineer may 

transfer responsibility to an employee they feel has the appropriate training 
and ability. 

 
 
FINANCIAL 
 
No impact 
 
Attachments:  Pretreatment Ordinance 2022-02 (Red Line version) 

18



PRETREATMENT ORDINANCE 
2022-02 

 
 
 
 

 
 

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 
 

 
Board Approved: March 31, 2022 
Effective Date: April 20, 2022 

19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37

barringer
Highlight



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52

barringer
Highlight



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79

barringer
Highlight



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93

barringer
Highlight



94



95



96



97



98



99



100

barringer
Highlight



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



ORDINANCE NO. 2022-02 

 
AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING ORDINANCE NO. 2021-03 and 2022-01 

CONCERNING PRETREATMENT OF WASTEWATER, AND (2) ADOPTING A NEW 
AND REVISED PRETREATMENT ORDINANCE AS AMENDED FOR THE CARMEL 

AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT 

-oOo- 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT DOES 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. Ordinance No. 2022-01 Repealed. Ordinance No. 2022-01, “An Ordinance (1) 
Repealing Ordinance No. 2021-03 Concerning Pretreatment of Wastewater and (2) Adopting 
a New and Revised Pretreatment Ordinance as Amended for the Carmel Area Wastewater 
District” passed and adopted January 27, 2022, is hereby repealed in its entirety. 
2. Ordinance No. 2021-03 Repealed. Ordinance No. 2021-03, "An Ordinance (1) 
Repealing Ordinance No. 91-03 and No. 2005-01 Concerning Pretreatment of Wastewater, 
and (2) Adopting a New and Revised Pretreatment Ordinance as Amended in Exhibit 
A- for the Carmel Area Wastewater District," passed and adopted on September 30, 2021, is 
hereby repealed in its entirety. 
3. Resolution No. 2021-66 Repealed. Resolution No. 2021-66, "A Resolution 
Approving an Amendment to the Pretreatment Ordinance No. 2021-03 in Section 8.1.3 
Item No. 8 Amended" passed and adopted on December 30, 2021 is hereby repealed in 
its entirety. 
4. Adopted. The attached "Pretreatment Ordinance of the Carmel Area 
Wastewater District" (Exhibit A) consisting of 92 pages establishing new and revised 
standards governing pretreatment of sewage, and various other related matters, is 
hereby adopted by the District, to read in its entirety as set forth in Exhibit A, 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
5. Summary of Ordinance. An ordinance regulating direct and indirect discharges 
to the wastewater system through the issuance of permits to certain non-domestic users 
and through enforcement of general requirements for the other users, authorizes 
monitoring and enforcement activities, requires user reporting, assures that existing 
customer's capacity will not be preempted and provides for the setting of fees for the 
equitable distribution of costs resulting from the program established herein. A true and 
certified copy of the full text of this Ordinance and the incorporated Exhibit A are on file 
and available for inspection at the District offices. 
6. Severability. The Board declares that each section, subsection, paragraph, 
subparagraph, sentence, clause, phrase, and graphic of this Ordinance, including 
incorporated Exhibit A, is severable and independent of every other section, 
subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, sentence, clause, phrase and graphic of this 

116



Ordinance. If any section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, sentence, clause, 
phrase, or graphic of this Ordinance is held invalid, the Board declares that it would 
have adopted the remaining provisions of this Ordinance irrespective of the portion 
held invalid, and further declares its express intent that the remaining portions of 
this Ordinance should remain in effect after the invalid portion has been eliminated. 
7. California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Exempt. This approval is 
covered by the general rule that CEQA applies only to projects which have the potential 
for causing a significant effect on the environment. It can be stated with certainty that 
adoption of the standards set out in Exhibit A is not an activity that may have a 
significant effect on the environment, and therefore is not subject to CEQA.  (CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15601(b)(3)). 
8. Publication. No later than 15 days following the adoption hereof, this 
Ordinance shall be published once in a newspaper published in the District. 
9. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force 14 days after 
publication per Section 7 of this ordinance. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of 
the Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on March 31, 2022, by the following 
vote: 

AYES:  BOARD MEMBERS: 
NOES: BOARD MEMBERS: 
ABSENT: BOARD MEMBERS:  
ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS: 

 
      

_________________________________ 
Ken White, President of the Board 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 
 

117



  
CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT   

REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES  
  Thursday, 9:00 a.m., February 24, 2022 

Teleconference Webinar & in-person 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL - The meeting was called to order at 8:59 a.m.  
 
Present: Directors: Greg D’Ambrosio, Mike Rachel, Robert Siegfried, Charlotte Townsend and 

President Ken White 
Absent: None 

A quorum was present.  
 
Others:     Barbara Buikema, General Manager, Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD or District) 

Patrick Treanor, Plant Engineer, CAWD 
Ed Waggoner, Plant Superintendent, CAWD 
Kevin Young, Operations Supervisor, CAWD 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent, CAWD 
Daryl Lauer, Collections Superintendent, CAWD 
Domine Barringer, Administrative Assistant/Board Clerk, CAWD 
Kristina Pacheco, Administrative Assistant/Board Clerk, CAWD 
Karla Cristi, CMMS & Plant Administrator, CAWD 
Rob Wellington, Wellington Law Offices, CAWD Legal Counsel 
Peter McKee, Board Member of Pebble Beach Community Services District (PBCSD) 
Mike Niccum, General Manager, PBCSD 
 

1. Public Comments: No public comments 
 

2. Agenda Changes:  
• Addition of a brochure example for item No. 25 of the Agenda – Spring 

Newsletter Topics 
• Insertion of the Purchaser/Plant Asset Coordinator Job Description for item 

No. 19 of the Agenda – Classification Titles, Number of Positions & Salary 
Ranges for CAWD 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR: APPROVAL OF MINUTES, FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MONTHLY REPORTS 
Consists of routine items for which Board approval can be taken with a single motion and vote. 

 
Board Action 

A motion to receive and approve the consent agenda was made by Director Siegfried and 
seconded by Director Rachel. The Board unanimously received and approved the 
following Consent Calendar/Agenda items: 
 
 
 
 

118



3. January 27, 2022, Regular Board Meeting Minutes, January 27, 2022, Special Meeting of the 
Salary & Benefits Committee Meeting Minutes, February 8, 2022, Pension Committee 
Meeting Minutes, February 16, 2022, Budget Committee Meeting Minutes, February 16, 
2022, Ad Hoc Sea Level Rise Committee Meeting Minutes, February 18, 2022, Salary & 
Benefits Committee Meeting Minutes 

4. Bank Statement Review by Hayashi & Wayland 
5. Schedule of Cash Receipts & Disbursements 
6. Register of Disbursements - Carmel Area Wastewater District 
7. Register of Disbursements – CAWD/PBCSD Reclamation Project 
8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules 
9. Collection System Superintendent’s Report 
10. Safety and Regulatory Compliance Report 
11. Treatment Facility Operations Report 
12. Laboratory/Environmental Compliance Report 
13. Capital Projects Report/Implementation Plan 
14. Project Summaries 
15. Plant Operations Report 
16. Maintenance Projects Report 
17. Principal Engineer Monthly Report 

 
ACTION ITEMS BEFORE THE BOARD 
These items are acted upon in the following sequence: (1) Staff Report (2) Board Questions to 
Staff (3) Public Comments, and (4) Board Discussion, Vote and Action. 
 
RESOLUTIONS 

 
18. Resolution No. 2022-08; Report by Ed Waggoner 

 
Board Action 

A motion to approve the resolution was made by Director D’Ambrosio and seconded by 
Director Townsend. The Board then unanimously passed Resolution 2022-08, approving 
a capital expenditure for CAWD/PBCSD Reclamation Project to purchase 63 Reverse 
Osmosis (RO) Membranes for $32,855 plus freight charges. 
 

19. Resolution No. 2022-09; Report by Barbara Buikema 
 

Board Action 
A motion to approve the resolution was made by Director Siegfried and seconded by 
Director Rachel. The Board then unanimously passed Resolution 2022-09, designating 
classification titles in the Carmel Area Wastewater District & providing for the number 
of positions & monthly employee salary ranges. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

119



20. Resolution No. 2022-10; Report by Barbara Buikema 
 

Board Action 
A motion to approve the resolution was made by Director Siegfried and seconded by 
Director D’Ambrosio. The Board then unanimously passed Resolution 2022-10, 
authorizing the recruitment of a full-time Collection Maintenance Utility Worker I. 
 

COMMUNICATIONS 
 

21. General Manager Report - oral report 
 

• The undergrounding of the District’s pipeline under Carmel River Lagoon 
(CRFREE) is still in negotiations with the County to move forward. 

 
OTHER ITEMS BEFORE THE BOARD 

22. Strategic Asset Management Plan Actuarial Report – Report by Barbara Buikema 
 

Board Action 
Director Rachel made a motion to accept the Strategic Asset Management Plan Actuarial 
Report, and President White seconded. The remaining directors unanimously accepted 
the report. 
 

23. User Fee Refund Policy – Report by Barbara Buikema 
 

Board Action 
After extensive discussion, Director Siegfried made a motion to accept the User Fee 
Refund Policy as amended to include an installment repayment option over a four year 
period at the prime rate, and Director D’Ambrosio seconded the motion, and the 
remaining directors unanimously approved the policy. 
 

24. Pension Funding Policy – Report by Barbara Buikema 
 

Board Action 
After brief discussion, Director Siegfried made a motion to accept the Pension Funding 
Policy statement, and Director Townsend seconded the motion, and the remaining 
directors unanimously approved the policy. 
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
25. Spring Newsletter Topic– Report by Barbara Buikema 

 
Barbara Buikema and the Board discussed possible topics and staff will move forward with 
the newsletter publication.  The Board also moved (Director Siegfried 1st and Director Rachel 
2nd) to remove the topic of garbage disposal use from this newsletter in order for further 
discussion and for publication in a future newsletter and all Directors but President White 
agreed. 

120



 
26. CalPERS Annual Valuation Report – Report by Barbara Buikema 

 
President White moved for acceptance of this report and Director Siegfried seconded.  The 
remaining Directors unanimously accepted the report.   
 

27. February Update of the WWTP Elec/Mech Rehab and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement 
Project #18-01– Report by Patrick Treanor 
 
This report is for information only and no action was taken.  
 

28. Board of Directors Retreat Topics – Report by Barbara Buikema 
 
The Board decided to hold the Board Retreat on April 20, 2022, tentatively. 
 

29. Monterey County Investment Report – Report by Barbara Buikema 
 
This report is for information only and no action was taken. 
 

30. Summary of the February 8, 2022, Reclamation Management Committee Meeting – Report 
by Barbara Buikema 
 
This report is for information only and no action was taken.  President White commented on 
the inevitable maintenance and expenses needed for the Reclamation project as equipment 
ages. 
 

31. Summary of the February 8, 2022, Pension Committee Meeting – Report by Barbara Buikema 
 
This report is for information only and no action was taken. Director Siegfried requested a 
minor language change on future summaries which staff agreed to. 
 

32. Quarterly Progress Report of the General Manager – Report by Barbara Buikema 
 
This report is for information only and no action was taken. The Board commented on items 
listed in the report. 
 

33. Call for Nominations of Candidates to fill Two Special District Seats on the Local Agency 
Formation Commission (LAFCO) of Monterey County – Report by Barbara Buikema 
 
The Board had no nominees for the seats and will wait for the ballot once received for voting. 
This report is for information only and no action was taken. 
 

34. Annual Reporting of the Statement of Economic Interest Form 700 – Report by Domine 
Barringer 
 
This report is for information only and no action was taken. 
 
 

121



35. Announcements on subjects of interest to the Board made by members of the Board or Staff     
      

• Director Siegfried offered information from the Ocean Protection Council and the State 
Water Resources Control Board regarding microplastics being transferred to the ocean. 

• President White shared his thoughts on the Budget Committee possibly meeting to 
discuss upcoming expenses such as fuel and electricity that will likely increase due to 
current world events and the current District budget.    

• President White mentioned concerns about Cyber Security and the District’s ability to 
be prepared in the case of attack. Staff detailed proactive measures that are in place and 
the District’s actions to stay prepared.  

• Director D’Ambrosio is scheduled to attend the February 25, 2022, PBCSD Regular 
Board meeting and Director Rachel is scheduled to attend the March 25, 2022, meeting. 

• Director D’Ambrosio is scheduled to attend the April 19, 2022, meeting of the Special 
Districts Association (SDA) of Monterey County meeting. 

• President White and Director Townsend are scheduled to attend the Reclamation 
Management Committee meeting on May 10, 2022. 

 
36. ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the Board, the President adjourned the meeting 
at 10:32 a.m. The next Regular Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, March 31, 2022, or 
an alternate acceptable date, via teleconference webinar and in person.  
 

As Reported To: 

_________________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

APPROVED: 

________________________________________________ 
Ken White, President 

122



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
BUDGET COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

March 8, 2022, Tuesday, 1 p.m.  

3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 1:01 p.m. 
Present:  President Pro Tem Robert Siegfried, Committee member 

Director Greg D’Ambrosio, Committee member 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 

  
Absent:  None 

 
Appearances/Public Comments: None 

 
Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
The committee discussed the following agenda items: 

• The 2022-23 Operations & Maintenance Budget & Rate Model.  The committee decided 
to meet again on Thursday, March 10. No further action was taken.  

 
ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting 
concluded at 3:25 p.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, March 31, 
2022, or an alternate acceptable date, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference 
webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, 
www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

__________________________________________ 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________________________ 
Ken White, President 

123



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
BUDGET COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

March 10, 2022, Thursday, 1 p.m.  

3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 1:00 p.m. 
Present:  President Pro Tem Robert Siegfried, Committee member 

Director Greg D’Ambrosio, Committee member 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 

  
Absent:  None 

 
Appearances/Public Comments: None 

 
Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
The committee discussed the following agenda items: 

• The 2022-23 Operations & Maintenance Budget.  The committee decided to continue 
discussion on Friday, March 11, 2022. No further action was taken.  

 
ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting 
concluded at 3:10 p.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, March 31, 
2022, or an alternate acceptable date, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference 
webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, 
www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

__________________________________________ 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________________________ 
Ken White, President 

124



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
BUDGET COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

March 11, 2022, Friday, 9:30 a.m.  

3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 9:30 a.m. 
Present:  President Pro Tem Robert Siegfried, Committee member 

Director Greg D’Ambrosio, Committee member 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 

  
Absent:  None 

 
Appearances/Public Comments: None 

 
Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
The committee discussed the following agenda items: 

• The 2022-23 Rate Model.  The committee decided to return on Tuesday, March 15 to 
discuss further. No further action was taken.  

 
ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting 
concluded at 11:10 a.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, March 31, 
2022, or an alternate acceptable date, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference 
webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, 
www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

__________________________________________ 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________________________ 
Ken White, President 

125



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
             AD HOC CONSTRUCTION COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

March 14, 2022, Monday, 1:00 p.m.  

26900 State Route One 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting commenced at 1:10 p.m.    
Present:  Director Michael Rachel, Committee member 

Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
 Patrick Treanor, Plant Engineer 
 Evan Currie, Currie Engineers 
  
Absent:   Ken White, Committee member 

 
Appearances/Public Comments:  None 
 
Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
Information/Discussion Items: 

• Electrical/Mechanical Rehabilitation & Sludge Holding Tank Project – the committee was 
given an update of the project and costs by the Plant Engineer and the project’s contractor, 
Evan Currie.  The committee discussed the presented information. 

 

ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting 
concluded at 1:50 p.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, March 31, 
2022, or an alternate acceptable date, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference 
webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, 
www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

__________________________________________ 
Kristina Pacheco, Secretary Pro Tem to the Board 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________________________ 
Ken White, President 

126



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
            SALARY & BENEFITS COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

March 14, 2022, Monday, 2:00 p.m.  

Via teleconference webinar or in person 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 2:11 p.m. 
Present:  President Ken White, Committee member 

Director Michael Rachel, Committee member 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

  
Absent:  None 

 
Appearances/Public Comments:  

Kevin Young, CAWD member of employee negotiations committee 
Karla Cristi, CAWD member of employee negotiations committee 
Barry Blevins, CAWD member of employee negotiations committee 
Patrick Treanor, CAWD member of employee negotiations committee 
Ed Waggoner, CAWD employee 

 
Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
CLOSED SESSION: 
Information/Discussion Items: 

• Employee Negotiations 
• Salary Discussion.   

Closed Session commenced at 3:00 p.m. The committee discussed the agenda items. No other 
reportable action was taken. 

ADJOURNMENT: The Committee came out of Closed Session at 3:56 p.m. and there being no further 
business to come before the Committee, the meeting concluded at 3:57 p.m. The next Regular Board 
Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, March 31, 2022, or an alternate acceptable date, in person 
and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive 
access by visiting our website homepage, www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or 
via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

_________________________________________ 
Kristina Pacheco, Secretary Pro Tem to the Board 

APPROVED: 
_______________________________________________ 
Ken White, President 

127



 

        CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) 
BUDGET COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

March 15, 2022, Tuesday, 10 a.m.  

3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923 
 

CALL TO ORDER - ROLL CALL:  
The meeting was called to order at 10:00 a.m. 
Present:  President Pro Tem Robert Siegfried, Committee member 

Director Greg D’Ambrosio, Committee member 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 

  
Absent:  None 

 
Appearances/Public Comments: None 

 
Agenda Changes:  None 
 
AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
The committee discussed the following agenda items: 

• The 2022-23 Operations & Maintenance Budget and Rate Model.  No further action was 
taken.  

 
ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the Committee, the meeting 
concluded at 11:00 a.m. The next Regular Board Meeting will be held at 9:00 a.m., Thursday, March 31, 
2022, or an alternate acceptable date, in person and via teleconference webinar. The teleconference 
webinar is hosted through Zoom and you may receive access by visiting our website homepage, 
www.cawd.org, calling the District office at 831-624-1248 or via email at downstream@cawd.org. 

As Reported To: 

__________________________________________ 
Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

APPROVED: 

_______________________________________________ 
Ken White, President 

128



129



130



Capital Compensated Defend or COUNTY Chase Chase
Capital Improvement General O & M Accruals Managed  Retreat Total Fund Bank O & M Bank PR L.A.I.F.
Fund Reserve Fund Reserve Reserve Balance Balance Balance Balance

BALANCE BEGINNING OF MONTH $6,930,845 $20,214,508 $10,625,740 $281,144 $4,000,000 $42,052,237 $211,399 $8,167 $1,197,285

Receipts:
   User Fees 239,665 3,323
   Property Taxes 53,743
   PBCSD Treatment Fees 115,000
   Reclamation O & M reimbursement 93,109
   Reclamation capital billing
   Permits 4,770
   PBCSD capital billing
   Other misc. revenue 3,748
   Interest income 
   Connection Fees
   CCLEAN receipts 75,387
   CRFree Project grant funds 59,163
   Sale of dump truck
   Hatton Canyon Grant Funds
   Void checks-replace lost check 4,030
        Total Receipts 0 53,743 239,665 0 0 293,407 358,529 0 0

Fund Transfers:
   Transfers to Chase Bank O&M (764,606) (435,394) 1,200,000
   Transfers to Chase Bank PR (220,000) 220,000
   Transfer to Defend or Managed Retreat Fund
   Intra-fund transfers for capital expenditures
   Rebalance Capital and O&M Reserves
        Total Transfers (764,606) 0 (435,394) 0 0 (1,200,000) 980,000 220,000 0

Disbursements:
   Operations and capital 1,244,374
   Payroll & payroll taxes 223,745
   Employee Dental reimbursements 3,992
   CALPERS EFT 35,015
   CAWD SAM pension EFT 0
   CAWD pension loans EFT 587
   Home Depot EFT 845
   US Bank EFT 9,740
   Deferred comp contributions EFT 13,396 0
   PEHP contributions EFT 3,217 0
   Bank/ADP fees 0 1,283
   Highlands Bond Debt Service Payment
   Annual County admin billing fee
   CALPERS CEPPT #1 & #2
   GASB 68 report fee & SSA 218 fee
         Total Disbursements 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,311,167 225,028 0

BALANCE END OF MONTH 6,166,239 20,268,251 10,430,011 281,144 4,000,000 41,145,644 238,761 3,139 1,197,285

Carmel Area Wastewater District
Schedule of Cash Receipts and Disbursements - FEBRUARY 2022

131



Capital Reserve + O&M + O&M Reserve + Compensated Absences Reserve = Total Fund held in County

0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

35,000,000

40,000,000

45,000,000

50,000,000

Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22

Total Fund Balances 21-22Capital Reserves

O&M

Comp Absences

Retreat Reserve

Total

132



0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

Capital Capital Reserve O&M Compensated Absences Managed Retreat Reserve

6,166,239 

20,268,251 

10,430,011 

281,144 

4,000,000 

6,778,585 

17,021,517 

10,608,646 

245,477 

3,000,000 

2021-22
2020-21

133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



 

STAFF REPORT   
 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Daryl Lauer, Collection Superintendent 
 
DATE:            March 31, 2022  
         
SUBJECT: Monthly Report – February 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required.  
 
       
Permits Issued 
 
Sewer Lateral Permits issued in February        ……………........................                           20 
 
Total Fees     ....................................................................................................... $3,480.00 
 
 
Maintenance  
Attached is a map of the areas cleaned and Closed-Circuit Television (CCTV) inspected in 
the past three months. There were 36,470 feet of sewer lines cleaned, 11,627 feet of CCTV 
inspections, and 3 manhole inspections were performed during the month of February.  
 
 
Recent Line Cleaning Summary 

Cleaning period Footage 
Cleaned 

Percentage Cleaned Size of Pipe Cleaned 

February 36,470 ft. 8.87% 6 – 12 inches 
January 48,711 ft. 11.84% 6 – 27 inches 

December 43,024 ft. 10.46% 6 – 10 inches 
 

 

 

166



Annual Line Cleaning Graph 

Line Cleaning Table 

Total Target Amount 
(Linear Feet) 

Cumulative Complete 
(Linear Feet) 

Remaining (Linear Feet) 

615,000 85,181 529,819 

167



CCTV Progress Graph (River Watch Settlement Agreement Target) 

CCTV Table 

Total Required 
amount (Linear Feet) 

Cumulative Complete 
(Linear Feet) 

Remaining (Linear Feet) 

408,672 366,278 42,394 

168



Manhole Inspection Progress Graph (Riverwatch Settlement Agreement Target) 

Manhole Inspection Table 

Total Required Amount 
(Manholes) 

Actual Complete 
(Manholes) 

Remaining 
(Manholes) 

1428 1353 75 

Construction Activities 
• Project 19-13 the Upper Rancho Cañada Pipe Relocation field work was completed 

on January 3, 2022.   

169



Staff Development 
• Staff completed several in-person tail gate trainings.  

 
General Comments 

• N/A 
 
Service calls responded to by crew 
 

Date Time Callout Resolution 
2/13/2022 1:00 PM Lateral Overflow Called by homeowner for a lateral 

overflow. Staff cleaned District main 
line and found no problems in 
District’s line. Staff informed owner 
to call a plumber of their choice. 

2/16/2022 2:45 PM Water Leak Called by homeowner for standing 
water in front yard. Staff found no 
problem in the sewer system and 
informed homeowner to call the 
water company. 

2/22/2022 2:40 PM Lateral Overflow Called by homeowner for a lateral 
overflow. Staff cleaned District main 
line and found no problems in 
District’s line. Staff informed owner 
to call a plumber of their choice. 

 
 
 
USA Location Requests – 151 
Plumbing permit inspections – 34 
Private Sewer Lateral Compliance Certificates Issued – 24 
 
 
FUNDING 
N/A 
 
 

  

170



3/7/2022

171

lauer
Text Box
February (Red)           36,470 feetJanuary (Yellow)        48,711 feetDecember (Green)     43,024 feet              Monthly Cleaning Map



3/7/2022

172

lauer
Text Box
February (Red)        11,627 feetJanuary (Yellow)      10,382 feetDecember (Green)   11,349 feet                  Monthly CCTV Map



STAFF REPORT 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Mark Dias, Safety and 

Regulatory Compliance Administrator 
(S/C Admin Dias) 

 
Date:  March 31, 2022 
 
Subject: Monthly Safety Report (for February 2022) 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required  
 
DISCUSSION  
 
Safety & Training 
 

• Feb 2- Eyewear Personal Protective Equipment (PPE). S/C Admin Dias gave a 
presentation on the need to always have eye protection available at selected areas of 
the plant.  After the potassium hydroxide exposure on the reclamation pad in 
December, eye protection became mandatory at that location.  Also, activities in the 
maintenance shop include cutting, grinding, hammering, blowing and welding. 
High quality eyewear had been ordered and each employee was issued their own 
pair of safety glasses. 
 

• Feb 9- Secondary Chemical Container Labeling. Fanny Mui, Lab 
Analyst/Environmental Inspector, gave a presentation on the requirement to label 
containers containing hazardous chemicals. All original chemical packaging 
includes chemical warnings. However, some tasks require transfer to a smaller 
container. These smaller “secondary” containers must, by law, be properly labeled 
to prevent accidental ingestion, or mixing with other chemicals. This also identifies 
the chemical for proper storage and disposal.  
 

• Feb 16- Burn First Aid.  Karla Cristi, Plant Administrative Coordinator, gave a 
presentation on burn first aid for all three degrees of burns. It was emphasized that 
for second degree burns that medical attention would be needed including a tetanus 
shot.  

  

173



 
• Feb 23- COVID-19 Health Benefits.  S/C Admin Dias gave a presentation on 

COVID-19 Supplemental Paid Sick Leave. Effective February 19, the California 
Department of Industrial Relations promulgated regulations stating that employees, 
in both the public and private sectors, who work for employers with 26 or more 
employees are entitled to up to 80 hours of 2022 COVID-19 related paid sick leave 
from January 1, 2022 through September 30, 2022. Benefits are available immediately 
upon written request to the employer. This includes time for vaccine related 
symptoms, caring for themselves, quarantine/isolation, or caring for positive family 
members. Regulations require that employees are informed of any/all available 
COVID-19 health benefits.   

 
Ongoing Safety Improvements 
During February, Maintenance Superintendent Chris Foley and S/C Admin Dias continued 
to implement safety improvements and seek input from the operations crew and the Safety 
Committee. Activities during February included:  
 

• Update of Injury Illness Prevention Program (IIPP). California Occupational 
Health and Safety Administration (Cal/OSHA) mandates that an IIPP be used as the 
umbrella document that covers all Cal/OSHA required policies and programs. 
Examples include programs for respiratory protection, hearing, PPE, fall safety, 
chemical handling, confined spaces, Hazard Communication, etc. CAWD’s previous 
version of the IIPP, while functional, used an outdated format. Cal/OSHA had 
issued guidance on developing an IIPP and this update resulted in a more accessible 
and integrated document. 
 

• Update of Hazard Communication Policy.   Hazard Communication (Haz Comm) 
is closely related component of an IIPP. The Haz Comm policy states how an 
employer will inform employees of all/any hazards at the workplace, how/where 
the employee can find information on those hazards and their rights to be informed. 
This was updated concurrently with the IIPP to integrate the two policies.  

 
Tours and Outreach 
 

• Tours. Tours remain on hold. Carmel High School contacted the District to request a 
tour. After discussion it was determined that so many areas of the plant were 
impacted by Phase II construction activities that a meaningful tour could not be 
safely given.  
 

174



Injuries; First Aid Incidents; Workers Compensation Claims 
There were no first aid injuries in February. There was one Workers’ Compensation claim 
for an accident which injured a worker’s foot. An employee was assisting with moving a 
pipe from a stacked pile of heavy plastic pipes on a low-lying horizontal rack. The stack of 
pipes shifted and began to roll off the rack hitting the employee’s leg and foot at the same 
time he was turning and shifting his weight to move away. There was damage to the 
employee’s ankle and follow up medical care will be ongoing for a few months. There was 
one lost work day so far for this incident. The employee is on restricted duty until the 
injury can be repaired and rehabilitated. Vertical steel stops were welded onto the end of 
the racks to prevent pipes from shifting and rolling off. The tracking matrix below reflects 
data up to February 28. 
 

 Work Related Injuries and Illnesses for 2022 Reporting Year  

TYPE 

New  
Incidents 
(Month) 

Total  
Incidents 

(Year) 

Total Days Away 
from Work 

(Year) 

Total Days of Job 
Restriction 

(Year) 

Cumulative days 
lost  

(Year) 
OSHA 
Injuries 

1 1 1 15 1 

OSHA 
Illnesses 

0 0 0 0 0 

Other WC 
Claims 

0 0 0 0 0 

First Aid 
(non-OSHA) 

0 0 0 0 0 

 
FUNDING 
N/A- Informational item only 

175



% of Total MG

68.510 47.90

31.490 24.10

100.00 72.00

72.018 47.96

32.952 25.53

0.000 0.000

1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR

N/A N/A N/A N/A

N/A N/A N/A N/A

(1) Cost adjustment for Reclamation percentage for Secondary power costs and CAWD's percentage for

Tertiary's power costs due to the Lab's power usage.

CAWD 1453.87

16,980.55$                            

6,357.66$     

Reclamation

1327.64 1298.73

Reclaim Total

15,984.77$   

Adjusted Monthly 

Totals (1)

0.111$           

Tertiary

Total Annual Reclamation Production (2022)                      

152,879.44

0.000

Ocean Discharge

Price per kWh

0.167$           

CAWD Total

Feb'22

0.000

0.76321.369

Monthly Totals

1.114

0.351

0.106

0.832

Feb'22 kWh

HYDRAULIC LOADINGS

9.822

31.191

Avg. Daily, 

MGD

Total 

Monthly, 

MG

10.278

CAWD Total          

11,880.60$   

0.315

Wastewater Treatment Facility Operations Report

PBCSD Flow

Total Plant Flow

Tertiary Flow

0.711 0.828

2022 YEAR-TO-DATE

acre-feet
Max Daily, 

MGD

Min Daily, 

MGD

22,570

Nov '21

0

2 QTR

14,959.99$                            

Jan'21Feb '22 kW-h 

39,981.74$                            

kW-h Per Acre Foot

18,128

Dec '21

9,456.60$     

19,507.16$                            

15,275.57$                            

1,201,244.00

34,782.73$                            

10,158.54$                            

0

Nov'21

2021

Accumulated Totals

21,839.10$                            

89,935.00

95,502.00

74,567.44

26,208.13$                            

Potable Water

CAWD Flow

Blowers

Secondary

TERTIARY PROCESS HISTORY

Report for:               

February 2022

22.463

0.367

12 Month Rolling Total Reclamation Production               

MF/RO 

47.96MG (147.12acre-ft.)

Total Lifetime Reclamation Production (94-22)                 

17,709.53$   

9,227.58$                              

ELECTRICAL COSTS

Month

Production,kW-h

19,657.48$   

0.195$           

57,377.44

21,337.20$   22,342.43$   

11,680.56$                            

16,423.59$   

0.219$           25,021.75$                            

14,522.02$   

Dec'21

73.92

78.31

0.000

346.48 MG (1063.33 acre-ft.)

0.000

1.026

0.000

Jan'22

0.453

1.121

0.916

220.85

8.94 BG (27.45 K acre-ft.)

1.281

146.93

147.12

0.000

44,035.39$                            

MICROTURBINE SUMMARY

4 QTR

1681.53

1887.92

1 QTR 3 QTR

1984.84 1939.79

 Reclamation Total                                

164,502.44 34,179.50$   34,133.12$   

2022

12,486.54$                             

1682.65

176



Month

Mar 21

Apr 21

May 21

Jun 21

Jul 21

Aug 21

Sep 21

Oct 21

Nov 21

Dec 21

Jan 22

Feb 22

Totals

Average

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Mar 21 Apr 21 May 21 Jun 21 Jul 21 Aug 21 Sep 21 Oct 21 Nov 21 Dec 21 Jan 22 Feb 22

Total Outflow Outfall Flow, mg

Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Discharge, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Mar 21 Apr 21 May 21 Jun 21 Jul 21 Aug 21 Sep 21 Oct 21 Nov 21 Dec 21 Jan 22 Feb 22

Total Inflow
PBCSD Influent Flow, mg

CAWD Influent Flow, mg

Total Influent Flow, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Mar 21 Apr 21 May 21 Jun 21 Jul 21 Aug 21 Sep 21 Oct 21 Nov 21 Dec 21 Jan 22 Feb 22

Total Golf Course Usage
Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Potable, mg

Total Golf Course, mg

177



% of Total MG

65.013 26.53

34.987 14.28

100.00 40.81

62.482 25.50

38.045 15.25

0.000 0.000

1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR

N/A N/A N/A N/A

N/A N/A N/A N/A

(1) Cost adjustment for Reclamation percentage for Secondary power costs and CAWD's percentage for

Tertiary's power costs due to the Lab's power usage.

(2) Micro turbines returned to service on 1/11/2022 

1984.84 1939.79

 Reclamation Total                                

166,961.60 34,133.12$   39,981.74$   

2022

15,064.30$                             

1682.65

40,406.02$                            

MICROTURBINE SUMMARY

4 QTR

1681.53

1887.92

1 QTR 3 QTR

1.518

1.594

125.17

8.92 BG (27.38 K acre-ft.)

2.019

81.38

78.21

0.000

Nov'21

43.79

46.79

0.000

354.86 MG (1089.05 acre-ft.)

0.000

1.067

0.000

Dec'21

0.755

17,709.53$   

0.179$           

55,697.28

26,208.13$   21,337.20$   

20,518.21$                            

14,959.99$   

0.235$           19,507.16$                            

16,423.59$   

MF/RO 

25.50MG (78.21acre-ft.)

Total Lifetime Reclamation Production (94-22)                 

25,021.75$   

10,158.54$                            

ELECTRICAL COSTS

Month

Production,kW-h (2)

Potable Water

CAWD Flow

Blowers

Secondary

TERTIARY PROCESS HISTORY

Report for:               

January 2022

25.497

0.501

12 Month Rolling Total Reclamation Production               

0

Oct'21

2021

Accumulated Totals

28,802.87$                            

75,376.00

108,337.00

91,585.60

21,839.10$                            

Nov '21

9,227.58$     

17,530.97$                            

15,233.92$                            

1,178,674.00

32,764.89$                            

8,284.66$                              

18,128

Oct '21

0

2 QTR

15,275.57$                            

Dec '21Jan '22 kW-h 

34,782.73$                            

kW-h Per Acre Foot

0

Wastewater Treatment Facility Operations Report

PBCSD Flow

Total Plant Flow

Tertiary Flow

0.709 1.264

2022 YEAR-TO-DATE

acre-feet
Max Daily, 

MGD

Min Daily, 

MGD

HYDRAULIC LOADINGS

14.277

40.807

Avg. Daily, 

MGD

Total 

Monthly, 

MG

15.525

CAWD Total          

16,980.55$   

0.358

Jan'22

0.000

0.85526.530

Monthly Totals

1.316

0.461

0.125

0.851

Jan'22 kWh

0.170$           

Tertiary

Total Annual Reclamation Production (2022)                      

164,034.28

0.000

Ocean Discharge

Price per kWh

0.110$           

CAWD Total

CAWD 1453.87

11,680.56$                            

9,456.60$     

Reclamation

1327.64 1298.73

Reclaim Total

11,880.60$   

Adjusted Monthly 

Totals (1)

178



Month

Feb 21

Mar 21

Apr 21

May 21

Jun 21

Jul 21

Aug 21

Sep 21

Oct 21

Nov 21

Dec 21

Jan 22

Totals

Average

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Feb 21 Mar 21 Apr 21 May 21 Jun 21 Jul 21 Aug 21 Sep 21 Oct 21 Nov 21 Dec 21 Jan 22

Total Outflow Outfall Flow, mg Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Discharge, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Feb 21 Mar 21 Apr 21 May 21 Jun 21 Jul 21 Aug 21 Sep 21 Oct 21 Nov 21 Dec 21 Jan 22

Total Inflow
PBCSD Influent Flow, mg

CAWD Influent Flow, mg

Total Influent Flow, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Feb 21 Mar 21 Apr 21 May 21 Jun 21 Jul 21 Aug 21 Sep 21 Oct 21 Nov 21 Dec 21 Jan 22

Total Golf Course Usage
Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Potable, mg

Total Golf Course, mg

179



% of Total MG

63.123 303.62

36.877 142.66

100.00 446.28

67.749 356.82

33.895 95.67

0.000 0.000

1 QTR 2 QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR

1453.87 1327.64 1298.73 1681.53

1984.84 1939.79 1682.65 1887.92

(1) Cost adjustment for Reclamation percentage for Secondary power costs and CAWD's percentage for

Tertiary's power costs due to the Lab's power usage.

(2) Micro turbines off-line due to the Elec/Mech Rehab and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement Project

(3) Inflated kW-h and costs due to PG&E incorrect billing. Will be corrected at next months billing cycle.

CAWD 2064.85

20,518.21$                            

9,227.58$     

Reclamation

1445.00 1434.66

Reclaim Total

16,980.55$   

Adjusted Monthly 

Totals (1)

0.165$           

Tertiary

Total Annual Reclamation Production (2021)                      

291,523.88

0.000

Ocean Discharge

Price per kWh

0.072$           

CAWD Total

Dec'21

0.000

1.13735.261

Monthly Totals

1.802

0.665

0.111

1.221

Dec'21 kWh

HYDRAULIC LOADINGS

20.600

55.861

Avg. Daily, 

MGD

Total 

Monthly, 

MG

18.934

CAWD Total          

11,680.56$   

0.297

Wastewater Treatment Facility Operations Report

PBCSD Flow

Total Plant Flow

Tertiary Flow

0.681 2.056

2021 YEAR-TO-DATE

acre-feet
Max Daily, 

MGD

Min Daily, 

MGD

0

Sep '21

26,353

2 QTR

15,233.92$                            

Nov '21Dec '21 kW-h 

32,764.89$                            

kW-h Per Acre Foot

0

Oct '21

10,158.54$   

19,544.63$                            

22,625.98$                            

1,160,546.00

42,170.61$                            

10,156.05$                            

0

Sep'21

2020

Accumulated Totals

31,488.97$                            

123,417.00

235,653.00

88,954.56

28,802.87$                            

Potable Water

CAWD Flow

Blowers

Secondary (3)

TERTIARY PROCESS HISTORY

Report for:               

December 2021

37.845

0.611

12 Month Rolling Total Reclamation Production               

MF/RO 

356.82MG (1094.53acre-ft.)

Total Lifetime Reclamation Production (94-21)                 

19,507.16$   

8,284.66$                              

ELECTRICAL COSTS

Month

Production,kW-h (2)

25,021.75$   

0.168$           

55,870.88

21,839.10$   26,208.13$   

21,332.92$                            

15,275.57$   

0.203$           17,530.97$                            

14,959.99$   

Oct'21

437.62

293.47

0.000

356.82 MG (1095.07 acre-ft.)

0.000

0.978

0.853

Nov'21

1.302

1.568

2.220

1368.96

8.90 BG (27.30 K acre-ft.)

3.358

931.34

1094.52

0.000

50,108.76$                            

MICROTURBINE SUMMARY

4 QTR

1583.65

1943.44

1 QTR 3 QTR

1920.96 1852.00

 Reclamation Total                                

212,371.56 39,981.74$   34,782.73$   

2021

16,081.11$                             

1878.67

180



Month

Jan 21

Feb 21

Mar 21

Apr 21

May 21

Jun 21

Jul 21

Aug 21

Sep 21

Oct 21

Nov 21

Dec 21

Totals

Average

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Apr 21 May 21 Jun 21 Jul 21 Aug 21 Sep 21 Oct 21 Nov 21 Dec 21

Total Outflow Outfall Flow, mg Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Discharge, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Apr 21 May 21 Jun 21 Jul 21 Aug 21 Sep 21 Oct 21 Nov 21 Dec 21

Total Inflow
PBCSD Influent Flow, mg

CAWD Influent Flow, mg

Total Influent Flow, mg

0.000

10.000

20.000

30.000

40.000

50.000

60.000

Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Apr 21 May 21 Jun 21 Jul 21 Aug 21 Sep 21 Oct 21 Nov 21 Dec 21

Total Golf Course Usage
Tertiary Flow, mg

Total Potable, mg

Total Golf Course, mg

181



STAFF REPORT  
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Ray De Ocampo - Laboratory/Environmental 

Compliance Supervisor 
 

Date:             March 31, 2022 
 
Subject: Monthly Report – February 2022 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Receive Report - Informational only; No action required. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
LABORATORY REPORT 

• Biobot Analytics continues to provide COVID-19 analysis for Carmel Area 
Wastewater District (CAWD) composite samples of the Influent Pump Station. 
Biobot samples are available upon request and can also be viewed on the CAWD 
website: https://www.cawd.org/biobot-analytics-weekly-reports-of-concentration-levels-
sars-cov-2#/body_file-e72defec-6488-4185-b5f3-ab45b2fe531e .   

• On February 8, 2022, CAWD’s final effluent and influent samples were collected for 
the semi-annual analysis. Samples were sent to Fruit Growers Laboratory, FGL, for 
analysis and data results can be viewed when the report is received. 

• On February 15, 2022, final effluent sample was collected for the Quarterly Bioassay 
Toxicity and sent to Aquatic Bioassay Consulting Laboratory, ABC Lab, for analysis. 
Data results can be viewed when the report is received. 

• On February 16, 2022, Kinnetics Laboratory started up the Central Coast Long-Term 
Environmental Assessment Network (CCLEAN) composite sampler for the wet 
season monitoring. The sampling period will run for approximately thirty days or 
until there are enough composite samples collected.  

 
ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE REPORT 

• On February 16, 2022, the Source Control Task Force met and reviewed the assigned 
tasks from the January meeting. Some tasks were completed, and newer ideas were 
discussed, and additional data will be collected from the Source Control and 
Collections staff for review by the engineering staff.  
 
 

  

182

https://www.cawd.org/biobot-analytics-weekly-reports-of-concentration-levels-sars-cov-2#/body_file-e72defec-6488-4185-b5f3-ab45b2fe531e
https://www.cawd.org/biobot-analytics-weekly-reports-of-concentration-levels-sars-cov-2#/body_file-e72defec-6488-4185-b5f3-ab45b2fe531e


• Source Control staff and administration staff are working on the start of a new year 
with the issuance of annual discharge permits, which includes sending out reminder 
letters with applications and invoices that are currently due for this year for all 
restaurant renewals. 

• Source Control staff started using the updated Fats, Oil, and Grease (FOG) 
Inspection form for restaurant inspections.  

 
Restaurant Inspections 

 
Restaurant 

 
Compliant 

Reason for Non-
Compliance 

 
Comments 

Katy’s Place Yes   
Akaoni Yes   
Rise and Roam Yes   
Anton & Michel Yes   
Pangaea Grill Yes   
Carmel Belle Yes   
AW Shucks Yes   
Yafa Yes   
The Pocket Yes   
Dametra Yes   
Portabella No Excessive Grease 

On 2/23/2022 
Notice of Violation - 

warning Issued- Follow 
up inspection passed on 

3/2/2022. 
Flying Fish Grill Yes   
The Catch Yes   

 
Grocery Store/Delicatessen Inspections 

Grocery 
Store/Delicatessen 

 
Compliant 

Reason for Non-
Compliance 

 
Comments 

None    
 

Compliance Register 
% Compliance Maintenance Mechanical 

         December 2021 100 100 
         January 2022 100 100 
         February 2022 92 100 

 
 
 

 

183



Project 
Number

GL Task Name Manager Start Finish Current FY 
Budget

Cumulative 
Budget

Status

Projects Implementation Plan Schedule 3/1/18 7/1/40 $0 $0

Treatment Plant Projects 4/30/18 6/30/26 $0 $0

18-01 1620.000 Elec/Mech Rehab and Sludge Holding 
Tank Replacement Project

Treanor 4/30/18 7/25/23 $5,000,000 $10,946,671 In Construction

18-05 5858.004 PLC/SCADA Programming Foley 10/8/18 12/31/21 $200,000 $455,807 Anticipated Completion Feb
2022

18-28 1626.000 Perimeter Tree Plan and 
Implementation

Treanor 7/1/19 6/30/26 $60,000 $237,897 Planning Stakeholder
Meeting

19-21 1993.000 Carmel River FREE Mitigation Treanor 6/1/20 11/30/23 $0 $0 Design/Permitting/
Developing Funding

Agreement

19-19 1634.000 Aeration Basin Improvements Waggoner 7/1/20 6/30/22 $0 $9,030 Planning Installation for 2022

19-18 1593.000 Perimeter Fencing Treanor 7/1/22 6/29/23 $200,000 $200,000 Inactive

Reclamation Projects 7/2/18 10/31/22 $0 $580,000

18-26 14777 Sulfuric Acid and Citric Acid Storage 
and Feed Systems

Treanor 1/1/19 7/29/22 $370,000 $438,743 In Construction

21-09 SCADA Migration Foley 11/1/21 10/31/22 $140,000 $140,000 In Progress 25%

21-10 Fiber Wrap PVC Pipe Foley 4/1/22 6/30/22 $25,000 $25,000 Pending

Reclamation Studies Treanor 7/2/18 6/30/22 $0 $65,000

69200 Trussell MF/RO Performance Review Treanor 7/2/18 6/30/22 $32,000 $115,000 In Study Phase

Reclamation 15-Year Asset Management 
Assessment

Treanor 7/1/21 6/1/22 $50,000 $50,000 Request Qualifications from
Consultants

Collections Projects 4/16/18 7/1/40 $0 $8,139,000

19-03 1586.000 Carmel Meadows Sewer Replacement Lather 8/1/19 1/19/23 $150,000 $2,014,551 In Design / CEQA

19-13 1625.000 Upper Rancho Canada Pipe 
Relocation

Lather 7/1/19 12/17/21 $1,760,000 $1,912,475 Construction Complete

19-08 1632.000 Carmel Valley Manor Pipeline and 
Pump Station

Lather 7/3/18 6/30/22 $0 $0 Re-Design In Progress

20-07 1636.000 Bay/Scenic Pump Station 
Rehabilitation

Lather 12/31/20 6/30/23 $250,000 $756,726 In Design

20-08 1635.000 Scenic Rd Pipe Bursting - Ocean to 
Bay

Lather 2/5/21 6/30/23 $1,200,000 $1,280,276 In Design / CEQA

21-02 6130.005 2021 Pipeline Spot Repairs Lather 7/1/21 7/1/22 $150,000 $150,000 In Construction

21-06 6140.005 Manhole Rehabilitation Lather 1/1/22 1/3/23 $150,000 $150,000 Design In House

21-05 1637.000 Pescadero Creek Area Pipe 
Relocation

Lather 7/1/21 6/30/23 $450,000 $1,700,000 In Design

20-05 River Watch Agreement Lather 2/21/20 2/21/24 $0 $0 Work In Progress

20-06 Collections 15-Year CIP Lather 7/1/20 7/1/40 $0 $29,489,616 Work In Progress

Administration 4/16/18 7/1/40 $0 $0

21-08 Administration Access Control and 
Security Cameras 

Foley 1/1/22 4/1/22 $19,291 $19,291 Complete

ab and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement Project

CADA Programming

Perimeter Tree Plan and Implementati

Carmel River FREE Mitigation

Aeration Basin Improvements

Perimeter Fencing

and Citric Acid Storage and Feed Systems

SCADA Migration

Fiber Wrap PVC Pipe

eclamation Studies

MF/RO Performance ReviewMF/RO Performance Review

Reclamation 15-Year Asset Management Assessment

Carmel Meadows Sewer Replacement

Rancho Canada Pipe Relocation

Manor Pipeline and Pump StationManor Pipeline and Pump Station

Bay/Scenic Pump Station RehabilitationBay/Scenic Pump Station Rehabilitation

Scenic Rd Pipe Bursting - Ocean to Bay

2021 Pipeline Spot Repairs

Manhole Rehabilitation

Pescadero Creek Area Pipe Relocation

River Watch AgreementRiver Watch Agreement

Collections 15-Year CIPCollections 15-Year CIP

Administration Access Control and Security Cameras 

H1 H2 H1 H2 H1 H2 H1 H2
2020 2021 2022 2023

184



Project 
Number

GL Task Name Manager Start Finish Current FY 
Budget

Cumulative 
Budget

Status

Other Non-Capital Projects 3/1/18 2/29/40 $0 $0

Workforce Now Ingram 3/1/18 3/1/18 $0 $0 Implementation

Employee Contract Negotiations Buikema 3/1/18 3/1/18 $0 $0 In Progress

Real Property Investigation Buikema 3/1/18 3/1/18 $75,000 $75,000 Evaluation in Progress

Cyber Security Foley 3/1/18 3/1/18 $17,000 $17,000 Ongoing

Lean Six Sigma Buikema 3/1/18 3/1/18 $0 $0 Green Belt Level Training and
Certification

22-01 5500.006 Long Term SLR Planning Treanor 5/3/21 2/29/40 $100,000 $1,400,000 In Progress

Assessment Districts/Annexations Lather 8/2/18 3/1/23 $0 $105,000

19-09 5500.005 2020 Sphere of Influence Amendment and 
Annexation Proposal 

Lather 3/15/19 3/1/22 $0 $50,000 In process of obtaining CDP
Ammendment for

annexations in coastal zone
18-21 1631.000/

2505.000
Corona Road Assessment District Lather 8/2/18 12/2/22 $0 $0 In Design / CEQA

19-04 2510.000 Carmel Highlands Sewer Collection System 
Expansion – Yankee Point and Otter Cove

Lather 3/11/21 3/1/23 $0 $0 Study Complete - In Review
by Stakeholders

Long Term SLR Planning

ssessment Districts/Annexations

ence Amendment and Annexation Proposal 

ona Road Assessment District

mel Highlands Sewer Collection System Expansion – Yankee Point and 

H1 H2 H1 H2 H1 H2 H1 H2
2020 2021 2022 2023

185



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Treatment Plant Capital Project Summaries 
 

 

186



 
Photo: Existing Headworks Motor Control Center to Be 

Replaced in Project 
  
Project Number: 18-01 
Project Name: Wastewater Treatment Plant 

(WWTP) – Elec/Mech Rehab & 
Sludge Holding Tank Replacement 
Project 

Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: In Construction 
Project 
Description: 

This project is a multi-area project 
at the WWTP aimed at mitigating 
risk of failure in the Influent Pump 
Station, Headworks, 3W/Chlorine 
Analyzer Building, Effluent Building 
and Sludge Storage Tank. Most of 
the work involves replacing aged 
electrical and mechanical 
equipment in existing buildings. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$10,946,671 
Cumulative Spent: 
$2,825,407 

FY Budget: 
$5,000,000 

FY Spent: 
$1,890,942 

Reclamation 
Share: 

Estimated at 4.0% of project cost.  

Other Entities: Pebble Beach Community Services 
District, CAWD/PBCSD Reclamation 
Project 

Permits Required: Coastal Commission Notification 
Challenges: Electrical Cutover Coordination; 

Steel tank vs concrete design to 
code 

Schedule: • Construction anticipated for 
FY21/22 into FY22/23 

Consultants: Design: Kennedy/Jenks Consultants  
Construction Management: Currie 
Engineers 

Contractor: Clark Bros. Inc. 
 

 
Photo: DAFT SCADA Overview 

  
Project Number: 18-05 
Project Name: Programmable Logic Controller 

(PLC) and Supervisory Control and 
Data Acquisition (SCADA) 
Programming Project 

Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Foley 
Status: Anticipated Completion June 2022 
Project 
Description: 

During the Phase 1 project a new 
SCADA software package from 
Inductive Automation was installed 
to parallel the existing system. This 
project includes the migration of 
the remaining SCADA screens from 
the legacy system to the new 
system. The PLC code is also being 
updated to the CAWD standards 
that are being developed during 
this project. This project is 
necessary to replace obsolete 
software and hardware so that the 
automated controls, alarms, and 
reporting remain accurate and 
reliable. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$455,807 
Cumulative Spent: 
$273,297 

FY Budget: 
$200,000 

FY Spent: 
$17,490 

Reclamation 
Share: 

Partial Reclamation 

Other Entities: None 

Permits Required: None  
Schedule: Some minor additional work 

remains and will be completed by 
06-30-22 

Consultants: Frisch Engineering 
  

187



 

Photo: Eucalyptus trees on South Side of Treatment Plant 
  
Project Number: 18-28 
Project Name: Perimeter Tree Plan and 

Implementation 
Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Planning Stakeholder Meeting 
Project 
Description: 

Planning and landscaping around 
the treatment plant. This will 
include looking into possibly 
replacing the non-native eucalyptus 
trees around the perimeter of the 
treatment plant with native tree 
species. The project will start with a 
study and a plan to determine 
costs, sequencing schedule, and 
visual impacts. The eucalyptus trees 
around the plant have ongoing 
maintenance costs which may be 
offset in the long term with 
different type of tree screening. 
The purpose is to improve security 
around plant perimeter.  

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$237,897 
Cumulative Spent: 
$5,020                 

FY Budget: 
$60,000 

FY Spent: 
$2,123 

Reclamation: N/A 
Other Entities: N/A 
Permits Required: Currently unknown (In Study Phase) 

Challenges: Time it will take for new trees to 
grow up that will fully screen 
treatment plant from view 

Schedule: • Study moved to 2022; 
anticipate completion 06-30-26 

Consultants: Scott Hall Landscape Design 

Contractor: TBD 
 

 

 

 

 

Photo: Carmel River Floodplain Restoration and 
Environmental Enhancement (CRFREE) 

Project Number: 19-21 
Project Name: Carmel River Floodplain 

Restoration & Environmental 
Enhancement (CRFREE) Mitigation  

Project Location: Carmel River Lagoon 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Design/Permitting/Developing 

Funding Agreement 
Project 
Description: 

The CRFREE Project intends to 
create a new river channel in the 
Carmel River lagoon floodplain, 
which will significantly impact 
existing wastewater pipelines that 
cross the lagoon. To fully mitigate 
impacts from CRFREE the pipelines 
which are currently crossing over a 
portion of the lagoon are proposed 
to be installed underground using 
Horizontal Directional Drilling 
construction methods.   

Department: Engineering 
Financial: Coastal 

Conservancy Grant 
Budget: 
$750,000 

Cumulative Spent: 
$453,217 
FY Spent: 
$133,290 

** Project is being funded by CRFREE initiated grants 

Reclamation 
Share: 

N/A 

Other Entities: Monterey County 
Permits 
Required: 

Coastal Commission, CA Fish and 
Wildlife, Army Corp of Engineers, 
Reginal Water Quality Control 
Board (RWQCB) 

Challenges: Construction near environmentally 
sensitive habitat and obtaining new 
easement from State Parks 

Schedule: • Construction anticipated in 
Summer 2023 

Consultants: Design: Kennedy Jenks and Staheli 
Trenchless 
CEQA: Johnson Marigot 

Contractor: Pending 
  

188



 
Photo: Existing air diffuser system 

  
Project Number: 19-19 
Project Name: WWTP – Aeration Basin 

Improvements 
Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Waggoner 

Status: Planning Installation for 2022 
Project Description: The Aeration Basins 4A & 4B need 

to have additional diffusers 
installed to ensure the proper air 
(oxygen) transfer into the 
wastewater to support the 
aerobic microorganisms in the 
basins.  

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$9,030 
Cumulative Spent: 
$17,332  

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$8,302 

Reclamation Share: N/A 

Other Entities: N/A 

Permits Required: N/A 

Challenges: Weather conditions and 
Scheduling 

Schedule: • Design is complete 
• Materials ordered and 

received  
• Construction anticipated for 

2022 
Consultants: N/A 

Contractor: N/A 
 

189



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reclamation Capital Project Summaries 
 

 

190



 
Photo: Existing totes used for Sulfuric Acid storage and 

Feed  
  
Project Number: 18-26 
Project Name: Sulfuric Acid & Citric Acid Storage 

& Feed Systems Project 
Project Location: Reclamation – Microfiltration 

(MF)/Reverse Osmosis (RO) 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: In Construction 
Project 
Description: 

Code compliance upgrades for 
existing acid chemical storage and 
feed system used by Reclamation 
for enhancing RO recovery. Project 
includes code compliant secondary 
containment and separation of 
dissimilar chemicals. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$438,743 
Cumulative Spent: 
$68,743 

FY Budget: 
$370,000 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Reclamation 
Share: 

100%  

Other Entities: Reclamation Project 
Permits Required: Coastal Commission Notification 
Challenges: Hazardous Chemical Safety 
Schedule: Construction 2021/2022 
Consultants: Trussell Technologies, Inc 
Contractor: Monterey Peninsula Engineering 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Photo: Microfiltration SCADA Overview 

  
Project Number: 21-09 
Project Name: Reclamation Supervisory Control 

and Data Acquisition (SCADA) 
Migration Project 

Project Location: Reclamation Plant 
Project Manager: Foley 
Status: In Progress 25% 
Project Description: Migration of reclamation legacy 

from RSView32 SCADA screens, 
alarms and trending to Ignition 
SCADA platform utilized by the 
treatment plant and collections 
pump stations. The legacy system 
software is no longer supported 
and poses a cybersecurity risk. It 
has been in service for 14+ years 
and the hardware is past its useful 
life. The new system will be more 
secure and installed on modern, 
reliable hardware.  

Department: Reclamation 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$140,000 

Cumulative Spent: 
$99,075 

FY Budget: 
$140,000 

FY Spent: 
$30,827 

Reclamation Share: 100%  
Other Entities: Reclamation Project 
Permits Required: None 
Challenges: Structure of old Programming 
Schedule: Work started in December 2021 
Consultants: Frisch Engineering 

 

191



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Collections Capital Project Summaries 
 

 

 

192



 
Photo: View gravity pipe in Carmel easement  

  
Project Number: 19-03 
Project Name: Carmel Meadows Sewer 

Replacement  
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In Design / California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA) 
Project 
Description: 

The project will replace 1,300 feet 
of Ductile Iron Pipe (DIP) on an 
aerial span and eight manholes by 
constructing a small pump station 
at the end of Mariposa Drive. This 
project is located on an easement 
parallel to Ribera Road and was 
originally installed in the early 
1960's. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$2,014,551 
Cumulative Spent: 
$465,763                 

FY Budget: 
$150,000 

FY Spent: 
$89,977 

Permits Required: Coastal Permit and Environmental 
Review 

Challenges: Redirecting the sewer to the pump 
station without requiring booster 
pumps for individual houses. 

Schedule: Design and Environmental Review 
completed by 5/26/22. 
Construction to begin FY22/23. 

Consultants: SRT Consultants, WRA         
Environmental 

Contractor: TBD 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Photo: View of proposed sewer line realignment  

  
Project Number: 19-13 
Project Name: Upper Rancho Cañada Pipe 

Relocation  
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: Construction Complete 
Project Description: This project relocates an existing 

sewer trunk line that serves the 
eastern most assets of the District 
and is located within the proposed 
County Park at Rancho Cañada. 
The trunk line varies in size from a 
12-inch to 8-inch diameter and is 
made of Truss pipe material that 
was installed in the early 1970's. 
The pipe is damaged in many 
locations, has capacity issues, and 
was identified as a priority in the 
Asset Management Plan. 

Department: Collection 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$1,912,475 
Cumulative Spent: 
$1,741,815                

FY Budget: 
$1,760,000 

FY Spent: 
$1,528,575 

Other Entities: Monterey Regional Park District 
Permits Required: Environmental Review 
Challenges: Providing a design that allows 

CAWD access to assets and is 
acceptable to the Park District. 

Schedule: Construct August-December 2021 
Final completion March 31,2022 
after receiving Graniterock change 
order request. 

Consultants: MNS Engineering 
Rincon Environmental 

Contractor: Graniterock  
 

  

193



 

Photo: Entrance to Carmel Valley Manor 
  
Project Number: 19-08 
Project Name: Carmel Valley Manor Pipeline and 

Pump Station 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: Re-Design in Progress             
Project 
Description: 

Sewer extension project to be 
completed by the owners of Carmel 
Valley Manor to connect to CAWD’s 
sewer system.  

Department: Collections 
Financial: this is an 
unbudgeted item- 
under repayment 
agreement 

Cumulative 
Budget: 
$0 

Cumulative  
Spent: 
$180 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$180 

Reclamation 
Share: 

0% 

Other Entities: The prospect of a pipeline has given 
rise to a plethora of potential 
additional connections 

Permits Required: County Encroachment Permit, 
Environmental Review completed.  

Challenges: Funding, Repayment Agreement, 
easement agreements LAFCO 
annexation 

Schedule: 3-22-21 LAFCO hearing. Approved 
without protest. 

Consultants: MNS and Rincon are working for 
Carmel Valley Manor to permit and 
design the project. 

Contractor: N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

  Photo: Looking at Pump Station Exterior 
  
Project Number: 20-07 
Project Name: Bay/Scenic Pump Station 

Rehabilitation 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In Design 
Project Description: Remodel the interior of the 

pump station and update 
SCADA panel to remove from 
areas prone to flooding. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$756,726 
Cumulative Spent: 
$30,412 

FY Budget: 
$250,000 

FY Spent: 
$21,031 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: Carmel-by-the-Sea, Coastal 

Commission 
Permits Required: Exemptions from CEQA & 

Coastal Commission 
Challenges: Traffic Control  
Schedule: Design 2021, Construct 2022, 

completed by 06-23 
Consultants: SRT 

Contractor: Pending 

 

 

  

194



 

Photo: Pipe Bursting Limits on Scenic 
  
Project Number: 20-08 
Project Name: Scenic Rd Pipe Bursting - 

Ocean to Bay 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In Design / CEQA 
Project Description: Replace approximately 

9,525 linear feet of 
existing 6-inch clay pipe 
with a new 8-inch High-
Density Polyethylene 
(HDPE) and includes 
manhole rehabilitation. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$1,280,276 
Cumulative Spent: 
$161,402 

FY Budget: 
$1,200,000 

FY Spent: 
$81,125 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: Carmel-by-the-Sea, 

Coastal 
Permits Required:  CEQA & Coastal 

Commission permit 
required. 

Challenges: Traffic control & poorly 
mapped underground 
utilities. Cultural 
Resources at southern 
end of project. 

Schedule: Design 2021, Construct 
2023, completed 06-23 

Consultants: MNS, Rincon 

Contractor: Pending 

 

 

 

Photo: Sewer Line Repair 
  
Project Number: 21-02 
Project Name: 2021 Pipeline Spot Repairs 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In Construction 
Project 
Description: 

Repairs to damaged sections of pipe 
at various locations throughout the 
District as noted in sewer video 
inspections. 

Department: Collections 
Financial: 
O&M 

Cumulative Budget: 
$150,000 (FY21-22) 

Cumulative Spent: 
$1,299 

FY Budget: 
$150,000 (FY21-22) 

FY Spent: 
$1,299 

Reclamation 
Share: 

0% 

Other Entities: N/A 
Permits Required: City Encroachment 

Challenges: Traffic control in area of town, 
depth of repair. 

Schedule: Start date January 5, 2022.  
Completed on March 22, 2022. 

Consultants: Pacific Engineering, geotechnical 

Contractor: Rooter King 

 

 

  

195



 

Photo: Manhole Inspection Map 
  
Project Number: 21-06 
Project Name: Manhole Rehabilitation 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: Design in House 
Project Description: Line Manholes with a solvent-

free rigid polyurethane 
material that seals surface 
and provides structural 
integrity 

Department: Collections 
Financial
: O&M 

Cumulative Budget: 
$150,000 (FY21-22) 

Cumulative Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$150,000 (FY21-22) 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: N/A 
Permits Required: none 

Challenges: Traffic control  
Schedule: Complete by 01-23 
Consultants: none 

Contractor: TBD 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photo: Sewer Line at Pescadero Creek 
  
Project Number: 21-05 
Project Name: Pescadero Creek Area Pipe 

Relocation 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In Design 
Project Description: Relocate damaged pipe from 

creek slope to roadway 
Department: Collections 
Financial: 
O&M 

Cumulative Budget: 
$1,700,000 

Cumulative Spent: 
$62,823 

FY Budget: 
$450,000 (FY21-22) 

FY Spent: 
$38,421 

Reclamation Share: 0% 
Other Entities: N/A 
Permits Required: Environmental Review 

Challenges: Narrow road, depth of 
manhole, houses to be 
placed on individual pumps 

Schedule: Start design, public outreach, 
& Environmental (?)  in 
Winter 2021/22 

Consultants: MNS, Denise Duffy 

Contractor: TBD 

 

  

196



 

Photo: River Watch logo 
  
Project Number: 20-05 
Project Name: River Watch Agreement 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: Work in Progress 
Project 
Description: 

Work with Collections to provide 
data that is needed to satisfy the 
milestones in the agreement with 
River Watch. As of February 2022, 
there are 75 remaining manholes to 
be inspected out of 1,428 for the FY.  

Department: Collections 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

N/A 
Cumulative Spent: 
N/A 

FY Budget: 
N/A 

FY Spent: 
N/A 

Reclamation 
Share: 

0% 

Other Entities: River Watch 
Permits 
Required: 

none 

Challenges: Closed caption television (CCTV) 
scheduling deadlines. The Board 
agreed to increase staffing by one 
full time equivalent (FTE) to assist in 
meeting the required schedule. 
Received 1 yr. extension from River 
Watch due to COVID-19. 

Schedule: Due date June 2023 
Consultants:  

Contractor: N/A 

 

 

 

Photo: LT Capital Schedule 
  
Project Number: 20-06 
Project Name: Collections 15 -Year CIP 
Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: Work in Progress 
Project 
Description: 

Utilize updated sewer line 
inspection information and flow 
modeling to develop a 20-year 
Construction Improvement Plan  

Department: Collections 
Projection of 
Total Capital 
Costs-20-Yr 
$60M 

Construction 
Costs: $50M 

Administration 
Costs: $10M (20% 
engineering, legal, 
admin.) 

Financial: Cumulative 
15YR Budget: 
EST $30M 

Cumulative Spent: 
N/A 

FY Budget: 
N/A 

FY Spent: 
N/A 

Reclamation 
Share: 

0% 

Other Entities: River Watch-see project #20-05 
Permits Required: none 
Challenges: Need all pipeline CCTV results to be 

completed to develop plan.  
Schedule: 2020 - 2040 
Consultants: West Yost 

Contractor: N/A 

 

 

 

 

197



 

 

 

 

 

 

Admin Capital Project Summaries 
 

 

198



 

Photo:  Security Cameras – Admin View 
  
Project Number: 21-08 
Project Name: Administration Access Control and 

Security Cameras 
Project Location: 3945 Rio Road 
Project Manager: Chris Foley 
Status: Cancelled 
Project 
Description: 

Install one security camera to 
provide better coverage of parking 
lot.  Decided to cancel project – 
not necessary 

Department: Administration  
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$19,291 
Cumulative Spent: 
$ 0 

FY Budget: 
$19,291 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Other Entities: None 
Permits Required: None 
Challenges: Adequate Coverage with minimal 

hardware. 
Schedule: Construction to begin in early 2022 

Consultants: Verkada Security Systems 
Contractor: Johnson Electronics 

 

 

199



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Non-Capital Project Summaries 

 

 

200



 

            ADP Workforce Now 

Photo: ADP Clip Art 
Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Workforce Now 
Project Location: All Supervisor Locations 

Project Manager: Beth Ingram 
Status: Implementation 
Project 
Description: 

Implementation of a 
comprehensive Human Resource 
(HR) software database for all 
supervisors and employees to 
utilize. Modules provide employee 
development tracking, benefits 
administration, custom 
performance review templates, and 
employee goal management. 

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$0 
Cumulative Spent: 
$2,520 (annual fee) 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$2,520 (annual fee) 

Challenges: Technical issues need to be 
resolved & employee training  

Schedule: Anticipate implementation in the 
Spring 2022 

Consultants: ADP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Photo: Handshake 

  
Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Employee Contract Negotiations 

Project Location: Administration 
Project Manager: Barbara Buikema 
Status: In Progress 
Project 
Description: 

Bi-annual negotiations with 
Employee Groups  

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$0 
Cumulative Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Schedule: Must be complete by 06-30-22 or 
earlier  

Consultants: None  
 

 

 

 

 

  

201

https://youtu.be/0_dJBfrta9g


 
 

 

Photo: Real Estate Clip Art 

  
Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Real Property Investigation 
Project Location: Carmel Valley 
Project Manager: Barbara Buikema 
Status: Evaluation in Progress 
Project 
Description: 

An investigation of a possible new 
treatment facility site in the mouth 
of the Carmel Valley, which is in  
response to the Coastal Commission 
requirement to move facilities 
within 30 years. 

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$75,000 
Cumulative Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$75,000 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Permits Required: None – at this time 

Challenges: Limited land possibilities, regulatory 
hurdles, and zoning 

Schedule: 12 months 
Consultants: Mahoney & Associates 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Photo: Cyber Security Clip Art 

  
Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Cyber Security 
Project Location: District-wide 
Project Manager: Chris Foley 
Status: Ongoing 
Project Description: Internal Cyber Security 

Incident Response Team 
(CSIRT) formed and they are 
working on a response plan & 
training. The upgrades to 
email filtering system have 
been completed. Stricter 
geofencing policies have been 
put in place, and a cold backup 
system that is sandboxed from 
the network is planned for 
March 2022.  

Department: All 
Financial: Cumulative 

Budget: 
$0 

Cumulative 
Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$17,000 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Challenges: Ongoing training & the need 
for continual upgrades as skills 
of hackers grow. 

Schedule: Continually updating 
Consultant: Exceedio 

 

 

 

  

202



 

 
Photo: Six Sigma Clip Art 

  
Project Number: N/A 
Project Name: Lean Six Sigma 

Project Location: Management staff 
Project Manager: Barbara Buikema 
Status: Green Belt Level Training & 

Certification 
Project 
Description: 

Currently all managers have been 
assigned the task of earning a 
Green Belt certification.  A couple 
of staff members will be moving on 
to the Black Belt self-study course. 
Also, will investigate an in-person 
trainer for the implementation of a 
specific agreed upon project. 

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$0 
Cumulative Spent: 
$0 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$2,000 

Permits Required: None 
Challenges: Implementation phase 
Schedule: Ongoing 
Consultants: Self-study online 
Trainer: To be determined 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photo: California coastline  
  
Project Number: 22-01 
Project Name: Long-Term Sea Level Rise Planning 

Project Location: Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Barbara Buikema/Patrick Treanor 
Status: Long Term Coastal Hazards Plan 

submitted.  Currently working on 
plan for WWTP alternatives (see 
March 2022 agenda) 

Project 
Description: 

As conditions of Coastal Permit #3-
82-199-A8 - the District submitted 
its Long-Term Coastal Hazards Plan 
on 03-03-22.  Bringing a 
Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Alternatives Planning Assistance 
consultant services contract to the 
Board in March 2022.   

Department: Administration 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$1,400,00 
Cumulative Spent: 
$ 0 

FY Budget: 
$300,000 

FY Spent: 
$0 

Permits Required: In response to California Coastal 
Commission 

Challenges: Establishing focus on long term 
objectives and committing to follow 
through items. 

Schedule: WWTP Relocation Alternatives on 
March 2022 agenda 

Consultants: Greeley & Hansen 

  

203



 
Photo: Areas of Potential Annexation  

  
Project Number: 18-21, 19-04, 19-08,19-09 
Project Name: 2021 CAWD Sphere of Influence 

(SOI) Amendment & Annexation 
Proposal 

Project Location: Collection System 
Project Manager: Lather 
Status: In process of obtaining Coastal 

Development Permit Amendment 
for annexations in Coastal Zone 

Project 
Description: 

The project will provide access for 
homes and businesses currently on 
septic systems and add 350 new 
connections to the District at build-
out. Interested areas include #18-21 
Corona Road(Deferred Revenue), 
Riley Ranch, #19-08 Carmel Valley 
Manor and #19-04 Yankee Point & 
Otter Cove (Deferred Revenue). 

Department: Collections 
Financial
: 

Cumulative Budget: 
$105,000 (55K+50K) 

Cumulative Spent: 
$73,675 

FY Budget: 
$0 

FY Spent: 
$17,230   #19-09 

** No Budget included for Annexation b/c costs will be 
recouped through annexation fees. 
Permits 
Required: 

Environmental Review, Local Agency 
Formation Commission (LAFCO) 
Annexation Approval 

Challenges: #18-21 Corona Road- working with 
homeowner groups to form a 
Corona Road Assessment District to 
pay for infrastructure that is needed 
to connect to our sewer system. 
Funds from homeowner in the 
amount of $67K have been received 
by CAWD. 

Schedule:  Waiting for State Board of 
Equalization 

Consultant: Denise Duffy & Associates 

 
Photo: WWTP Aerial Showing Eucalyptus Trees Around 

Perimeter 
  
Project Number: 21-01 
Project Name: WWTP Eucalyptus Pruning 

Project Location: Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Project Manager: Treanor 
Status: Complete  
Project Description: Trim Eucalyptus Trees around 

WWTP to control overgrowth of 
trees and mitigate spread of 
non-native tree. 

Department: Treatment 
Financial: Cumulative Budget: 

$150,376 
Cumulative Spent: 
$137,493 

FY Budget: 
$130,000 

FY Spent: 
$137,493 

Reclamation Share: 0% 

Other Entities: N/A 

Permits Required: Coastal Commission Notification, 
County Tree Cutting Permit 

Challenges: Environmental 
Schedule: Tree Trimming anticipated 

during non-nesting season (fall-
winter 21/22).  

Consultants: Burleson Consulting 
(Environmental Monitoring) 
Frank Ono (Arborist) 

Contractor: Tope’s Tree Service 
 

 

 

204



STAFF REPORT 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From: Ed Waggoner                                             

Operations Superintendent 
 
Date:  March 31, 2022 
 
Subject: Monthly Operations Report – February 2022 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required. 
 
DISCUSSION  

Plant Operation 
Treatment Plant: 

• The treatment plant operations staff has continued finishing projects and 
concentrating on Preventative Maintenance Work Orders during the month of 
February. This included the implementation of the Operations Flood 
Preparation Standard Operating Procedures from the Plant Engineer. 

• (Project #18-05) Programmable Logic Controller/Supervisory Control and Data 
Acquisition (PLC/SCADA). Operations staff has been meeting and working 
with Maintenance and Frisch Engineering on the upgrades and programming 
of the PLC/SCADA System.  

 
Reclamation: 

• Staff continued preventative maintenance work on pumps, motors, and any 
equipment that needs maintenance for the Microfiltration and Reverse Osmosis 
Systems.  

• Staff completed Clean-in-Place (CIP) cleans on Microfiltration (MF) Cells 1, 2 
and 3. All cells cleaned successfully with Trans Membrane Pressures (TMPs) 
pressures ranging between 1.8 to 6.5 pounds per square inch (psi).  

 
Training: 

• Staff continues to complete online training at the treatment facility from Target 
Solutions as CAWD implements its new safety policies for the Exposure Control 
Plan updates for the COVID-19 virus. 

• Staff continues to participate in scheduled tailgate safety meetings with 
Collections leading the way by holding the meetings in the truck bays to meet 
CAWD’s social distancing policy.  

 

 
 

205



Capital Improvement:  
• Staff continues working with Plant Engineer, Patrick Treanor, on Project #18-01, 

the Electrical/Mechanical Rehabilitation and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement 
Project for the following areas: Influent Pump Station, Headworks, Blower 
Building, Chlorination/Dechlorination Building, Effluent Building, Digester No. 
1, Digester No. 1 Control Building and Dewatering Building. 

 
Meetings Attended 

• On February 1, attended a Zoom meeting with the Technical Advisory 
Committee for the Wastewater Reclamation Project.  

• On February 2, 2022, Operations staff attended a quarterly conference call with 
Trussell Technologies reviewing the operational performance of the 
Microfiltration and Reverse Osmosis Systems. 

• On February 1, attended the Wastewater Reclamation Project Management 
Committee Meeting via Zoom.  

• Attended weekly Teams Meeting on construction progress for Project #18-01, 
the Electrical/Mechanical Rehabilitation and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement 
Project for the following areas: Influent Pump Station, Headworks, Blower 
Building, Chlorination/Dechlorination Building, Effluent Building, Digester 
No. 1, Digester No. 1 Control Building and Dewatering Building. 

  
Discharge Permit Violations 

• There were no Reclamation Permit 93-72 discharge violations for the month of 
January 2022. 

• There were no violations of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES) Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012 within the 
month of January 2022.  

• Submitted Fourth Quarter Effluent Report for Dichloro-diphenyl-
trichloroethane (DDT) for National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012. Report submitted 
contained no permit violations. 

• Submitted Fourth Quarter Total Dissolved Solids for Reclamation Permit 93-72. 
The report contained no permit violations. 

• Submitted the 2022 Annual Recycle Flows Report to GeoTracker for the 
California State Water Board. 

• Staff has not received feedback from Central Coast Regional Water Quality 
Control Board on the submitted Toxicity Reduction Evaluation (TRE) Work 
Plan for Order No. RCA0047996 as set forth in Section V.2.a. Toxic Reduction 
Requirements. This plan is currently under review by the Central Coast 
Executive Officer for certification.  

 
FUNDING 
N/A-Informational item only 

206



STAFF REPORT 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Chris Foley, Maintenance Superintendent 
 
Date:  March 31, 2022 
 
Subject: Monthly Maintenance Report – February 2022 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required.  
 
DISCUSSION  
Maintenance Projects in Progress/Completed 

• New eyewash stations have been installed next to the potassium hydroxide 
containment at the reclamation facility. A plumbing tee was added so the new 
sulfuric acid eyewash can be easily connected to the water system as part of the 
Sulfuric Acid Tank project.  
 

• (Project 18-26) Work continues on replacement of the chemical piping at the 
reclamation facility. The plant engineer has been working with maintenance and 
operations staff on procuring new tubing and secondary containment that will 
eliminate potential leak points and remove piping that is no longer in use.  
 

• (Project 18-01) The programmable logic controller (PLC) chassis for the influent 
station was replaced with a larger chassis in preparation for the new influent 
pumps.  
 

• (Project 18-01) The input wiring for the OPS building PLC was updated and audited 
to match the drawings for the new headworks equipment.  
 

• The microfiltration air compressor was rebuilt and both compressors are back in 
operation. Staff is working on a replacement plan for the 2022-2023 budget. The 
compressors are critical equipment and nearing the end of their useful life.  
 

• Mathews Mechanical is scheduled to be onsite to complete the backlog of work due 
to the staffing shortage in maintenance from injury. The technicians will be 
completing preventative maintenance and the replacement of the remainder of the 
original headworks plumbing valves.  

 
 
 

  

207



Upcoming Maintenance Projects 
 

• Bryan Mailey electric is replacing multiple faulty photocells at the treatment plant 
that are allowing lights to turn on during the day and replacing the minimal number 
of remaining fluorescent and incandescent light fixtures.  

 
Staff Development 
 

• A training script for the new purchaser/asset coordinator was created as a starting 
point for training. A development plan will be created in the ADP Workforce Now 
software module after the module is implemented in the next few months.  
The ADP Workforce software module will be implemented over the next few 
months.   
 

Work Order Metrics 
Preventive Maintenance       
         
Total Work Orders Generated    416  
Total Work Orders Closed/Done    382  
Total Work Orders Still Open    34  
Percentage of Work Orders Completed    91.83%  
         
Corrective Maintenance        
 

          
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
         
   Emergency 6     
   Critical  9     
   Urgent 11     
   Routine 7     
   Projects 3     

FUNDING: N/A- Informational item only 

208



STAFF REPORT 
 
To:                  Board of Directors 
 

From:             Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer 
 

Date:  March 31, 2022 
 

Subject:          General Engineering  
   
RECOMMENDATION 
Receive Report- Informational only; no action required. 
 
DISCUSSION 
This report is provided to update the Board of the Carmel Area Wastewater District 
(District) on current engineering activities during the month of February 2022. 
 
General Engineering 
 
The Principal Engineer continues to work on projects related to the 2021 Annexation, 
including Yankee Point, Carmel Valley Manor and Corona Road.  The Corona Road project 
engineer, Monterey Bay Engineers, Inc., has completed surveying the project site and the 
environmental/permitting process has begun.  The engineer is also moving forward with 
completing a draft assessment engineer report.   
 
Carmel Valley Manor (CVM) is continuing to work on their project to connect to the 
District and have delayed their project in order to work with Cañada Woods to utilize 
another pipeline alignment that will benefit the District and CVM.  Previously, CVM met 
with the Principal Engineer, General Manager and Counsel to discuss how to determine the 
repayment fee for other properties that will benefit from the constructed project.  We have 
not heard from them since that time. 
 
The project engineer for the Corona Road Sewer Assessment District project has provided a 
preliminary report that provides a cost estimate and preliminary design that will be used to 
initiate the assessment district formation process. The project engineer is suggesting that 
the easements needed for the pump station location should be added to the scope of work 
for an additional fee of $4,500.  The Principal Engineer is discussing this with the 
stakeholders. Denise Duffy and Associates have begun working on the environmental 
documents now that the preliminary plans are finalized.    
 
FUNDING 
N/A- Informational item only 

  

209



Resolutions 

210



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 

 
From: Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer 

 
Date:  March 31, 2022 

 
Subject: 2022 Manhole Frame & Lid Replacement 

Project at Various Locations 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve Resolution 2022-11 authorizing the 
General Manager to bid and award the construction contract for the 2022 Manhole Frame & 
Lid Replacement Project at Various Locations and return to your Board on April 28, 2022 
with results of the bidding. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
As part of the ongoing efforts to reduce inflow and flooding of the District’s low lying 
sewer manholes, the Collections Department has determined that specific manhole frames 
and lids need to be replaced this fiscal year. This will prevent sewage overflows during rain 
events in areas that are near water bodies and is part of the efforts to satisfy the River 
Watch agreement. 
 
In order to reduce the impact of flooding that can overwhelm the sewer collection system, 
staff is recommending that bolt down manholes be installed at 29 locations that historically 
are flooded.  Sealed manhole covers and new frames are anticipated to provide a barrier for 
inflow from heavy rains. Twenty-two of the manholes are located in the Mission Fields area 
and the remaining manholes are at various other locations within the District (see attached 
maps). Manhole covers and frames have been purchased by staff in anticipation of 
completing this project. 
 
In order to proceed with bidding the projects, your Board will need to approve the attached 
resolution authorizing the General Manager to invite bids for the project and return on April 
28, 2022, to recommend award of the contract. 
 
FUNDING 
Funding is available in the Collections Operating Budget for Repairs & Maintenance of 
sewer lines and manholes of $200,000.  The Engineer’s Estimate is $45,000. 
 
Attachments:  Maps #1-7 show location of Project  
    Resolution 2022-11 

  

211



R671

R668

R667

R666

R665

R644

R798

R706 R723

R640
R734

R707 R725R643 R788 R724

R740

R782

R742R766

R741

R644 R745
R777

R738

R739

R710 R786 R783 R778 R756
R711 R789R743

R765 R744
R763

R764R787

R785 R776

R761
R771R775

R791 R749R6PS_2
R784

R768

R767
R781

R780 R790

R759
R754

R772 R792R779 R774

R760

R769R773

R758

18
 V

C
P

24 STL

0 UNK

27 VCP

27 VCP

6 VCP

10 VCP

10 VCP

10 VCP

27 AC

6 VCP

6 VCP

6 VCP

6 VCP

8 VCP

6
 P

V
C

6 PVC

6
 V

C
P

6 VCP

27 AC

27 AC

27 AC

6 
V

CP

10 VCP

10 VCP

10 VCP
10 VCP

6 
V

C
P

6
 V

C
P

6 VCP

10 VCP

6
 V

C
P

6 VCP

6 VCP

6 VCP

27 V
CP

27 VCP

6 V
C

P

6 VCP

10 VCP 10 VCP 10 VCP

6
 V

C
P

6 
V

CP

27 AC

12 VCP

10 VCP

O
LI

V
E

R

ATHERTON

FISHER

M
IS

S
IO

N
 F

IE
LD

S

RIO

RIO

W
IL

LO
W

F
IS

H
E

R

ATHERTON

RIO

MISSION FIELDS

R
IV

E
R

S
ID

E

B
IR

C
H

FISHER

O
LI

V
E

R

RIO

SYCAMORE

SYCAMORE

CAWD GIS Maps

TiGEO

CAWD Service Area

Maintenance Holes v5

FI

MH

PS

Mains

GRAVITY

PBCSD

RECLAMATION

Forced Mains

FORCED MAIN

Streets

8/12/2021, 8:44:01 AM
0 0.04 0.090.02 mi

0 0.07 0.150.04 km

1:2,000

Carmel Area Wastewater District
TiGEO |

212

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Callout
2 Frame and Lids

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Polygon

Lauer
Callout
See Map 2

Lauer
Text Box
4 (Blue) Frame and Lids on Private Property (homeowners to be noticed)12 (Red) Frame and Lids in street

lather
Typewritten Text

lather
Typewritten Text

lather
Typewritten Text

lather
Typewritten Text
MAP #1



R747R771R775

R791 R749
R784

R768

R767
R781

R750

R780 R790
R748R759

R754

R772 R792R779 R848R774

R793
R760

R751

R769R773
R753

R758

R752

R757
R770 S702

S801

S846

S706S701
S703

S708

S847
S707

S705

S713
S711

0 
U

N
K

8
 V

C
P

8
 V

C
P

8 
CI

P

8 VCP

8
 V

C
P

10
 V

CP

6
 V

C
P

6
 V

C
P

6 
VC

P

24 AC

8 
VC

P

6 VCP

24 AC6 
V

CP

10 V
C

P

10 V
C

P

12 CIP

24 AC

6 
V

CP 6 VCP

10 VCP

10 VCP

10 VCP

27 AC

6 VCP

6 
V

CP

10 VCP

10 VCP

10 VCP
10 VCP

6 VCP

6
 V

C
P

6 VCP

6 VCP

6 VCP

O
LI

V
E

R

FISHER

M
IS

S
IO

N
 F

IE
LD

S

F
IS

H
E

R

O
LIV

E
R

F
IS

H
E

R

RIO

CROSSROADS

MISSION FIELDS

H
W

Y 
1

R
IV

E
R

S
ID

E

O
LIVER

B
IR

C
H

H
W

Y
 1

RIO
SYCAMORE

RIO

CAWD GIS Maps

TiGEO

CAWD Service Area

Maintenance Holes v5

FI

MH

Mains

GRAVITY

OFW

PRIVATE

Streets

8/12/2021, 8:45:33 AM
0 0.04 0.090.02 mi

0 0.07 0.150.04 km

1:2,000

Carmel Area Wastewater District
TiGEO |

213

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Text Box
6 (Blue) Frame and Lids on private property (Property owner to be notified)1 Frame and lid on street.

lather
Typewritten Text
MAP #2



Q611

Q517

Q612

Q613

Q6107

Q614
Q508

Q630

Q509
Q631

27 VCP

27 VCP

12 VCP

12 VCP

27 V
CP

6 VCP

6 VCP

6 
VC

P

6 V
CP

6 V
CP

15TH

BA
Y 

VI
EW

S
A

N
 A

N
TO

N
IO

SAN A
NTONIO

CAWD GIS Maps

TiGEO

CAWD Service Area

Maintenance Holes v5

DCO

FI

MH

PLUG

Mains

GRAVITY

PBCSD

RECLAMATION

Streets

8/12/2021, 8:47:34 AM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.01 0.030.01 km

1:500

Carmel Area Wastewater District
TiGEO |

214

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Text Box
2 Frame and Lids in street

lather
Typewritten Text

lather
Typewritten Text

lather
Typewritten Text
MAP #3



O6139O6138

O691

O690

O654

O652
O693

O6100

O694

6
 V

C
P

6
 V

C
P

6 V
CP

6 VCP

6
 V

C
P

6 V
CP

8 PVC

8 
V

CP

6
 V

C
P

8 CIP
6

 P
V

C

M
IS

S
IO

N

S
A

N
 C

A
R

LO
S

S
A

N
 C

A
R

LO
S

CAWD GIS Maps

TiGEO

CAWD Service Area

Maintenance Holes v5

FI

MH

Mains

GRAVITY

Streets

8/12/2021, 8:56:38 AM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.01 0.030.01 km

1:500

Carmel Area Wastewater District
TiGEO |

215

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Text Box
Frame and Lid to be raised to street grade

lather
Typewritten Text

lather
Typewritten Text

lather
Typewritten Text
MAP #4



O6129

O624

O659

O6130

O657

O625

6
 V

C
P

6
 V

C
P

6
 P

V
C

6 VCP

6
 P

V
C

6
 V

C
P

6
 V

C
P

D
O

LO
R

E
S

3RD3RD

LI
N

C
O

LN

M
O

N
T

E
 V

E
R

D
E

M
O

N
T

E
 V

E
R

D
E

CAWD GIS Maps

TiGEO

CAWD Service Area

Maintenance Holes v5

FI

MH

Mains

GRAVITY

Streets

2/22/2022, 11:47:19 AM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.01 0.030.01 km

1:500

Carmel Area Wastewater District
TiGEO |

216

lauer
Oval

lather
Typewritten Text
MAP #5

lauer
Text Box
Frame & Lid to be raised to street grade



T1030

T1029

T1035

T1008 T1007
T1034

T1009T1033

T1022
T1010

T1052

T1011

T1016
T1023

T1012

T1017

T1024

T1013

T1025
T1014

T1015

6 PVC

6 PVC

6 PVC

6 PVC

6 PVC

6 PVC

6 PVC

6 PV
C

6 P
V

C

6
 P

V
C

6 P
V

C

6
 P

V
C

6 P
V

C

6 
PV

C

6 PVC

6 PVC

6 PVC

6 PVC

6 PVC 6 PVC

COVEY

CAWD GIS Maps

TiGEO

CAWD Service Area

Maintenance Holes v5

FI

MH

Mains

GRAVITY

Streets

8/12/2021, 9:06:42 AM
0 0.04 0.090.02 mi

0 0.07 0.150.04 km

1:2,000

Carmel Area Wastewater District
TiGEO |

217

Lauer
Oval

Lauer
Text Box
Frame and Lid to be raised to street grade.

lather
Typewritten Text

lather
Typewritten Text
MAP #6



O6149

O636

O628
O634

O641

O631

O6133

O639

O6134

6 PV
C

8 PVC 6
 P

V
C

6
 V

C
P

8 PVC

8 PVC

6
 V

C
P

6 PVC

8 VCP

8
 V

C
P

6
 V

C
P

8
 V

C
P

6 PVC

6 P
V

C

6 P
V

C

4TH

C
A

S
A

N
O

V
A

C
A

S
A

N
O

V
A

PALOU

4TH

M
O

N
T

E
 V

E
R

D
E

4TH

CAWD GIS Maps

TiGEO

CAWD Service Area

Maintenance Holes v5

FI

MH

Mains

GRAVITY

Streets

2/22/2022, 11:45:07 AM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.01 0.030.01 km

1:500

Carmel Area Wastewater District
TiGEO |

218

lauer
Oval

lather
Typewritten Text
MAP #7

lather
Typewritten Text

lauer
Text Box
Frame & Lid to be raised to street grade.



Notice is hereby given that sealed proposals will be received by the District Board, 
Carmel Area Wastewater District, at the District office, 3945 Rio Road, until 

 
2:00 P.M., Wednesday, April 20, 2022 

 
at which time they will be publicly opened and read for performing the work as follows: 

 
2022 MANHOLE FRAME & LID REPLACEMENT PROJECT 

 AT VARIOUS LOCATIONS 
 

The results of the bidding will be reported to the District Board within thirty (30) days of 
the date of the bid opening at which time if bids are found to be acceptable by the 
District Board, written notice of award will be given to the lowest responsive and 

responsible Bidder.  However, said District Board reserves its right to reject any or all 
bids, to waive irregularities of any bids or to re-advertise for all or any part of the work 

contemplated. 
No bidder shall withdraw his bid for a period of thirty (30) calendar days after the date 

set by the Board for the opening thereof. 
 

Specifications and proposal forms may be secured at no charge by emailing the 
District’s Principal Engineer at downstream@cawd.org and requesting the documents. 

        
                                                                                            Post April 8th & 15th  

 
 
 

219

mailto:downstream@cawd.org


RESOLUTION NO. 2022-11 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO INVITE BIDS FOR 
CONSTRUCTION OF THE 2022 MANHOLE FRAME & LID REPLACEMENT 

PROJECT, AT VARIOUS LOCATIONS 
 

-oOo- 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has received and reviewed staff’s report 

regarding the 2022 Manhole Frame & Lid Replacement Project (Project) invitation for 

bids; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel 

Area Wastewater District, as follows: 

1. That the 2022 Manhole Frame & Lid Replacement Project plans and 

specifications are hereby authorized for bidding. 

2. That sealed proposals or bids are hereby called for with regard to the 

aforesaid Project. 

3. That the Secretary of the Board of Directors of the District is hereby directed 

to publish a notice requesting bids for the aforesaid Project once a week for two (2) 

consecutive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation published in the District.   Said 

publications shall not be less than five (5) days apart and the first publication shall be at 

least ten (10) days before the date fixed for the opening of bids.  Said notice shall refer to 

the plans and specifications on file in the office of the District Secretary. 

4. Sealed proposals or bids shall be delivered to the Secretary of the Board of 

the Carmel Area Wastewater District on or before the time and date specified in the 

published notice, at the office of the District, 3945 Rio Road, Carmel, California, 93923, 

said time being not less than ten (10) days from the time of the first publication of the 

notice.   Bids will be publicly opened and examined on said date and hour by the District 

Secretary and will be referred to and considered by the Carmel Area Wastewater District 

Board at its next regular meeting following the opening of the bids in the Board Room of 

the District office, 3945 Rio Road, Carmel, California. 

220



 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on March 31, 2022, by the following vote: 

AYES:    BOARD MEMBERS: 

NOES:    BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSENT:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN:  BOARD MEMBERS:  

 

________________________________ 

   Ken White, President of the Board 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________________ 

  Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board      

221



 
STAFF REPORT     
 
       
To:   Board of Directors  
 
From:   Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer 
 
Date:   March 31, 2022 
 
Subject:  Acceptance of Final Notice of Completion of Work by Graniterock and 
  Ratifying Extra Work Needed During Construction of the Upper Rancho 

Cañada Pipeline Replacement Project #19-13 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors adopt Resolution 2022-12 ratifying the 
amended contract with Graniterock in an amount not to exceed $207,223 for additional 
work completed during construction of the Upper Rancho Cañada Pipeline Replacement 
Project #19-13, accepting the completed project and directing the General Manager to file 
a Notice of Completion for the subject project. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The Upper Rancho Cañada sewer is located within the Palo Corona Regional Park (Park) 
and has been included in the Carmel Area Wastewater District’s (CAWD) Collections 
Department five-year Capital Improvement Plan for sewer line replacement.  The project 
consists of relocating approximately 4,280 feet of pipeline within portions of the Park, 
property owned by the Santa Lucia Preserve, and backyard easements for private 
residences.  Ten new manholes were installed and thirteen manholes were abandoned. 
 
Graniterock was awarded the contract on May 25, 2021, for $1,069,069. Project 
construction began on July 12, 2021 and the project was deemed completed on January 3, 
2022. 
 

 

 

222



Due to unforeseen circumstances additional work was required and/or delays occurred.  
These circumstances included a California American Water Company water line conflict 
requiring project alignment changes.  Unmarked utilities were encountered in the open 
trench within the golf course property due to the Parks personnel not having good 
documentation of their utilities.  Other issues included the lack of availability of tribal 
monitors causing delays, unstable soil conditions, the need for open cut sag repairs and 
additional manhole work.  This additional work was not included in the contract with 
Graniterock and in order to reduce costly delays,  they were directed to do the work on a 
time and materials basis and provide a contract amendment request to the District once 
the work was completed.   
 
The additional work was completed on a time and materials basis and after negotiations 
and thorough reviews of the claims were completed between our Construction Manager, 
PSOMAS and Graniterock the costs added up to an increase of $207,223 to the contract 
for a total contract amount of $1,276,292.  This is still substantially less than the engineer’s 
estimate for the project construction of $1,640,000.   
 
All work by the contractor, Graniterock, was inspected by PSOMAS’ construction 
management staff.  The CAWD Principal Engineer and PSOMAS have determined that 
the work was completed in conformance with the project plans and specifications.   
 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors approve the project change orders, accept 
the project as complete and direct the General Manager to file a Notice of Completion 
with the Monterey County Recorder’s Office. 
 
 FUNDING 
 
The FY21/22 CAWD Collections Capital Budget includes $1.76 million for this project.  
Due to the change orders a transfer of funds from Capital Reserves of $207,223 is required 
to finalize the project. 
 
 
Attachments:   Change Order Cost Summary  
   Resolution 2022-11 
   District Engineer’s signed Notice of Completion    
 
 
 
 
 
  

223



 

CHANGE ORDER COST SUMMARY

BID ITEM DESCRIPTION Unit ORIG. QTY.
BID UNIT 
PRICE ($) TOTAL ($)

FINAL  
QUANTITY

 FINAL CONTRACT 
AMOUNT ($) CHANGE  ($)

1 MOBILIZATION - DEMOBILIZATION (10%) LS 1 50,000           50,000                                      1 50,000                      -                     
2 UTILITY POTHOLING LS 1            14,000 14,000                                      1 14,000                      -                     
3 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTIONS LS 1 60,000           60,000                                      1 60,000                      -                     
4 DEWATER & ADEQUATE SIZED BYPASS LS 1 20,000           20,000                                      1 20,000                      -                     
5 SHEETING, SHORING, BRACING & EXC. LS 1 15,000           15,000                                      1 15,000                      -                     
6 ABANDON 10" PVC TRUSS GRAVITY LF 3000 16                   46,500                              3,000 46,500                      -                     
7 ABANDON MANHOLE EA 7 2,200             15,400                                      6 13,200                      (2,200)                
8 REMOVE MANHOLE EA 6 3,270             19,620                                      6 19,620                      -                     
9 15" PVC SEWER, 3'-15' OPEN TRENCH LF 1640 135                221,400                            1,657 223,695                    2,295                 

10 15" PVC SEWER, 2'-3' OPEN, SLURRY LF 920 110                101,200                                729 80,190                      (21,010)             
11 15" PVC SEWER, 0'-2' OPEN, PCC ENCASED LF 425 130                55,250                                  764 99,320                      44,070               
12 15" HDPE GRAVITY SEWER, OPEN TRENCH LF 130 150                19,500                                     -   -                             (19,500)             
13 15" HDPE SEWER, PIPE BURSTING LF 350 141                49,350                                  350 49,350                      -                     
14 8" HDPE SEWER, PIPE BURSTING LF 770 85                   65,450                                  730 62,050                      (3,400)                
15 FUTURE RESTROOM CONNECTION LS 1 1,429             1,429                                         1 1,429                         -                     
16 RECONNECT SEWER LATERAL- STA 19+37 LS 1 17,700           17,700                                      1 17,700                      -                     
17 RECONNECT SEWER LATERAL- STA 21+80 LS 1 9,520             9,520                                         1 9,520                         -                     
18 RECONNECT RESIDENTIAL LATERAL EA 7 400                2,800                                         3 1,200                         (1,600)                
19 PRECAST 48" FLAT TOP POLYMER MH EA 2 15,600           31,200                                      8 124,800                    93,600               
20 PRECAST 48" POLYMER MH, 4'-8' DEEP EA 5 15,100           75,500                                      1 15,100                      (60,400)             
21 PRECAST 48" POLYMER MH, 8'-12' DEEP EA 3 24,000           72,000                                      3 72,000                      -                     
22 ROCK REFILL FOR PIPE TRENCH STABIL. CY 50 125                6,250                                        -   -                             (6,250)                
23 CONTNGENCY ALLOWANCE LS 1 100,000        100,000                                    1 

BID RECONCILIATION SUBTOTAL
CONTRACT CHANGE ORDERS
CCO 1  Bid Item Adjustments LS 1                  1 49,646                      

CCO 2 Miscellaneous Items LS 1                  1 49,953                      

CCO 3 Miscellaneous Items LS 1                  1 182,019                    

CCO 4 Balancing Change Order for Bid Reconcil iation LS 1 1                 25,605                      
23 CONTINGENCY ALLOWANCE LS 1 (100,000)                   

Total CONTRACT INCREASE/TOTAL CONTRACT                 1,069,069 207,223                    1,276,292         

224



225



Exempt from recording fees as it 
benefits a government agency 
 
Recording requested by and 
when recorded mail to: 
 
Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Attention:  Rachél Lather 
3945 Rio Road 
Carmel, California 93923 
 
No fee document pursuant to  
Government Code Section 27383 
 
 

NOTICE OF COMPLETION 
 

(CA Civil Code § § 8180-8190, 8100-8118, 9200-9208) 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN by the Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD), that a certain project for a 
public works improvement consisting of the Replacement of 4,280 feet of pipeline in Carmel, California, has 
been completed pursuant to plans and specifications therefor entitled “Upper Rancho Cañada Pipeline 
Relocation Project” and has been completed by the contractor, Graniterock.  Final Completion and Contract 
Acceptance by CAWD occurred March 31, 2022.  The name and address of the contractor's surety is: 
Western Surety Company, 555 Mission Street, Suite 200, San Francisco, California 94105. 
 
The name and address of the owner of the property referred to hereinabove is Carmel Area Wastewater 
District, 3945 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923.  The nature of the interest of the owners in the said property is 
as fee simple.  The real properties on which said public works improvements and structures are situated are 
more particularly described as: Palo Corona Regional Park, Carmel, CA 93923. 
 
Date:      March 31, 2022                                 
        Barbara Buikema, CAWD General Manager 
 
 
 VERIFICATION 
 
I, the undersigned, declare that I am the General Manager of the Carmel Area Wastewater District and that 
I have read the foregoing Notice and know the content thereof, and that the same is true to the best of my 
knowledge and belief. 
 
Executed on March 31, 2022, at Carmel, California. 
 
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 
 
 
 
           
Barbara Buikema, CAWD General Manager 

226



 Rancho Canada Pipeline Relocation #19-13

Original   Revised
Contractor Resolution Contract Additions Contract Total

MNS Engineers $18,820.00
Res #2021-45  $10,965.00 $29,785.00
Res #2021-59 $15,215.00 $45,000.00 $45,000.00

PSOMAS Res #2020-76 $175,465.00
Res #2022-04 $60,000.00 $235,465.00 $235,465.00

Rincon Consulting Res #2021-05 $281,846.00
Res #2022-03 $87,398.00 $369,244.00 $369,244.00

GraniteRock Res #2021-09 $1,069,069.00
Res #2022-12 $207,223.00 $1,276,292.00 $1,276,292.00

Project Total $1,926,001.00

2021-22 Budget $1,760,000.00

difference $166,001.00 9.43%

227



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-12 

 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE COMPLETED PROJECT AND  

DIRECTING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO FILE A NOTICE OF COMPLETION FOR  
THE UPPER RANCHO CAÑADA PIPELINE RELOCATION PROJECT #19-13 

 
-oOo- 

 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area Wastewater District, 

Monterey County, California, that:  

 WHEREAS, during the course of construction of the Upper Rancho Cañada Pipeline 

Relocation Project (the “Project”) additional construction items were added that were outside 

the original project scope and are detailed in the staff report dated March 31, 2022 and 

presented to the Board as part of this resolution; and 

 WHEREAS, the Board is convinced that this work was necessary and reasonable and 

ratifies the actions of the General Manager in approving the additional costs in an amount not 

to exceed $207,223; and  

 WHEREAS, the Principal Engineer has provided the Board an accounting of the cost of 

changes to the Project with a change order in the amount of $207,223, making the total cost of 

the project $1,276,292; and 

 WHEREAS, on March 15, 2022, the Principal Engineer of said District has filed with the 

Secretary of said District an Engineer’s Certificate regarding completion of the construction of 

the Project done under and pursuant to the contract between said District and Graniterock; 

and 

 WHEREAS, it appears to the satisfaction of this Board that said project provided for 

under said contract has been completed as provided in said contract and the plans and 

specifications therein referred to and that the work was completed on January 3, 2022. 

 

 

 

228



 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area  

Wastewater District as follows:  

 1.  That it ratifies the amended contract amount and approves the actions of the General 

Manager in approving said amendment with Graniterock in an amount not to exceed $207,223 

for additional items completed during the construction of the Upper Rancho Cañada Pipeline 

Relocation Project; 

 2.  That said Upper Rancho Cañada Pipeline Replacement Project be accepted, and it is 

hereby made and ordered in accordance with California Civil Code §9200(a); 

 3.  That in accordance with California Civil Code Section §9204 the General Manager is 

directed to file for record with the County Recorder of the County of Monterey a notice of 

completion as of the date of acceptance by the District of Ranch Cañada Pipeline Relocation 

Project as required by law. 

  PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on March 31, 2022, by the following vote: 

 AYES:    BOARD MEMBERS: 

 NOES:    BOARD MEMBERS: 

 ABSENT:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

 

         _____________________________ 

        Ken White, President of the Board 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________________ 

  Domine Barringer, Secretary of the Board 

229



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer 
 
Date:  March 31, 2022 
 
Subject: Carmel Meadows Lift Station and Sewer Replacement Project (proposed 

project) AKA Carmel Meadows Sewer Replacement Initial Study/ 
 Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) pursuant to the  
 California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Project #19-03 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve filing a notice of intent and 
circulation of an IS/MND for public comment for the replacement of a sewer main within 
the Carmel Meadows subdivision of Carmel pursuant to the CEQA Guidelines. 
 
DISCUSSION  
 
Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) proposes to use a small lift station and a series 
of four small residential scale sewage pumps to enable the use/reuse of accessible, and 
less environmentally damaging, pipeline alignments through the backyards of the 
residences being served (APNs 243-031-017 through 243-031-034, and 243-051-001 
through 243-051-008, and APNs 243-051-020 through 243-051-022). A 12-inch-wide trench 
would be dug with a small excavator to about three-feet deep, typically (maximum depth 
is five feet).  Impacts to residential landscaping would be avoided where possible and/or 
restored to original or better condition. In areas where the alignment is beyond the fenced 
parcel, native vegetation would also be restored with native seeding and erosion best 
management practices installed on steeper slopes as needed.  There is no expansion of 
sewer capacity and the new sewer line would continue to serve the same residents in the 
Carmel Meadows neighborhood as are served by the existing system.  The existing cast 
iron aerial supports and pipeline would be removed as part of the project. 
 
District staff have worked with WRA Environmental Consultants, Inc. (WRA) to 
complete the IS/MND in conformance with CEQA requirements. CAWD is acting as the 
Lead Agency pursuant to CEQA Guidelines §15050.  

  

230



In addition, required approvals from Monterey County include an Encroachment Permit 
for Work in the Public Right-of-Way, Environmental Health Permit, and Erosion Control 
Plan; the State Water Resources Control Board would approve coverage under the 
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Construction General Permit, 
and a Coastal Development Permit from Monterey County. 
 
A copy of the IS/MND is available to review upon request at the District’s Principal 
Engineer’s office and will be posted on the District’s website.  
 
In order to initiate public and regulatory review of the proposed project, as required by 
CEQA, a Notice of Intent to adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration and circulation of 
the IS/MND for a 30-day public comment and regulatory review period is required. The 
30-day public review period is proposed from April 15, 2022 to May 15, 2022 during 
which time comments concerning the project and analysis contained in the document will 
be solicited.  
 
NEXT STEPS  
 
During the review period, staff will meet with the homeowners directly affected by the 
construction and provide them with information regarding the design decisions and 
impact on their property.  After the public review period is completed, any comments 
will be addressed and/or incorporated into the IS/MND and a Final IS/MND will be 
completed and brought to the Board for consideration of approval and adoption.  
 
Staff will return to the Board in June with a proposed policy regarding injection pumps. 
 
FUNDING 
 
The Carmel Meadows Sewer Replacement Project is provided for in the 2021-22 budget 
in the amount of $150,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

231



 
NOTICE OF INTENT TO ADOPT A     
MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

 
In accordance with Section 15072 of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines, 
this notice is to inform the general public that the Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) has 
completed an Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) for the replacement of 
sewer pipeline in the Carmel Meadows Subdivision and intends to adopt the Mitigated Negative 
Declaration for the project: 

 
Project Title:                   Carmel Meadows Lift Station and Sewer Replacement Project 
Project Location:            Carmel Meadows Subdivision, between Carmel River and Carmel 
 Bay, North of Ribera Road.  

APNs 243-031-017 through 243-031-034, and 243-051-001 through 243-
051-008, and APNs 243-051-020 through 243-051-022 

 
Comment Period: April 15, 2022 to May 16, 2022 
Contact Person: Rachél Lather, MS, PE, District Engineer 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
3945 Rio Road 
PO Box 221428 
Carmel, CA 93922 
downstream@cawd.org 
 

CAWD proposes to use a small lift station and a series of four small residential scale sewage pumps 
to enable the use/reuse of accessible, and less environmentally damaging, pipeline alignments 
through the backyards of the residences being served. A 12-inch-wide trench would be dug with a 
small excavator to about three-feet deep, typically (maximum depth is five feet).  Impacts to 
residential landscaping would be avoided where possible and/or restored to original or better 
condition. In areas where the alignment is beyond the fenced parcel, native vegetation would also 
be restored with native seeding and erosion best management practices installed on steeper slopes 
as needed.  There is no expansion of sewer capacity and the new sewer line would continue to serve 
the same residents in the Carmel Meadows neighborhood as are served by the existing system.   
  
The IS/MND, as well as all plans and specifications for construction, and technical memoranda shall be 
made available for public review at the CAWD website at www.cawd.org and at the following 
location: 

Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Administrative Offices 

3945 Rio Road 
Carmel, CA 93923 

 
Please submit any comments on the IS/MND to Attn: Rachél Lather via email, hand delivery or 
postal carrier to the above noted contact before 5:00 PM on May 16, 2022.  
 
A public hearing to approve said IS/MND before the CAWD Board has been scheduled for 9:00 AM 
on May 26, 2022 at the CAWD Board Chambers located at 3945 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923. 

232

mailto:downstream@cawd.org
http://www.cawd.org/


RESOLUTION NO. 2022-13 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A NOTICE OF INTENT TO ADOPT A 

MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION FOR THE  

CARMEL MEADOWS SEWER REPLACEMENT PROJECT NO. 19-03 

-oOo- 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 6 (Section 15072) of the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA) guidelines, The Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD), as Lead 

Agency, intends to adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Carmel Meadows 

Sewer Replacement Project; and  

WHEREAS the Notice of Intent to Adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration will be 

published in the Carmel Pine Cone, filed with the Monterey County Clerk’s office, and 

noticed in additional ways as required; and  

WHEREAS, the Mitigated Negative Declaration will be submitted to the State 

Clearinghouse for review by State Agencies. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Carmel 

Area Wastewater District, does hereby approve issuing a Notice of Intent to Adopt a 

Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Carmel Meadows Sewer Replacement Project. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Carmel 

Area Wastewater District duly held on March 31, 2022 by the following vote: 

AYES:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

NOES: BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSENT: BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS: 

     _____________________________ 

        Ken White, President of the Board 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

233



STAFF REPORT     
 
         
To:   Board of Directors  
 
From:   Rachél Lather, Principal Engineer 
 
Date:    March 31, 2022   
 
Subject:         Acceptance of final completion of the Dougherty Place Emergency Pipe 

Bursting Project 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors adopt Resolution 2022-14 accepting the 
completed project and directing the General Manager to file a Notice of Completion for 
the subject project.   
 
DISCUSSION 
 
On Tuesday January 18, 2022, the Collections Superintendent was informed by the 
property owner at 26095 Dougherty Place that a large sinkhole had developed in the area 
of the District’s collection line that traverses between two homes above Carmel Valley 
Road.  A hole was noted in the 6-inch pipeline and due to the size and location of the sink 
hole, it was determined that this is an emergency. On January 27, 2022, the project was 
awarded by the Board of Directors to MOCON Corporation for the amount of $86,434.80 
under resolution 2022-07. 
 
The project consisted of pipe bursting 200 feet of 6-inch pipeline from a manhole in the 
street through the side yard easement along 26095 Dougherty Place.  The work also 
included re-connecting three laterals to the pipeline. The work began on January 31, 2022 
and was completed on February 2, 2022. 
 
All work by the contractor, MOCON, was inspected by District staff and was completed 
in conformance with our plans and specifications. Staff recommends that the Board of 
Directors accept the project and direct the General Manager to file a Notice of Completion 
with the Monterey County Recorder’s Office.  
 
FUNDING 
The FY 21/22 CAWD Collections Capital Budget includes $150,000 for sewer line repair 
and maintenance.  
 
Attachments:  Resolution 2022-14-District Engineer Signed Notice of Completion 

 

234



235



Exempt from recording fees as it 
benefits a government agency 
 
Recording requested by and 
when recorded mail to: 
 
Carmel Area Wastewater District 
Attention:  Rachél Lather 
3945 Rio Road 
Carmel, California 93923 
 
No fee document pursuant to  
Government Code Section 27383 
 
 

NOTICE OF COMPLETION 
 

(CA Civil Code § § 8180-8190, 8100-8118, 9200-9208) 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN by the Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD), that a certain project for a 
public works improvement consisting of the replacement of 200 feet of pipeline in Carmel, California, has 
been completed pursuant to plans and specifications therefor entitled “Dougherty Place Emergency Pipe 
Bursting Project” and has been completed by the contractor, MOCON Corporation.  Final completion and 
contract acceptance by CAWD occurred March 31, 2022.   
 
The name and address of the owner of the property referred to hereinabove is Carmel Area Wastewater 
District, 3945 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923.  The nature of the interest of the owners in the said property is 
as fee simple.  The real properties on which said public works improvements and structures are situated are 
more particularly described as: Dougherty Place, Carmel, CA 93923. 
 
Date:      March 31, 2022                                 
        Barbara Buikema, CAWD General Manager 
 
 
 VERIFICATION 
 
I, the undersigned, declare that I am the General Manager of the Carmel Area Wastewater District and that 
I have read the foregoing Notice and know the content thereof, and that the same is true to the best of my 
knowledge and belief. 
 
Executed on March 31, 2022, at Carmel, California. 
 
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 
 
 
 
           
Barbara Buikema, CAWD General Manager 

236



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-14 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE COMPLETED PROJECT AND  
DIRECTING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO FILE A NOTICE OF COMPLETION  

FOR THE DOUGHERTY PLACE EMERGENCY PIPE BURSTING PROJECT 
-oOo- 

 

 

 BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel Area Wastewater District, 

Monterey County, California, that:  

 WHEREAS, the Principal Engineer has provided the Board an accounting of the cost of   

the Dougherty Place Emergency Pipe Bursting Project (the “Project”) in the amount of 

$86,434.80. This amount is within the amount the Board previously authorized the General 

Manager to approve, making the total cost of the project $86,434.80; and 

 WHEREAS, the Principal Engineer of said District has filed with the Secretary of said 

District an Engineer’s Certificate regarding completion of the construction of the Project done 

under and pursuant to the contract between said District and MOCON Corporation dated 

January 27, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, it appears to the satisfaction of this Board that said project provided for 

under said contract has been completed as provided in said contract and the plans and 

specifications therein referred to and that the work was completed on February 2, 2022. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED as follows: 

 1.  That acceptance of said Dougherty Place Emergency Pipe Bursting Project be, and it is 

hereby made and ordered in accordance with California Civil Code §9200(a). 

 2.  That in accordance with California Civil Code Section §9204 the General Manager is 

directed to file for record with the County Recorder of the County of Monterey a notice of 

completion as of the date of acceptance by the District of Dougherty Place Emergency Pipe 

Bursting Project as required by law. 

 

237



  PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on March 31, 2022 by the following vote: 

 AYES:    BOARD MEMBERS: 

 NOES:    BOARD MEMBERS: 

 ABSENT:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

 
         _____________________________ 
        Ken White, President of the Board 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________________ 
  Domine Barringer, Secretary of the Board 

238



 
STAFF REPORT     
        
 

  
To:   Board of Directors  
 
From:   Patrick Treanor, Plant Engineer 
 
Date:  March 31, 2022 
 
Subject:  Project #22-01 – Long-Term Sea Level Rise Planning – Wastewater 

Treatment Plant (WWTP) Relocation Alternatives Planning – Greeley and 
Hansen 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors adopt a resolution authorizing the General 
Manager to execute a Professional Services Agreement with Greeley and Hansen for an 
alternatives analysis study for potential future relocation of the WWTP due to sea level 
rise. The study would be prepared for a not to exceed price of $251,705.09. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
On March 2nd Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) submitted a Long-Term Coastal 
Hazards Planning Roadmap to the Coastal Commission as required in Special Condition 
9 of the WWTP Coastal Development Permit. Before submittal to the Coastal Commission 
the report was presented to the CAWD Sea Level Rise Committee.  
 
The planning roadmap submitted to the Coastal Commission commits CAWD to 
completing a wide range of studies. Per Special Condition 9 of the WWTP Coastal 
Development Permit, CAWD must “address the specific manner in which the Permittee 
intends to plan, develop, consider, and implement a long-term solution to address flooding and 
related coastal hazards threats to the WWTP (including as these threats may be exacerbated by 
climate change) in a manner with the least amount of coastal resource impacts…  

 

 

239



The Plan shall at a minimum identify capital costs, long-term life-cycle cost analyses, wastewater 
rate effects, environmental analysis, land use analysis, and impacts to current water resources and 
water recycling activities for a range of alternatives, including adaptation in place, relocation of 
the WWTP away from coastal hazards, consolidation with Monterey One Water, and other 
potential alternatives.” 
 
This relocation alternatives study will develop conceptual designs for relocation of the 
WWTP to lower Carmel Valley and will also develop a novel alternative approach which 
would involve about 5 small “package plants” that could provide decentralized 
wastewater treatment in the CAWD service area.    
 
The current effort will develop conceptual details for these wastewater treatment 
relocation alternatives and will include architectural renderings of potential future 
facilities that can be used for public outreach. 
 
The current effort is just a start to what will be a decades long planning effort aimed at 
better positioning CAWD’s critical infrastructure for potential future climate change 
hazards. Many unforeseen challenges will emerge during the planning process, and a 
simple path to a solution is not clear at this time. Ongoing studies of alternatives will 
support CAWD in finding the best path forward. 
 
The proposal from Greeley and Hansen is attached. 
 
FUNDING 

     
The CAWD Operation & Maintenance Budget for Treatment and Disposal includes 
$300,000 in FY21/22 for engineering studies related to sea level rise planning (Acct 
5500.006). 
 
Attachment: 

1. Proposal – Greeley and Hansen 
 

240



WWTP 
RELOCATION 
ALTERNATIVES 
PLANNING 
ASSISTANCE 
March, 2022

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT

241



1

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R   D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

INTRODUCTION
Thank you for the opportunity to provide this proposal in response to your request for Greeley and Hansen to provide the Carmel 
Area Wastewater District (CAWD) with a Proposal to perform Consulting Engineering Services on an Alternatives Analysis  to 
relocate the Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) due to climate change and sea level rise. Based on our conversations with 
you, it is our understanding that the goal of this project is to develop plant relocation concepts for the CAWD WWTP. The 
benefits of this project will be development of concepts for the future, using the most advanced technologies to serve the local 
community and accomplish resources recovery (such as water, biosolids and energy).

BACKGROUND
The CAWD Wastewater Treatment Plant is a 3.0 million gallons per day (MGD) average annual permitted discharge flow facility 
that uses activated sludge for secondary treatment. The WWTP treats predominantly domestic wastewater. Current average dry 
weather flow (ADWF) is approximately 1.2 MGD which represents 40% of the permitted capacity. CAWD has an agreement with 
the Pebble Beach Community Services District (PBCSD) whereby PBCSD has access rights to one-third of the CAWD’s WWTP 
capacity. Of the 1.2 MGD ADWF, approximately 0.8 MGD (67%) is from CAWD and 0.4 MGD from PBCSD (33%).

Currently CAWD is preparing a WWTP long-term coastal hazards planning roadmap, which includes alternatives analysis of 
relocating the WWTP to address sea level rise for the next 40 years. The option to relocate the WWTP is the subject of this 
proposal.

The modeling presented by CAWD in the 2018 Sea Level Rise Study indicated that the worst-case estimate of the timeline for 
major impacts to WWTP operations could be 60 years in the future (around 2080). At that time the greatest effects would occur 
during extreme precipitation events that have a low probability of occurring in any given year. While the modeling indicates a 
timeline of 60-years before major impacts, to be conservative CAWD proposes a plan that will work towards achieving hazard 
mitigation in 40-years. CAWD proposed a three phase effort to plan and implement the ultimate solution as shown below. This is 
a simplified framework that will need to be re-evaluated at 5-year intervals based on new information as it arises from ongoing 
coastal hazards monitoring and/or planning efforts.

Planning for a major infrastructure project such as moving a wastewater treatment plant is a complex endeavor and feasibility is 
a subject for this project.

CAWD is considering options for continuing to provide wastewater treatment and recycled water to the constituents with facilities 
located within the immediate geographic area of the Carmel River watershed. This approach is an opportunity to develop next 
generation infrastructure local to the community. The proposed feasibility study will develop conceptual plans of new local 
WWTP treatment infrastructure alternatives for centralized and decentralized concepts. Furthermore,  CAWD intends to conduct 
ongoing Real Property Investigations to identify and potentially secure land for future development. Visual Aesthetics of new 
facilities for Public Outreach is important part of the study.

The vision is from Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) to Water Resource Recovery Facility (WRRF).

The proposed tasks to respond to CAWD’s inquiry are listed as follow.

242



2

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R   D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

PROPOSED SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Task 1 - Data Collection

Under this Task Greeley and Hansen will review existing Monthly Operating Report (MOR) data (or similar) for the existing WWTP 
and as-built information. WWTP data of interest includes influent flows and loads, existing permits, etc. A data request will be 
submitted by Greeley and Hansen to CAWD for this information. It is anticipated that the three most recent years of MOR data 
would be sufficient for modeling purposes. 

Key Deliverables:

• Data request letter (via email)
• Data review summary in PDF format

Schedule:

• Data request within 5 days of Notice to Proceed
• Data review summary within 3 weeks of receipt of available data

Task 2 – Centralized Wastewater Treatment Plant Conceptual Design

Task 2.1 – Conceptual Design of Proposed Wastewater and Treated Water Conveyance Systems 

This Task includes development of one alternative for the conceptual design of proposed wastewater and treated water 
conveyance systems for the new Centralized Wastewater Treatment Plant (described in Task 2.2). The major components of the 
wastewater conveyance system will include conceptual layout and sizing for major components:

• Pumping Station (located at the site of the current WWTP)
• Conveyance Piping between Pumping Station and New Water Resource Recovery Facility (WRRF) Location (site located at 

Carmel Valley Road and Canada Way)
• Wastewater Treatment Plant (further described in Task 2.2)
• Brine Discharge Piping/Outfall
• Connection Piping to existing Recycled Water Transmission Line

Key Deliverables:

• Draft and Final Technical Memorandum of Conceptual Design of Proposed Wastewater and Treated Water Conveyance in 
PDF format 

• Conceptual Pipe alignment maps with pipe sizes in PDF format 

Schedule:

• 4 weeks delivery of task

Task 2.2 – Conceptual Design of Centralized WRRF 

This Task includes the conceptual design and evaluation of a state-of-the-art centralized WRRF located at Carmel Valley Road and 
Canada Way. Two flow scenarios will be used to determine the appropriate sizing of WRRF: 

• CAWD + Pebble Beach Community Services District (PBCSD) Flows
 - 1.2 million gallons per day (MGD) Average Dry Weather Flow (ADWF)/3.6 MGD Average Wet Weather Flow (AWWF) 

243



3

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R   D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

(expandable to 1.5 MGD ADWF)
• CAWD Flow

 - 0.8 MGD ADWF/2.4 MGD AWWF (expandable to 1.1 MGD ADWF)

Under each flow scenario, it will be assumed that at least 90% of the water will be recycled for either irrigation at Pebble Beach 
Golf courses or potable reuse/river supply water (i.e., injection in the Carmel Valley Alluvial Aquifer). Brine discharge is 
anticipated to remain through CAWD’s existing outfall.  The major components of the conceptual design of a new Centralized 
WRRF will include at a minimum:

• Headworks
• Review/discussion of at least 2 different approaches for the primary and secondary biological treatment process and 

recommendation of the preferred process that will be used in the Conceptual Design. It is assumed that Membrane 
Bioreactor technology will be part of one of the 2 processes reviewed

• Tertiary Pretreatment and Reverse Osmosis treatment with at least 90% recovery
• Biosolids Treatment (digestion/dewatering) with methane capture renewable energy component (microturbines) and waste 

gas burner. Dewatered solids will be trucked to offsite disposal
• Advanced Disinfection treatment steps for Recycled Water Stream to achieve Potable Reuse standards
• Treatment of Ocean Effluent/Brine Waste Stream prior to disposal (disinfection step)
• Centralized Power Distribution Equipment and Standby Power Generator

One alternative (1) will be evaluated to manage biosolids as part of the processes. It will include centralized biosolids treatment 
process for the option of a centralized WRRFS’ approach. Currently, the CAWD WWTP uses a belt filter press or a screw press to 
dewater digested sludge. The dewatered sludge is hauled by truck to Kern County where it is used as a compost amendment for 
non-food crops.  It is assumed that the same sludge management concept applies to the plant. It will be evaluated Biosolids 
Treatment (digestion/dewatering) with methane capture renewable energy component (microturbines) and waste gas burner. 
Dewatered solids will be trucked to offsite disposal.

Conceptual design shall include buildings to house new treatment facilities as necessary to mitigate visual impacts and blend 
into the architectural style developed in Task 2.3., and will be reflected in the technical memorandum, including conceptual site 
plan and process flow diagram. 

Key Deliverables:

• Technical Memorandum of Conceptual Design of Centralized WRRF (including Task 2.1 Conveyance infrastructure). Total 
summary of concepts of conveyance and treatment shall be provided for conveyance and treatment infrastructure. (draft and 
final) in PDF format

• Conceptual Site Plan for the two (2) alternatives in PDF format
• Process Flow Diagrams for each of the two (2) alternatives in PDF format

Schedule:

• 6 weeks delivery of task

Task 2.3 – Centralized WRRF Architectural Approach and Renderings 

Visual impacts associated with a WRRF need to be mitigated by design of the facility to blend into the surrounding Carmel Valley 
community. Develop conceptual 3D architectural renderings to visualize the style and character of the new facilities. Buildings 
will have a barn style that melds modern and rustic stylistics elements, and landscape will resemble a ranch located in an oak 
woodland environment. The 3D architectural renderings will only be developed for the CAWD + Pebble Beach Community 
Services District (PBCSD) Flows

Key Deliverables:

• Technical Memorandum of WRRF Architectural Style, including three (3) Architectural 3D renderings in PDF format. 

244



4

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R   D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Schedule:

• 4 weeks delivery of task

Task 2.4 – Centralized WRRF Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (OPCC)

Conceptual level OPCC will be developed at a Class 4 level for system rehabilitation per the Association for the Advancement of 
Cost Engineering (AACE) International standard for the alternatives described in Task 2 and included in the respective Technical 
Memoranda (Tasks 2.1 through 2.3) and Report (Task 2.5). This class represents a “study or feasibility” maturity level and has an 
expected accuracy range of -15% to -30% and +20% to +50%.

Key Deliverables:

• Class 4 Level OPCCs for Each Conceptual Design Component in PDF format

Schedule:

• Provided with each Technical Memorandum and Report deliverable 

Task 2.5 –Conceptual Centralized WRRF Report

This task includes development of a Conceptual Centralized WRRF Report which summarizes the proposed wastewater and 
treated water conveyance systems; conceptual design of a Centralized WRRF; and Centralized WRRF architectural approach Tasks 
2.1 through 2.3). The Report shall include an Executive Summary that describes the report contents in a condensed section. 
Report shall be submitted to the County in electronic format. 

Key Deliverables:

• Report (including Executive Summary) of Centralized biosolids treatment approach evaluation in PDF format

Schedule:

• 3 weeks delivery of task

Task 3 – Decentralized Wastewater Treatment Plants Conceptual Design

Task 3.1 – Determine Sub-Basins within CAWD Collection System for Locations of Decentralized Facilities 

Review CAWD service area and develop a general sub basin delineation for multiple satellite treatment facilities with capacity of 
about 0.25 MGD ADWF. Approximately 5 sub basins within the District boundaries should be assumed generally as follows. 
CAWD will assist with GIS data on flow load in each basin:

• Carmel By the Sea
• Carmel Point
• Carmel Unincorporated South of Carmel River
• Rio Rd & Area East of Hwy 1
• Carmel Highlands

The CAWD will provide collection system maps that will highlight the areas above.

245



5

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R   D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Key Deliverables:

• Technical Memorandum of Conceptual Design of Proposed Collection System for Locations of Decentralized Facilities PDF 
format

• Map showing each sub basin selected and approximation of flows to be treated in each sub basin. Resizing of sub basin 
boundaries as necessary to keep flows within about 0.25 MGD in PDF format.

• Conceptual Diagram of the system in PDF format 

Schedule:

• 5 weeks delivery of task

Task 3.2 – Evaluation of Biosolids Treatment for Decentralized Approach

One (1) alternative will be evaluated to manage biosolids as part of the processes. It will include centralized biosolids treatment 
process for the option of a decentralized WRRFS’ approach. Currently, the CAWD WWTP uses a belt filter press or a screw press 
to dewater digested sludge. The dewatered sludge is hauled by truck to Kern County where it is used as a compost amendment 
for non-food crops.  It is assumed that the same sludge management concept applies to the plant. A centralized biosolids 
treatment facility at one of the satellite facilities to handle all the biosolids with evaluation of transport by either truck or 
pipelines will be considered.

 Key Deliverables:

• Technical Memorandum of Conceptual Design of decentralized biosolids treatment approach evaluation in PDF format

Schedule:

• 3 weeks delivery of task

Task 3.3 – Conceptual Design of Decentralized WRRFs

A satellite package treatment plant option consisting of multiple small treatment facilities will be evaluated during this task. One 
flow scenario will be used to determine the appropriate sizing and number of satellite package treatment plants: 

• CAWD Flow
 - 0.8 MGD ADWF/2.4 MGD AWWF

The size of each treatment plant is projected to be approximately 0.25 MGD dry weather flow and placed in multiple small 
locations about the Carmel Area. Each site is projected to be under one (1) acre in area. Specific locations of each decentralized 
plant will not be defined as part of this Task, however general sub-basins will be defined within the collection system that each 
individual satellite plant will serve (see Task 3.1).  As with the centralized WRRF options (Task 2), it will be assumed 90% recycle 
of water for either irrigation or potable reuse/river supply water (i.e., injection in the Carmel Valley Alluvial Aquifer). Brine 
discharge is anticipated remain through CAWD’s existing outfall. Components to include in the decentralized WRRF conceptual 
design includes:

• Conceptual overview of New Conveyance Pipelines needed for each location to connect to Brine Discharge Outfall, Recycled 
Water Transmission Piping, and Biosolids Conveyance Piping (if applicable)

• Small footprint MBR facility with 90% recycling capability
• Electrical equipment including Standby Power

Key Deliverables:

• Technical Memorandum of Conceptual Design of Decentralized WRRFs (draft and final) in PDF format. Total summary of 
concepts of conveyance and treatment (including preferred biosolids treatment approach determined in Task 3.2) shall be 

246



6

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R   D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

provided including costs for conveyance and treatment infrastructure in PDF format
• Process Flow Diagrams of decentralized treatment plant in PDF format
• 3 Architectural 3D renderings of decentralized packaged plant in PDF format

Schedule:

• 6 weeks delivery of task 

Task 3.4 – Decentralized WRRF Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (OPCC)

Conceptual level OPCC will be developed at a Class 4 level for system rehabilitation per the Association for the Advancement of 
Cost Engineering (AACE) International standard for the alternatives described in Task 3 and included in the respective Technical 
Memoranda (Tasks 3.1 through 3.3) and Report (Task 3.5). This class represents a “study or feasibility” maturity level and has an 
expected accuracy range of -15% to -30% and +20% to +50%.

Key Deliverables:

• Class 4 Level OPCCs for Each Conceptual Design Component in PDF format

Schedule:

• Provided with each Technical Memorandum and Report deliverable 

Task 3.5 –Conceptual Decentralized WRRFs Report

This task includes development of a Conceptual Decentralized WRRF Report which summarizes the sub-basins within the CAWD 
Collection System for locations of Decentralized Facilities; conceptual Biosolids Treatment for Decentralized Approach; and 
conceptual design of a Decentralized WRRF. The Report shall include an Executive Summary that describes the report contents in 
a condensed section. Report shall be submitted to the County in electronic format. 

Key Deliverables:

• Report (including Executive Summary) of Decentralized biosolids treatment approach evaluation in PDF format

Schedule:

• 3 weeks delivery of task

Task 4 – Project Management, Site Visits, Meetings, Workshops  

At the start of the evaluation, the Greeley and Hansen team will visit with the WPCP staff to discuss the project and anticipated 
outcomes and discuss the available information that is available.  At the conclusion of the project, a final workshop to discuss the 
findings and recommendations will be presented to CAWD staff. A total of six (8) in-person meetings are included in this scope of 
work. Project management tasks will include project management, monthly project invoicing and budget management

Key Deliverables:

• Agendas, Notes, Meeting/Workshop as per Schedule shown below
• Monthly invoices

CAWD’s Responsibility: 

• Attendance at meetings and workshops 

247



7

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Task Weeks

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27

Notice to Proceed

Task 1

Workshop 1 

Task 2.1

Task 2.2

Task 2.3

Task 2.4 

Task 2.5

Workshop 2

Task 3.1

Task 3.2

Task 3.3

Task 3.4

Task 3.5

Workshop 3

Task 4

Schedule:

  H

  H

  H

KEY:
 Kickoff Meeting 

 Workshop  H

248



C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R   D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

PROJECT TEAM

249



9

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R   D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

PROJECT MANAGER 

Val Frenkel, PhD, PE, DWRE 

QUALITY CONTROL 

Andrew Martin, PE, ENV SP 
Ricardo Perez, PE

CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT
Patrick Treanor, PE

ARCHITECT 

Paul Cooper, AIA, LEED AP - 
Principal
Justin Blinn AIA, LEED AP 
BD+C, LFA - Project Manager
Laudan Siahpolo - Architect 
Level III

BIOSOLIDS 

Jay Surti, PE

ELECTRICAL ENGINEER 

George Condes, PE
Norbert Viranyi, PE, LEED AP

LEAD ENGINEER

Ray David, PhD, PE 

PROJECT ENGINEER

Michelle Tran, EIT

TEAM MEMBER PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER REGISTRATION FIRM

Val Frenkel, PhD, PE, DWRE California, Michigan, New York Greeley and Hansen

Andrew Martin, PE, ENV SP Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Michigan, Mississippi, New Jersey, New York, 
Ohio, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Virginia and Wisconsin

Greeley and Hansen

Ricardo Perez, PE California, Nevada, Indiana Greeley and Hansen

Ray David, PhD, PE Illinois, New York, Texas, and Oklahoma Greeley and Hansen

Jay Surti, PE New Jersey Greeley and Hansen

George Condes, PE Illinois Greeley and Hansen

Norbert Viranyi, PE, LEED AP California, Indiana, Arizona, Florida, Illinois, Maryland, Michigan, Nevada, 
New York, Ohio, Oklahoma, Virginia, Wisconsin, and District of Columbia

Greeley and Hansen

Michelle Tran, EIT Engineer-in-Training:  Arizona Greeley and Hansen

Paul Cooper, AIA, LEED AP Licensed Architect No. C28490; Issuer: California Board of Architects TEF Architecture & 
Interior Design

Justin Blinn AIA, LEED AP 
BD+C, LFA

Licensed Architect No. 036920; Issuer: NY Board of Architects TEF Architecture & 
Interior Design

Laudan Siahpolo Licensed Architect No. C 37372; Issuer: California Board of Architects TEF Architecture & 
Interior Design

250



10

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:Firm: Greeley and Hansen

Years of 
Experience:

44

Education:  - Ph.D. Water and Ecology Science, Lviv 
Polytechnic University, 1983

 - M.Sc. Civil Engineering, Water and 
Wastewater, Lviv Polytechnic University, 
1978

Professional 
Registrations:

Professional Engineer:  California, Michigan, 
New York
Professional Engineer (P.Eng.): Ontario, 
Canada
Diplomate, Water Resource Engineering 
(D.WRE)
Fellow WEF
Fellow IWA
Fellow ASCE/EWRI
IDA Outstanding Professional in Water 
Reuse 2018

Professional 
Experience:

Dr. Val Frenkel is a well-recognized 
expert with 44 years of experience and 
a proven record of building from the 
ground up for various markets including 
water, wastewater, water reuse, salinity 
management, desalination, and membrane 
technologies. Dr. Frenkel has a successful 
record of applying technological approaches 
to provide project cost savings, often via 
development of new technologies and 
applications used worldwide for treating 
water and wastewater. He also serves as 
overall project manager responsible for the 
delivery of complete treatment systems 
including coordination of permitting and 
ancillary design disciplines. Dr. Frenkel’s 
expertise includes all aspects of water/
wastewater business including, but not 
limited to: business development, program 
and project management, process design 
based on conventional and advanced 
technologies; membrane-based processes 
including MF, UF, NF, RO, ED, EDR, EDI, 
and MBR; potable water and wastewater 
treatment; water reuse; desalination; 
and salt management for industrial and 
municipal applications, food, power, 
semiconductor, oil and gas industries. 

Val Frenkel, PhD, PE, DWRE 
Project Manager

Program Manager for the Design of a Submerged 
Membrane Bioreactor for the City of Lathrop, CA. 
Design of submerged membrane bioreactor up to capacity 2.5 
MGD and expansion up to 9.0 MGD. Process design, BNR and 
MBR design, and equipment selection

Project Manager for the Advanced Water Treatment System 
Evaluation for a Major National Dairy Processing Plant, CA. 
The proposed advanced water treatment system is based on 
the previous recommendations to condition source well water 
supplied to the plant, which is rich with calcium, chloride 
bicarbonate and silica. The tasks include detailed process and 
technological design; selection of equipment, pumps, and 
energy recovery devices; development of reverse osmosis 
specifications; and development of design documents.

Project Manager for the Development and Validation of 
Water Pollution Control Plant Process Model for the 
Carmel Area Wastewater District, Carmel-by-the-Sea, 
CA. 
The Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) Water 
Pollution Control Plant (WPCP) is a 3.0 million gallons per day 
(MGD) average annual permitted discharge flow facility that 
uses activated sludge for secondary treatment. Greeley and 
Hansen will utilize the CAWD WPCP’s data for model 
development. Existing Monthly Operating Report (MOR) data 
(or similar) for the WPCP and as-built information will be the 
basis for the preliminary data analysis. WPCP data of interest 
includes influent flows and loads, as well as operating data 
such as mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) concentration, 
return activated sludge (RAS) concentration and flow rate, 
and other parameters as requested. It is anticipated that 
three years of MOR data would be sufficient for modeling 
purposes. The data collected from the MORs will be plotted, 
categorized into dry weather and wet weather data, and 
subsequently analyzed. A process model (BioWin) was used 
to model the WPCP and run seasonal simulations (four 
simulations total) of the WPCP. Analyses may include, but are 
not limited to oxygen uptake rates, growth rates, and decay 
rates. The data collected from a sampling program will allow 
the model to be refined, calibrated, and validated based on 
the actual plant specific parameters.

Technical Advisor for the Morris Forman Water Quality 
Treatment Center (MFWQTC) Primary Sedimentation 
Basin Technology Evaluation and Design for Louisville 
and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District, KY.

251



C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

11

Val Frenkel, PhD, PE, DWRE 
Project Manager

The Morris Forman Water Quality Treatment Center 
(MFWQTC) Primary Sedimentation Basins (primary clarifiers) 
were constructed in 1958 and were rehabilitated in the 1970s 
when secondary treatment was added to the facility. The 
equipment in the clarifiers has exceeded the anticipated 
service life and performance is unreliable. The peak wet 
weather capacity of MFWQCT is 350 MGD. The 2012 
Integrated Overflow and Abatement Plan (IOAP) increased 
retention of wet weather flows in the collection system which 
will result in longer sustained peak flows to the clarifiers. The 
IOAP was developed utilizing a sustained peak capacity of 
330 MGD through the clarifiers. The MFWQTC Primary 
Sedimentation Basin Rehabilitation Project includes the 
design of the following components influent aerated channel, 
new bypass channel and blower room; primary sedimentation 
basins; north and south pump station equipment; chemically 
enhanced primary clarification (CEPT); and odor controls. Dr. 
Frenkel served as technical advisor and supported the design 
of the CEPT system (including creating jar testing protocol) 
and optimization of the existing biological odor control units 
for the purposes of treating air from the primary 
sedimentation basins and other nearby odorous areas.

Design Lead and Process Engineer for the Membrane 
Bioreactor (MBR) Design for the City of Santa Paula 
Ventura County, CA. 
Design Lead and Process Engineer for the design of a 4.2 
MGD submerged membrane bioreactor recycled water 
treatment and distribution system. Process design, BNR and 
MBR design, and equipment selection.

Process Engineer for the Membrane Bioreactor (MBR) 
Design for the City of Fillmore, Ventura County, CA. 
Process Engineer for the design of a submerged MBR based 
on GE Water - ZENON hollow-fiber membranes, plus recycled 
water treatment and distribution systems. Process design, 
BNR and MBR design, equipment selection, start-up, and 
commissioning.

Process Engineer for the Crescent City Membrane 
Bioreactor (MBR) Design, Crescent City, CA. 
Process Engineer for the design of submerged MBR based on 
SIEMENS hollow-fiber membranes, plus recycled water 
treatment and distribution systems. Start-up and 
commissioning.

Process Engineer for the Membrane Bioreactor (MBR) 
Design for the City of Lake of the Pines, CA. 
Process Engineer for the design of submerged MBR based on 
KUBOTA flat-plate membranes, including recycled water 

treatment and distribution systems. Process design, BNR and 
MBR design, and equipment selection, start-up and 
commissioning.

Process Engineer for the Membrane Bioreactor (MBR) 
Design for the City of Coburg, OR. 
Process Engineer for the design of submerged MBR based on 
SIEMENS hollow-fiber membranes, along with recycled water 
treatment and distribution systems. Process design, BNR and 
MBR design, and equipment selection.

Process Engineer for the Membrane Bioreactor (MBR) 
Design, City of La Center, WA. 
Process Engineer for the design of submerged membrane 
bioreactor and recycled water treatment and distribution 
systems. Process design, BNR and MBR design, and 
equipment selection. 

Process/Project Engineer for the Membrane Bioreactor 
(MBR) and Reverse Osmosis (RO) Pilot Study and 
Conceptual Project Design for a Confidential Food 
Processor Client Tracy, CA. 
Dr. Frenkel served as the Process/Project Engineer for the 
pilot study and conceptual design of a 0.2-MGD capacity MBR 
and RO systems to treat olive production waste streams, 
creating an effluent suitable for recycling and reuse. He 
developed a flexible model to optimize and reduce the size of 
the treatment system, and evaluated and established design 
parameters for the MBR and RO systems.

Process Engineer for the Membrane Bio-reactor (MBR) 
Design, City of Arlington, WA. 
Dr. Frenkel served as the Process Engineer for the design of 
submerged MBR based on KUBOTA flat-plate membranes, 
plus recycled water treatment and distribution systems. 
Process design, BNR and MBR design, equipment selection, 
and start-up and commissioning.

Principal Project Manager and Technology and 
Process Lead Engineer for Ashghal IDRIS Terminal 
Pumping Station and Sewage Treatment Works for the 
City of Doha, State of Qatar.
The advanced membrane technologies had a capacity of 130 
MGD and an expansion of up to 260 MGD. Responsibilities 
included program management, project management and 
process design.

252



12

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:Firm: Greeley and Hansen

Years of 
Experience:

23

Education:  - B.S. Civil Engineering, University of 
Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 1998

Professional 
Registrations:

Professional Engineer: Illinois, Indiana, 
Kentucky, Michigan, Mississippi, New 
Jersey, New York, Ohio, Oklahoma, 
South Carolina, Virginia and Wisconsin

Envision™ Sustainability Professional 
(ENV SP)

National Council of Examiners for 
Engineering and Surveying (NCEES) 
Record 

Professional 
Experience:

Mr. Andrew Martin has over 23 
years of experience managing multi-
disciplinary teams in the study, pilot 
testing, design, and construction for 
complex multi-million dollar water and 
wastewater projects and multi-billion 
dollar programs that rehabilitate and 
optimize infrastructure and facilities.  
He has been involved as Project 
Director and Engineer providing 
the following services associated 
with distribution systems, collection 
system, stormwater management, 
water treatment, and wastewater 
treatment plant improvement projects: 
conditions assessments, master 
planning, strategic planning, detailed 
hydraulics, preliminary and final design, 
construction sequencing and phasing, 
green infrastructure, pilot testing, 
preparation of opinions of probable 
construction cost, design review 
workshops, risk mitigation, permitting, 
and office services during construction. 
Mr. Martin is a Greeley and Hansen 
Principal and serves as the firm’s 
Technical Services & Innovation Center 
Managing Director.

Andrew Martin, PE, ENV SP 
Quality Control

Quality Manager for the Bay Park Conveyance Project, 
Nassau County, NY. 
The Nassau County Department of Public Works (NCDPW) 
and the New York State Department of Environmental 
Conservation (NYSDEC) is implementing the Bay Park 
Conveyance Project to improve water quality and storm 
resiliency in Long Island’s Western Bays by conveying highly 
treated wastewater effluent from the South Shore Water 
Reclamation Facility located in Nassau County, New York to 
the Cedar Creek Water Pollution Control Plant for ultimate 
discharge miles offshore through an ocean outfall pipe. 
Greeley and Hansen is engaged as part of a design-build 
team lead by Western Bay Constructors. The design-build 
project is being designed, constructed and commissioned in a 
four-year schedule and includes the design of a new 75 MGD 
effluent diversion pumping station; a 14-mile conveyance 
system consisting of two new 72-inch microtunnels and a 
60-inch slip lined repurposed aqueduct; a new receiving tank; 
replacement of effluent pumps at the Cedar Creek Water 
Pollution Control Plant, and an existing ocean outfall. Mr. 
Martin’s responsibilities included quality management 
reviews and technical guidance and support to the 
preparation of Contract Documents. The Project will be 
completed in fall of 2024 with a forecasted cost of $500 
million.

Program Director for the Great Water Alliance 
Program, Waukesha Water Utility, WI. 
The Waukesha Water Utility (WWU) Great Water Alliance 
(Program) is an historic program to transition from 
groundwater wells to a surface water supply for the City of 
Waukesha, which is home to more than 71,000 residents. The 
St. Peter Sandstone aquifer, which has been the primary 
source of drinking water for not only Waukesha, but for 
communities throughout the Midwest, is being depleted in 
Southeast Wisconsin. Depletion of the St. Peter Sandstone 
aquifer has caused radium and other contaminants to become 
more concentrated. As a result, Waukesha needs a long-term, 
sustainable alternative to its existing water supply to protect 
public health and support future growth.  The Great Lakes 
Compact Council unanimously approved Waukesha’s 
application to source water from Lake Michigan. WWU 
subsequently commissioned Greeley and Hansen and their 
team of consultants to implement the Program to transition 
Waukesha’s water supply from groundwater to Lake Michigan 
water. The purpose of the Program is to plan, design, and 
construct infrastructure with a 100-year useful life necessary 

253



C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

13

Andrew Martin, PE, ENV SP 
Quality Control

to transition Waukesha’s water supply. The Program is the 
first of its kind to access Great Lakes water through the Great 
Lakes Compact. Successful implementation of the Program 
will set industry precedence for solving water quality and 
water scarcity challenges for at-risk water supplies in other 
Great Lakes communities.  As part of the Program, 
approximately 13 miles of transmission main (referred to as 
the “Water Supply Pipeline”) with pumping facilities, storage, 
and chemical treatment will deliver potable water to 
Waukesha from a connection to a water system supplied with 
Lake Michigan water. Approximately 13 miles of pressure 
main (referred to as the “Return Flow Pipeline”) with pumping 
facilities located at Waukesha’s Clean Water Plant (CWP) are 
required to achieve a net zero water balance in the Great 
Lakes–St. Lawrence River Basin by discharging highly treated 
effluent to the Root River, which ultimately discharges into 
Lake Michigan.  As Program Director, Mr. Martin’s 
responsibilities included strategic and technical guidance, 
managing quality of deliverables and contract documents, 
financing and funding support, supporting the successful 
securing of over 80 permits, and overseeing the Program 
schedule and individual elements to meet multiple consent 
decree milestones.

The Program is currently in construction and approximately 
50% complete.  In addition to Program responsibilities, office 
services during construction are being provided and include 
overall project management and coordination for five contract 
packages, coordination between WWU, Construction 
Manager, and contractors, review of submittals, preparation 
of RFI responses, and development of as needed RFQs, 
supplemental drawings, and change orders. 

Project Manager for the Consent Decree Negotiation 
and Regulatory Assistance Project, Greater Peoria 
Sanitary and Sewage Disposal District, Peoria, IL.  
Project Manager for negotiations related to the consent 
decree proposed to address the GPSD’s wet weather control 
program improvement program.  The project includes 
negotiation of CD and permitting issues with USEPA (Region 
5 and headquarters) and Illinois EPA.  The negotiation 
program includes coordination of technical evaluations of the 
District’s collection system, remote wet weather treatment 
facilities, and wastewater treatment facility (60 MGD 
secondary treatment capacity and 94 MGD wet weather 
treatment capacity).  The negotiations address the District’s 
compliance with state and federal CSO control program 

requirements and the modifications needed to incorporate the 
final requirements into the Districts NPDES permit.  Other 
project tasks included wastewater treatment plant flow 
maximization, future process/nutrient control needs, financial 
assessment and affordability analysis, and incorporation of 
sustainable design elements.

Project Engineer for the Regional Optimization Master 
Plan (ROMP) for Pima County, AZ.  
The program included review of existing county-wide 
infrastructure facilities and systems, review of future 
regulatory requirements, development of wastewater 
technology alternatives for meeting future needs, and 
preparation of the 25-year master plan. The County 
wastewater service area covers nearly 500 square miles and 
includes two major and nine subregional treatment facilities. 
The major facilities require upgrades to meet the future 
regulations, and the subregional facilities need to be 
expanded to meet rapid growth. The capital improvement 
program (CIP) costs were forecast to be over $500 million in 
2006 construction costs.

254



14

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:Firm: Greeley and Hansen

Years of 
Experience:

20

Education:  - B.S. Civil Engineering, California 
Polytechnic University, 2012

Professional 
Registrations:

Professional Engineer: California, 
Nevada, Indiana

Professional 
Experience:

Mr. Ricardo Perez is a Civil Engineer and 
Project Manager at Greeley and Hansen 
with over 20 years of experience in the 
planning, design, and construction of 
water, wastewater and stormwater 
infrastructure. His experience 
includes planning and design of water 
distribution and transmission mains, 
sewer collection systems including 
local collection systems, large trunk 
sewers, force mains, and brine waste 
disposal pipelines. Mr. Perez also 
has experience with assistance in 
the design of well sites and booster 
stations, subsurface utility engineering, 
rough grading and fine grading design, 
wet weather water collection systems 
including channel and water storage 
facilities, recreational facility design 
of public parks, sport complexes, and 
bicycle trails adjacent to storm water 
facilities. Ricardo has also contributed 
to services for hydraulic modeling, 
preparation of cost opinions, alternative 
analyses, life-cycle cost assessments, 
and providing engineering services 
during construction. In addition, he 
has assisted the City of Ontario and 
Jurupa Community Services District 
(both in California) in developing and 
updating their standards for water and 
wastewater applications. 

Ricardo Perez, PE
Quality Control

Project Engineer for the Verrado Z5S Booster Station 
for EPCOR Water, Buckhead, AZ. 
An increase in growth and development in the Verrado 
community of Buckeye, Arizona prompted EPCOR Water to 
initiate the development of a new Booster Pump Station (BPS) 
to provide water services to two new pressure zones. This 
project was for the development of the Zone 5 S Booster 
Station (Z5S BPS). The new Z5S BPS was designed for a peak 
flow of 560 gpm. The new booster station included the design 
of a brand-new site for the booster station, hydropneumatic 
tank, sodium hypochlorite on-site generation system, standby 
generator, new building for process and electrical equipment, 
and tying into the existing Zone 4 BPS. Mr. Perez provided 
design for the civil and site layout for the project and 
provided support in the process and mechanical design as 
well.

Project Manager for the Geist Water Treatment Plant 
Storage Tank Expansion Project for Citizens Energy 
Group, Indianapolis, IN. 
The Geist Water Treatment Plant had existing 0.78 MG of 
clean water storage. The Geist area, an area North of 
Indianapolis, is expected to continue growing in the near and 
distant future. Citizens Energy Group estimates a total of 2 
MG gallons of clean water storage will be required in the 
future. As a part of this project an additional 1MG storage 
tank was designed and built to supplement the existing 
on-site storage. The tank is a clear well type, rectangular 
concrete tank built into the hillside to reduce visibility from 
neighbors of the area. The design of the new tank included 
supply mains, drain lines, level sensor, new electronic slide 
gate, new security camera and flexibility to isolate the new 
tank from the existing system for future maintenance and 
expansion.

Project Manager for the Merom and Mecca 
Comprehensive Planning Studies for Indiana American 
Water, IN. 
Indiana American Water (INAW) provides approximately 110 
million gallons per day (MGD) of high-quality, affordable 
water to nearly 300,000 customers in twenty-eight operating 
districts throughout Indiana. INAW has expressed its need for 
a Comprehensive Planning Study (CPS) for their Merom and 
Mecca districts with the goal of completing the CPS on a 
15-year cycle. Both systems were acquired by INAW within 
the last ten years and currently do not have an existing CPS. 
The purpose of this CPS is to develop a fiscally sustainable 

255



C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

15

Ricardo Perez, PE
Quality Control

water management plan for each district to support and 
justify capital investments needed for rate adjustments to be 
approved by the Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission (IURC). 
The CPS were developed with the assistance from INAW. The 
Merom district has an average production of 20,000 GPD and 
obtains its water supply from 2 wells both sourced from a 
single well field. The system has a single elevated storage 
tank and an IDEM groundwater assessment has determined 
that the groundwater is highly susceptible to contamination. 
The Mecca district has an average production of 80,000 GPD 
and obtains its water supply from 2 wells both sourced from a 
single well field. The system has a single elevated storage 
tank and an IDEM groundwater assessment has determined 
that the groundwater is highly susceptible to contamination.

Key Aspects that were included in the CPS documents:

• Develop customer and demand forecasts for each 
customer category for the target years of 2023, 2028, 
2033. 

• Develop a calibrated distribution system hydraulic model 
for current year and future target years 2023 and 2033.

• Assess the adequacy of sources of supply, treatment 
facilities, and distribution system piping, distributive 
pumping, and distribution system storage capacity in 
their ability to meet current and projected demands and 
to provide adequate levels of service and reliability.

• Assess the adequacy of the treatment facilities in 
meeting current and proposed primary and secondary 
drinking water quality regulations, and American Water 
system water quality goals.

• Identify system hydraulic deficiencies based on pressure 
and fire flow guidelines. 

• Development of a prioritized list of supply, treatment, 
pumping and distribution system capital Improvements.

• Development of a prioritized list of operational changes, 
where applicable, that could defer or eliminate the need 
for capital improvements.

• Development of recommended capital improvement 
projects to address system deficiencies.

Project Manager for the Aqueduct Intake Screen 
Immediate Improvements Study Phase and Final Design 
Phase for Citizens Energy Group, IN. 
The Fall Creek Intake serves as an emergency water supply 
for Citizen’s White River Treatment Plant. The project 
consisted of developing alternative low maintenance design 

options and cost opinions for the replacement of the existing 
40 MGD Coanda Screens that were not functioning as 
designed and were being limited due to sediment 
accumulation and algae growth. Mr. Perez worked closely 
with Citizens Energy Group and coordinated with 
subconsultants, the project team, and IDEM to evaluate the 
conditions of the existing intake screen of the Fall Creek 
Intake and provided a technical memorandum as a part of the 
study phase with recommendations for optimizing the existing 
intake system. In the design phase Mr. Perez used the 
recommendations from the technical memorandum to develop 
construction drawings for modifying the existing intake. 
Challenges included incorporating the existing infrastructure 
to the final design; developing hydraulic calculations for each 
alternative to assure that the required flow of 40 MGD could 
be provided to the treatment plant; developing a unique 
design that took advantage of the existing Coanda Screen 
framework and working with IDEM to review and revise 
permitting for construction.

Project Manager for the 9th Street Storm Water Pump 
Station for Lafayette Renew in the City of Lafayette. 
As a part of the ongoing clean water efforts and storm water 
management, Lafayette Renew implemented storm water 
improvement projects at two locations to address street 
flooding and improve drainage in the project areas. Storm 
water from the two projects is collected and conveyed to the 
new 4 MGD Pump Station. The Pump Station will deliver 
storm water previously carried by the City’s combined sewer 
system, to reduce wet weather CSO discharge to the Wabash 
River. The Pump Station also serves as a community amenity 
by providing green space with passive educational activities 
focused on water and the environment. Key aspects of the 
project included design of the 4 MGD pump station, 
optimizing use of an existing 108-inch sewer pipe to maximize 
storage volume and provide overflow during high level storms, 
design of approximately 4,000 feet of gravity storm sewer, 
and design of 400 feet of storm water force main. 
Coordination with the Certificate of Appropriateness 
Committee, Historic Preservation Commission, and the 9th 
Street Hill Neighborhood Association was a critical element 
of the project to assure that the pump station provided an 
education and beneficial element to the neighborhood. 

256



16

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:Firm: Greeley and Hansen

Years of 
Experience:

15

Education:  - Ph.D. Civil and Environmental 
Engineering, Virginia Tech, 2016

 - M.S. Civil Engineering, Purdue 
University, 2010

 - B.S. Civil Engineering, Purdue 
University, 2007

Professional 
Registrations:

Professional Engineer:  Illinois, New 
York, Texas, and Oklahoma

Professional 
Experience:

Dr. Ray David is an Associate of 
Greeley and Hansen wit over 15 
years of experience in the design and 
construction wastewater engineering. 
His time at Greeley and Hansen 
includes planning, evaluation, design, 
and construction services of headworks 
facilities, odor control systems, air 
quality improvements, and solids 
handling system. His experience 
includes sludge handling and sludge 
disposal. He has serves as project 
manager on master planning projects 
which include evaluation of biosolids 
management programs and alternatives 
to evolve those programs, including 
centralized treatment strategies. His 
experience includes sludge processes 
such as digestions and composting. 
He serves as the odor control and 
air quality lead in Greeley and 
Hansen’s Process Engineering Group. 
His experience with air quality and 
odor control includes both academic 
research while obtaining his PhD on the 
topic as well as practical applications. 
He has planned and designed numerous 
air quality and odor control system 
from biological systems to chemical 
amendment systems to carbon 
columns. 

Ray David, PhD, PE
Lead Engineer

Project Manager for the San Francisco Flood Resilience 
Programmatic Strategies for the San Francisco Public 
Utilities Commission, San Francisco, CA. 
The purpose of the study is to engage stakeholders within the 
City to determine potential additional programmatic 
strategies for flood resilience. Specifically, the utilization of 
property modifications and other related programs that 
provide alternatives for private property owners was 
considered. Key decisions and development of consensus 
was determined through a facilitated workshop process. As 
these and additional programmatic strategies are developed, 
the following long-term challenges facing the San Francisco 
area will be considered: the effects of climate change and 
new storm patterns as it relates to precipitation intensity and 
duration; reasonable expectations of the public regarding 
flooding; and the highest return on investment for 
expenditures. Dr. David worked on and participated in the 
various study workshops and meetings, identified 
floodproofing technologies and modifications applicable for 
the City and County of San Francisco, assisted in the 
development of an Implementation Plan to achieve the goals 
identified during the workshops, and developed new and 
updated documentation for related programs.

Project Engineer for the Advanced Water Treatment 
System Evaluation for a Major National Dairy 
Processing Plant, CA. 
This Major National Dairy Company is a leading producer of 
wholesale dairy products that has been committed to 
sustainability. This pledge towards innovation and 
sustainability has resulted in the construction of state-of-the-
art production facilities. The proposed advanced water 
treatment system is based on the previous recommendations 
to condition source well water supplied to the plant, which is 
rich with calcium, chloride bicarbonate and silica. High 
concentrations of calcium hardness and silica in the source 
water require excessive use of the chemicals for production 
processes at the plant, excessive use of chemicals and water 
for CIP cleanings. At the same time excessive calcium and 
hardness in source water are carried over through the plant 
ending up in the industrial wastewater requiring intensive 
chemicals use, intensive cleanings of the treatment 
equipment and generating challenges with waste and 
produced brine (high strength salt) disposals. The tasks 
include detailed process and technological design; selection 
of equipment, pumps, and energy recovery devices; 
development of reverse osmosis specifications; and 
development of design documents. 

257



C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

17

Ray David, PhD, PE
Lead Engineer

Technical Advisor for the 30th and Sutherland Odor 
Control Study for Citizen Energy Group, Indianapolis, IN. 
The area near 30th Street and Sutherland Avenue has 
documented complaints of odors emerging from the collection 
system. This study will sample and quantify the level and 
location of these odors and develop alternatives to address 
these complaints. The project includes performing a hydraulic 
evaluation of the collection system, conducting a field 
investigation to sample odorous gas in the collection system, 
reviewing data, identifying and conducting an alternative 
analysis, and creating a technical memorandum. Tasks 
included participation in progress meetings and workshop, 
development of a sampling plan, reviewing data, and 
evaluating alternatives. 

Deputy Project Manager for the Department of Public 
Utilities Water and Sewer Facilities Plan Update 
Project, County of Henrico, VA. 
The County’s current Water and Sewer Facilities Plan was 
completed in 2007 and updated in 2011 to include the 
Innsbrook Small Area Plan. The County desires to update the 
current Water and Sewer Facilities Plan which will require 
evaluating the adequacy of existing water and wastewater 
systems, projecting future demands for residential and 
economic development, developing a prioritized facilities 
improvement plan to meet the County’s needs through the 
year 2050, and include recommendations for long-term 
system concepts through build-out. The updated Water and 
Sewer Facilities Plan (the “Updated Facilities Plan”) will 
reflect current facility requirements and will incorporate land 
use changes proposed in the 2040 Comprehensive Plan, 
which is an update to the County’s Planning Department 2026 
Comprehensive Plan. When it is completed, the Updated 
Facilities Plan will be added as an element of the 2040 
Comprehensive Plan. The Updated Facilities Plan will be the 
principal planning document for future improvements to the 
County’s water and wastewater system. The Updated 
Facilities Plan will be used to define DPU’s 10-year Capital 
Improvement Plan and to document the plan for development 
of the water and wastewater facilities needed to 
accommodate projected growth within the County and certain 
areas of Hanover and Goochland Counties. The major project 
tasks to update the Public Utilities Water and Sewer Facilities 
Plan include the tasks: Data Collection and Compilation 
(Water and Sewer Facilities Plan Report and related technical 
memoranda; Water sales data; Water and Sewer System 
Flow Data; Rainfall Data at Sewage Pumping Stations; 
County’s Geographic Information System (GIS) Mapping; 
Existing and Projected Future Land Use Data; Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP); and Project Data Management 

System); Population and Customer Projections (Existing land 
use development, customer, and population projections); 
Water Facilities Planning (Evaluate Existing Water Use; 
Update Unit Water Demand Rates; Update Existing Water 
Model; Develop Existing Demand Distribution; Water Model 
Operational Verification; Field Tests based on model 
verification; Develop Water System Planning Criteria; Develop 
Water Demand Projections; Evaluate Hydraulic Model of 
Water System; Evaluate Water System Improvement; 
Evaluate Facility Improvements Phasing; Develop Water 
Storage Tank Maintenance Program; Update Pressure Contour 
Layers; Develop Hydraulic Model Maintenance Plan); Sewer 
Facilities Planning (Evaluate Existing Wastewater Flow; 
Evaluate Sewer System Renewal Needs; Update Wet 
Weather Peak Flow Planning Criteria; Sewer Rainfall Derived 
Infiltration and Inflow (RDII) Volumes and Sewer Modeling; 
Identify Potential Redevelopment Areas and Expected 
Development Density Level; Develop Updated Sewer Model; 
Develop Wastewater Flow Projections; Calibrate Sewer 
Model; Run Preliminary Sewer Model; Run Final Sewer 
Model; Conduct Sewer Modeling Studies; Evaluate Sewer 
System Improvement; Evaluate Facility Improvement Phasing; 
Final 2030, 2040, 2050, and Build-Out Sewer Models); CIP 
Project Descriptions (Develop Technical Description for CIP 
projects); Cost Estimates (Develop Planning-Level 
Construction and Total Project Cost Estimate); Projected 
Capital Improvement Schedule (Develop Projected Schedule); 
Comprehensive Plan Coordination (Meet with County Planning 
Staff; Evaluate Water and Sewer Utility Impacts; Develop 
Technical Memoranda; Develop Water and Sewer 
Descriptions and Future Improvement Needs); Water and 
Sewer Model User Guide and Training (Develop Water and 
Sewer User Guides and Provide training in Water and Sewer 
Models); Treatment Facility Capacity Analysis (Conduct 
Current Facility Plans Review); Technical Memoranda (Studies 
Conducted); Reports (Water and Sewer Facilities Planning 
Studies Results); Project Meetings and Workshops (Develop 
Project Plan, Schedule, Workshops, Progress Meetings, and 
Coordination with County Staff); and Regulatory Assistance 
(Approval from Virginia Department of Health (VDH) and 
Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ)). Tasks included 
leading development of sewer model evaluation, population 
projections, storm size study, RDII evaluation, and CIP 
development. Dr. David managed project budget and schedule 
of the project, managed the project team, and managed 
subconsultant.

258



18

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:Firm: Greeley and Hansen

Years of 
Experience:

19

Education:  - M.E. Environmental Engineering, 
Stevens Institute of Technology, 
2008

 - B.E. Environmental Engineering, 
Stevens Institute of Technology, 
2003

Professional 
Registrations:

Professional Engineer: New Jersey

Professional 
Experience:

Mr. Jay Surti is a seasoned leader 
with more than 19 years of experience 
in project management, facility 
and master planning, and detailed 
design and construction for a 
wide range of complex water and 
wastewater projects, with specific 
expertise in biosolids handling and 
treatment systems. Mr. Surti has 
provided wastewater and residuals 
centric technical services that 
optimize existing operations and 
spearhead capital improvements to 
help achieve operational efficiency 
and realize reduction in electricity 
and chemicals consumption for 
numerous clients. Mr. Surti serves 
as Greeley and Hansen’s Global 
Biosolids Practice Leader, using his 
in-depth expertise to develop regional 
biosolids management solutions for 
large wastewater treatment plants, 
improvements related to thickening 
and dewatering processes, solids 
stabilization processes, management of 
FOG and HSW including co-digestion, 
bioenergy recovery systems, thermal 
processes and biosolids end use. He is 
an expert on EPA Part 503 regulations 
and emerging issues (e.g., PFAS), that 
could potentially impact biosolids 
management approaches nationally.

Jay Surti, PE 
Biosolids

Technical Advisor for North WPCF Dewatering 
Expansion for Ocean County Utilities Authority, Ocean 
County, NJ.  Assisting OCUA implement dewatering 
improvements at the North WPCF to meet processing 
capacity. Dewatered cake produced by the North WPCF is 
imported to the Central WPCF and dried in a centralized 
drying facility to produce Class A biosolids pellets. Class A 
biosolids are beneficially utilized for land application.

Technical Advisor, Biogas Storage Facilities, Newtown 
Creek Water Pollution Control Plant, New York City 
Department of Environmental Protection, New York 
City, NY. 
Provide technical direction and QA/QC for the design of a 
new membrane gas storage system at the Newtown Creek 
Water Pollution Control Plant. Evaluate gas storage 
requirements based on existing and future biogas production, 
taking into consideration expansion of food waste co-
digestion, a renewable natural gas (RNG) production facility 
and use of biogas in boilers to produce heat for digester 
heating.

Project Director, Homestead Wastewater Treatment 
Plant Improvements, New Jersey American Water, 
Columbus, NJ.
Serve as a Project Director and provide technical direction for 
improvements to the Homestead Wastewater Treatment 
Plant. Lead an alternatives evaluation to achieve permit 
compliance for ammonia during cold weather conditions. 
Design improvements include breakpoint chlorination, 
upgrade of chemical storage and feed facilities, pump station 
upgrades, and process monitoring and control upgrades.

Project Manager for the Biosolids Program Capital 
Improvements Plan, Department of Public Work, 
Westchester County, NY. 
Developed a Capital Improvements Plan of solids processing 
improvements to the Peekskill WWTP and Yonkers WWTP. 
Assisted the County develop a plan to achieve its goal for 
reducing solids/sludge transportation costs, optimize 
inter-WWTP transfer by semi-regionalizing the County’s solids 
processing operations and advance its goal to produce Class 
A biosolids. Planning level evaluation of a new dewatering 
system at the Peekskill WWTP to reduce transportation 
costs.*

259



C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

19

Jay Surti, PE 
Biosolids

Project Engineer for the Piscataway 30 MGD WWTP 
Bio-Energy Project, Washington Suburban Sanitary 
Commission, Accokeek, MD.  
Complete design for a new biogas storage facility, dewatered 
cake pumping system and utility water pump station upgrades. 
Class A (thermally hydrolysis followed by mesophilic anaerobic 
digestion) dewatered biosolids produced by belt filter presses.*

Project Engineer for the 100+ MGD Central Treatment 
Plant, Middlesex County Utilities Authority, NJ.  
Professional engineering advisory services to evaluate a Public 
Private Partnership (PPP) to implement advanced anaerobic 
digestion, thickening and dewatering processes to produce 
Class A biosolids for beneficial use. Provided review of basis of 
design for new gravity belt thickeners, enzymatic anaerobic 
digestion and centrifuge dewatering to produce Class A 
biosolids.*

Professional Engineer for the Biosolids Conceptual 
Design Project, South Central Wastewater Authority, 
Petersburg, VA.  
Complete alternatives evaluation and conceptual design of new 
GBT thickening and dewatering systems. Conceptual design of 
sludge and dewatered cake conveyance, storage and pumping 
systems. Solids dewatering alternatives evaluated included belt 
filter presses, centrifuges and screw presses. Plant rated at 23 
MGD.*

Project Engineer for the Springfield Regional 67 MGD 
Wastewater Treatment Facility, Springfield, MA.  
Wastewater solids thickening and dewatering optimization to 
improve solids concentration and reduce trucking costs*

Project Engineer for the Holyoke Wastewater Treatment 
Plant, Holyoke, MA.  
Wastewater solids thickening and dewatering optimization to 
improve solids concentration and reduce trucking costs*

Senior Technologist for the Waste-to-Energy Project, Hay 
Road 50+ MGD WWTP, City of Wilmington, DE. 
Completed preliminary design to produce renewable electric 
power using digester gas and landfill gas, and use waste heat 
from the power generation process to produce dried biosolids. 
Completed a qualitative and carbon footprint comparison of the 
above-described project concept with other beneficial use 
biosolids processing technologies.*

Senior Technologist for the DAFT and Cake Bin 
Improvements, Metropolitan District Commission, 
Hartford, CT. 
Design improvements to the dissolved air flotation thickeners 

(DAFTs) and dewatered cake storage bins at the Hartford WPCF. 
Develop contract documents for improvements.*

Senior Technologist for the Master Plan, Central Contra 
Costa Sanitation District, CA. 
Lead master planning of solids treatment and resource recovery 
at the Facility. Solids treatment process consists of dissolved air 
flotation thickening, centrifuge dewatering and incineration. The 
goal of the master plan was to achieve energy neutrality. A 
combined cycle power generation facility producing electricity 
from incinerator of-gas and heat recovered from existing gas 
turbine would provide adequate energy to achieve net 
neutrality. New anaerobic digestion facilities was proposed. 
Improvements to dewatering processes proposed to reduce 
supplemental fuel consumption for incineration.*

Senior Technologist for the Solids, Project Definition 
Project, North Wastewater Treatment Plant, Baton 
Rouge, LA. 
Develop the overall scheme of solids treatment and processing 
system to meet regulatory requirements and the City’s short-
term and long-term treatment goals. Complete project definition 
level design for thickening (gravity thickening and gravity belt 
thickening), anaerobic digestion and dewatering (belt filter 
press) systems for treating primary sludge and secondary 
sludge. *

Project Technologist for the Standard Operating 
Protocols, North Wastewater Treatment Plant and South 
Wastewater Treatment Plant, Baton Rouge, LA. 
Worked with the treatment plant operations staff to develop 
Standard Operating Protocols (SOPs) for all liquid and solids 
treatment processes. Treatment processes include preliminary 
treatment (screenings and grit removal), primary treatment, 
trickling filters, solids contact basins, secondary clarifiers, 
sludge thickening systems, anaerobic digestion and energy 
recovery system, sludge dewatering system and major in-plant 
pump stations.*

Project Technologist for the Sludge Thickening 
Improvements, 50+ MGD Central Water Pollution Control 
Facility, Ocean County, NJ. 
Complete planning level process design and develop 
improvement recommendations to enhance sludge handling and 
processing at the Ocean County Utilities Authority Central 
WPCF.*

* Indicates experience with previous firm

260



20

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:Firm: Greeley and Hansen

Years of 
Experience:

18

Education:  - B.S. Electrical Engineering, 
University of Illinois at Chicago, 
2003

 - MBA specializing in Management, 
DePaul University, 2020

Professional 
Registrations:

Professional Engineer: Illinois

Professional 
Experience:

Mr. George Condes is the Electrical 
Group Head of Greeley and Hansen 
with more than 18 years of experience 
in the Design and Construction Industry.  
His experience includes design, 
feasibility studies, evaluation of existing 
facilities, and project management 
of large, multi-disciplined projects 
requiring the coordination of multiple 
subcontractors.  His responsibilities 
involved the management of multi-firm 
teams and complex project issues. 
Mr. Condes has served as project 
manager and design engineer on 
numerous multi-million dollar projects, 
including Light and Heavy Industrial 
Manufacturing facilities, and Mission 
critical operation facilities. He has 
proven successes in establishing 
and utilizing highly effective project 
communication procedures and controls 
to optimize adherence to project goals, 
budget and schedule.  As the Electrical 
Group Head and member of the Firm’s 
Global Mechanical, Electrical, Plumbing, 
and Instrumentation & Controls (MEP/
IC) Organization, he is responsible for 
the leadership, business management, 
and technical development of the Firm’s 
Electrical Group.

George Condes, PE
Electrical Engineer

Technical Advisor for the Central Park Pumping Station 
Electrification for the Chicago Department of Water 
Management, Chicago, IL.  
This potable water pumping station, originally built in the 
1890’s, was converted from steam turbine driven pumps to 
electric motor driven pumps.  The existing 60 MGD and 80 
MGD pumps were refurbished to “like new” condition; and 
new vacuum priming, lube oil, and hydraulic valve actuator 
power water systems were installed.  Medium-voltage VFD’s 
were installed to control the new 2000 HP and 3250 HP, 4.16 
kV induction motors driving the pumps.  A completely new 
power distribution system was installed, consisting of 12.47 
kV main switchgear with two incoming utility feeders, 12.47 
kV generator paralleling switchgear and four 2.5 MW, 12.47 
kV generators, double-ended 12.47 kV-480 V unit substation, 
and 480 V power distribution.  Five existing 25,000 lbs/hr high 
pressure steam boilers and associated steam piping were 
demolished.  A fully automated SCADA system was installed 
to operate the pumping station based on distribution system 
pressures and flow demands.  The design was performed 
entirely in 3D using Autodesk Revit and AutoCAD Civil 3D.  
Construction was phased to maintain full pumping station 
operation during conversion of the pumps, using temporary 
generators while the permanent standby power system is 
installed.  

Technical Advisor and Quality Control Reviewer for 
City of Richmond, VA Task Orders. 
Planning, Design, and Construction Services for electrical, 
instrumentation and control, mechanical, HVAC, fire 
protection, plumbing, fire alarm systems, and civil process 
engineering. Work under this Contract included the MIS 
Phase II Improvements, McCloy Pumping Station 
Improvements,  Thickening and Dewatering Facility Upgrades, 
Electrical Hazard Assessments, and the Douglasdale Pump 
Station Improvements. 

Technical Advisor for the Jones Island Water 
Reclamation Facility Motor Control Center 
Replacements Phase 1 for the Milwaukee Metropolitan 
Sewerage District (MMSD), Milwaukee, WI. 
The project will replace 31 motor control centers and two unit 
substations at various process units within this 390 MGD 
plant.  The existing equipment is nearing the end of its 
service life.

261



C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

21

George Condes, PE
Electrical Engineer

Technical Advisor for Contract BB-215 for the Power 
Distribution Improvements at the Bowery Bay Water 
Resource Recovery Facility (WRRF) in Queens, NY. 
This project involves Facility Planning Services, Design 
Services, Procurement Services, Design Service during 
Construction, and CM Services for the conversion or 
elimination of all 208V electrical loads to 480V loads 
throughout the plant. These project involves intensive field 
investigations, review of numerous record drawings, 
coordination with numerous ongoing and upcoming projects, 
and improvement in reliability and safety for the Plant’s power 
distribution system. Project objectives include the elimination 
of numerous 4160V/208V oil filled switches and transformers 
and 208V motor control centers (MCCs) throughout the plant, 
consolidation of new 480V loads into the existing 480V 
infrastructure, the addition of 4 new double ended MCCs, the 
redevelopment of old electrical spaces into new NEC and 
NFPA 820 compliant electrical spaces, and a new digester 
complex electrical building to isolate new equipment from 
hazardous environment. This project also includes the 
refurbishment of the main substation 4 – 4160V reactors and 
synchronous bus for the incoming 4 utility services and the 
installation of new 4160V breaker mimic panels, a local mimic 
panel in the main substation and a remote mimic panel in the 
Plant Main Control Room.  

Technical Advisor for the Reconstruction of Power 
Distribution at Wards Island Water Resource Recovery 
Facility (WRRF), Contract WI-292, NY.  
This project involves the Facility Planning Services, Design 
Services, Procurement Services, and Design Service during 
Construction for the replacement and possible relocation of 
existing electrical equipment which make up a large portion 
of the 4160V and 480V power distribution system throughout 
the plant.  This work includes evaluating the electrical 
distribution equipment and associated conductors for 
replacement and relocation; replacing existing or adding new 
HVAC equipment; and modifications and repairs to existing 
building components.  This project will replace, refurbish, 
and/or relocate existing equipment.  The Power Distribution 
Improvements at the Wards Island WWTP Project No. 
WI-292-DES will improve the reliability of the WWTP’s power 
distribution system and treatment processes through the 
replacement or relocation of existing aging electrical 
distribution equipment throughout the plant.

Technical Advisor for the Piscataway WWTP Electrical 
Upgrades for the Washington Suburban Sanitary 
Commission, Accokeek, MD. 
This project includes the site-wide replacement of medium 
and low voltage electrical distribution equipment including 
switchgear, motor control centers, and transformers. To 
facilitate the replacements and new site-wide underground 
ductbank system will be designed, that when completed will 
allow plant personnel to more easily and safely isolate and 
maintain the equipment. New equipment will feature the 
latest safety and communications technology to provide a 
safe work environment for plant personnel and a breadth of 
power usage data which can be analyzed to improve the 
operation of the plant. Responsibilities include the Quality 
Control review of the electrical design contract documents.

Technical Advisor, NYCDEP TI-169 for the Power 
Distribution Improvements at the Tallman Island WRRF, 
Queens, NY. 
For the New York City Department of Environmental 
Protection Contract TI-169. All existing 208V loads will be 
converted to 480V operation or removed entirely. Project 
involves field investigation, coordination with various ongoing 
projects, and general improvements to the plants distribution 
system. This project also includes the elimination of several 
4160V/208V substations and 208V motor control centers.

Technical Advisor for Various Types of Consulting 
Services for All Facilities Located within the 
Jurisdiction of MWRDGC on a Three-year Retainer 
Basis. 
Electrical services include, but are not limited to design work, 
construction support services, estimating services, and 
inspection services.
 Technical Advisor for North Shore Water Reclamation 
District (NSWRD) Electrical Condition Assessment and 
Electrical Master Plan.  
The project assessed all electrical power distribution 
equipment at NSWRD’s three Water Reclamation Facilities 
and ten Wastewater Pumping Stations.  Surveys were 
conducted, and each component was scored on several 
parameters relating to condition and potential impact to 
operations.  A ranking and Phase 1 master plan report was 
prepared to assist NSWRD in planning capital improvements.  
Responsible for leading the field surveys at all facilities and 
developing the report.

262



22

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:Firm: Greeley and Hansen

Years of 
Experience:

31

Education:  - B.S. Electrical Engineering, Purdue 
University, 1991

Professional 
Registrations:

Professional Engineer: Indiana, Arizona, 
California, Florida, Illinois, Maryland, 
Michigan, Nevada, New York, Ohio, 
Oklahoma, Virginia, Wisconsin, and 
District of Columbia

LEED Accredited Professional

Professional 
Experience:

As Project Engineer, he performs 
detailed design of water and 
wastewater facility electrical systems 
involving complex and unusual 
engineering challenges.  He directs 
the preparation of designs, plans, 
specifications and invitations for bids.  
Mr. Viranyi ensures compliance with 
applicable standards (NFPA, UL, IEEE, 
ANSI, NEMA, ASTM), inspects work 
in progress and approves contractors’ 
invoices.  He supervises appropriate 
acceptance tests, releases projects 
for operation, and prepares operating 
procedures.  He also prepares capital 
and maintenance budget estimates and 
prepares and presents technical reports 
for senior management and government 
entities.  As the Senior Electrical 
Associate, he serves as the electrical 
technical lead for large and complex 
project assignments across the firm 
and is responsible for advancing and 
guiding the electrical group’s technical 
and quality control efforts and technical 
advisor.

Norbert Viranyi, PE, LEED AP 
Electrical Engineer

Project Manager and Technical Advisor for the Central 
Park Pumping Station Electrification for the Chicago 
Department of Water Management, Chicago, IL.  
This potable water pumping station, originally built in the 
1890’s, was converted from steam turbine driven pumps to 
electric motor driven pumps.  The existing 60 MGD and 80 
MGD pumps were refurbished to “like new” condition; and 
new vacuum priming, lube oil, and hydraulic valve actuator 
power water systems were installed.  Medium-voltage VFD’s 
were installed to control the new 2000 HP and 3250 HP, 4.16 
kV induction motors driving the pumps.  A completely new 
power distribution system was installed, consisting of 12.47 
kV main switchgear with two incoming utility feeders, 12.47 
kV generator paralleling switchgear and four 2.5 MW, 12.47 
kV generators, double-ended 12.47 kV-480 V unit substation, 
and 480 V power distribution.  Five existing 25,000 lbs/hr high 
pressure steam boilers and associated steam piping were 
demolished.  A fully automated SCADA system was installed 
to operate the pumping station based on distribution system 
pressures and flow demands.  The design was performed 
entirely in 3D using Autodesk Revit and AutoCAD 
Civil 3D.  Construction was phased to maintain full pumping 
station operation during conversion of the pumps, using 
temporary generators while the permanent standby power 
system is installed.  Responsibilities included overall project 
management to deliver high quality contract documents 
within budget and schedule, as well as conceptual design of 
the electrical distribution system.  Project management 
responsibilities also included coordination of permit reviews, 
zoning application, public outreach, and low-interest Illinois 
EPA loan application.

Project Manager for the Power Distribution 
Improvements at Wards Island WRRF for the New York 
City Department of Environmental Protection, 
Manhattan, NY.  
This project involves the Facility Planning Services, Design 
Services, Procurement Services, and Design Service during 
Construction for the large scale replacement of the plant 
power distribution system.  This replacement and 
improvements project includes the 13.8kV/4160V main 
substation with 5 – 13.8kV utility services, 4 – 4160V 
switchgear, 5 – 4160V/480V unit substations, and 25 – 480V 
motor control centers.  The project involves intensive field 
investigations, review of numerous record drawings, 
coordination with numerous ongoing and upcoming projects, 
and improvement in reliability and safety for the Plant’s 

263



C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

23

power distribution system.  Additional objectives are the 
redevelopment of old electrical spaces into new NEC and 
NFPA 820 compliant electrical spaces, and a new digester 
complex electrical building to isolate new equipment from 
hazardous environment.

Project Manager for the Piscataway WWTP Electrical 
Upgrades for the Washington Suburban Sanitary 
Commission, Accokeek, MD. 
This project includes the site-wide replacement of medium 
and low voltage electrical distribution equipment including 
switchgear, motor control centers, and transformers. To 
facilitate the replacements and new site-wide underground 
ductbank system will be designed, that when completed will 
allow plant personnel to more easily and safely isolate and 
maintain the equipment. New equipment will feature the 
latest safety and communications technology to provide a 
safe work environment for plant personnel and a breadth of 
power usage data which can be analyzed to improve the 
operation of the plant. Responsibilities include the Quality 
Control review of the electrical design contract documents.

Technical Advisor for the Resiliency Program at the 
Hunts Point WRRF for the New York City Department of 
Environmental Protection, Bronx, NY.  
This project involves the Facility Planning Services, Design 
Services, Procurement Services, and Design Service during 
Construction for the design and implementation of an 
assortment of storm mitigation strategies to provide a flood 
resilient design to a 100yr plus 40” storm event.  These 
projects involve intensive field investigations, review of 
numerous record drawings, coordination with numerous 
ongoing and upcoming projects, and improvement in 
reliability for the Plant’s process and power distribution 
system.  Project scope include design for over 30 buildings/
areas onsite.

Electrical Project Engineer for the Terrence J. O’Brien 
Water Reclamation Plant UV Disinfection Project for 
the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater 
Chicago, Skokie, IL.  
Scope of the project includes major medium voltage utility 
extensions, a new main electrical distribution station, and a 
complex process building housing the ultraviolet disinfection 
processes. Technical details include producing the design 
completely in 3D design software, the use of water-source 
heat pumps, LED lighting, and arc-flash mitigation strategies. 

Challenges of this project include providing extremely reliable 
power to the UV processes to maintain permit compliance 
and coordinating many disciplines in a tight and complex 
space. This assignment also required detailed coordination 
with ComEd for utility relocations and verification of adequate 
supply to the facility.

Electrical Project Manager for the new Water 
Reclamation Facility for the City of North Las Vegas, 
NV.  
Project elements included design and construction of a new 
50 MGD membrane bioreactor WRF.  The facility uses 
Adjustable Frequency Drives in most processes.  Active 
harmonic filters were used to mitigate the effects of 
harmonics produced by numerous 6-pulse AFDs.  The project 
requirements included a comprehensive electrical power 
system analysis with an arc flash study.

264



24

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:Firm: Greeley and Hansen

Years of 
Experience:

4

Education:  - M.S. Civil, Environmental and 
Sustainable Engineering, Arizona 
State University, 2018

 - B.S.E. Civil Engineering, Arizona 
State University, 2017

Professional 
Registrations:

Engineer-in-Training:  Arizona
Professional Engineer: Nevada 
(Pending)

Professional 
Experience:

Ms. Michelle Tran is a Civil Engineer 
with Greeley and Hansen with 4 
years of experience in the water and 
wastewater field. She has provided 
aid to professional engineers in order 
to meet various project requirements 
and deadlines. Some tasks include 
design, evaluation of existing facilities, 
the development of an operations and 
maintenance manual, cataloguing 
and organizing client comments, 
and development of diagrams for 
use in reports. After graduating from 
Arizona State University, Ms. Tran 
was in charge of a water sampling 
project for the Arizona Department 
of Environmental Quality, as well as 
supported colleagues by performing 
literature reviews and technical 
reviews.

Michelle Tran, EIT 
Project Engineer

Project Engineer for the SPA 1 Water Reclamation 
Facility (WRF) Original Wet Well Overflow Study in 
Surprise, AZ. 
The project scope includes the assessment of existing 
sanitary sewer collection system conditions and evaluation of 
alternatives to resolve sanitary sewer overflow (SSO) issues 
experienced at the SPA 1 WRF Original Wet Well. Tasks 
includes hydraulic modeling and analysis of the SPA 1 WRF 
Original Wet Well and existing sanitary sewer collection 
system, development of alternatives to reduce SSO issues, 
development of a design report, and coordination with the 
client.

Project Engineer for the Lift Station 60 
Decommissioning Project in Phoenix, AZ. 
The project scope included development of a flow monitoring 
plan and a flow monitoring study of the Lift Station 60 sewer 
shed, and the downstream Lift Station 42 sewer shed. The 
flow monitoring data is used to appropriately design the Lift 
Station 60 bypass sanitary sewer and evaluate the receiving 
downstream lift station capacity to receive the bypassed Lift 
Station 60 flows. Additionally, abandonment of the wet well, 
influent gravity sewer mains, and force main are included as 
part of the project scope, as are a thorough inventory of 
equipment to salvage requiring specific specifications and 
details and coordination with the client and contractor. 
Decommissioning of all electrical facilities and equipment, 
on-site odor control system, and coordination for 
decommissioning of commercial utilities to the site were also 
part of the decommissioning scope and design.

Project Engineer for the Southside Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Peak Wet Weather Flow Optimization 
Project in Tulsa, OK. 
The project scope included developing a Peak Wet Weather 
Strategy and Operation Manual to be used by Plant Staff for 
optimizing wet weather operations at the Southside 
Wastewater Treatment Plant. Various tasks included: defined 
modes of operation for controlling wet well and process 
control valves throughout the system, created flow diagrams 
for each mode of operation, and created a visual aid of 
SCADA screen controls for wet weather operations. The 
manual and technical memorandum are to be used for 
training plant staff, as well as providing guidance for pump 
station operations.

265



C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

25

Michelle Tran, EIT 
Project Engineer

Project Engineer for the Lake Las Vegas Lift Station 19 
(LS19) and Lift Station 25 (LS25) Improvements Project 
for the City of Henderson in Henderson, NV.
The project scope included the decommissioning of LS25, 
diverting LS25 flows to LS19, and improvements to LS19 to 
increase capacity in order to handle higher flows and improve 
overall operations and maintenance. Tasks included 
coordination with the client, assistance during construction 
phase, and development of as-built drawings. 

Project Engineer for the 11 MGD Reclaimed Water 
Pump Station Improvements Project in Las Vegas, NV. 
The project scope includes the planning, design and 
engineering services during construction of a new reclaimed 
water pump station as a redundancy to the existing reclaimed 
water pump station. The project includes three 5.5 MGD 
pumps and interconnecting above-grade and below-grade 
piping systems. Responsible for the coordination of submittal 
review and request for information between Greeley and 
Hansen and the client during the construction phase.

Project Engineer for the Sludge Cake Conveyance 
Design Project in Las Vegas, NV. 
The project scope includes evaluation of the existing sludge 
cake conveyance system and design of a new sludge cake 
conveyance system to improve sludge transfer process 
efficiency and overall operation and maintenance. Tasks 
included coordination with the client and contractor and 
assistance during construction.

266



26

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:

• 10,500 Sq Ft | PG&E Net Zero Energy Larkin Street 
Substation Expansion San Francisco, CA

• 29,000 Sq Ft | PG&E Hunters Point Substation, San 
Francisco, CA 

• 4,000 Sq Ft | PG&E Mission Substation, San Francisco, CA
• 4,800 Sq Ft | PG&E San Mateo Substation, San Francisco, 

CA 
• San Francisco International Airport, Terminal 3

 - 595,000 Sq Ft | West Modernization, San Francisco, CA 
(with Gensler)

• Fire Boat Station 35, Piers 22-1/2 + 24,
 - 15,0000 Sq Ft  | Design Competition, San Francisco, CA

• 35,000 Sq Ft | UCSF Rock Hall Refresh, San Francisco, CA
• 9,300 Sq Ft | Bayview Opera House Renovation, San 

Francisco, CA
• 18,448 Sq Ft | Garfield Park + Pool Rehabilitation
• 40,000 Sq Ft | Live Oak School Expansion, San Francisco, 

CA
• 35,000 Sq Ft | Bay Area Metro Center, 5th Floor and 

Ground Floor
 - Build Out, San Francisco, CA

• 155,000 Sq Ft | Bay Area Metro Center Regional Agency
 - Headquarters, San Francisco, CA

• 27,000 Sq Ft | Swissnex/Swiss Consulate at Pier 17, San 
Francisco, CA

Firm: TEF Architecture & Interior Design

Education:  - Bachelor of Architecture, University 
of Oregon, Eugene, OR

Professional 
Registrations:

Licensed Architect No. C28490; Issuer: 
CA Board of Architects

Professional 
Experience:

Paul leads TEF’s infrastructure work 
and brings significant experience in the 
management of public sector contracts 
and integrated teams. A skilled and pro-
active leader he is adept in facilitating 
team communication and moving 
projects forward.

Paul’s recent experience includes 
a wide range of infrastructure 
assignments as well as expertise in 
managing local government and other 
public sector and institutional projects.
He has been instrumental to elevating 
the design and delivery of electrical 
infrastructure programs for PG&E 
that have garnered award-winning 
recognition, most recently for the Larkin 
Street Substation Expansion, the first 
Net-Zero electrical switchgear building 
in the US certified by the International 
Living Future Institute’s (ILFI) Zero 
Energy Building (ZEB) Certification™ of 
the Living Building Challenge.

Paul Cooper, AIA, LEED AP
Architecture - Principal

267



27

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:

• 10,500 Sq Ft | PG&E Net Zero Energy Larkin Street 
Substation Expansion San Francisco, CA

• 29,000 Sq Ft | PG&E Hunters Point Substation, San 
Francisco, CA 

• 4,800 Sq Ft | PG&E San Mateo Substation, San 
Francisco, CA

• 97,000 Sq Ft | Pier 70, Building 2, Multi-Family 
Residential Core + Shell Renovation, San Francisco, CA

• 47,500 Sq Ft | 915 North Point Apartments, San 
Francisco, CA

• 196,000 Sq Ft | Mission Armory, Core + Shell Renovation, 
San Francisco, CA

• 120,000 Sq Ft | 55/60 Francisco, San Francisco, CA
• 25,000 Sq Ft | 170 9th Street Renovation, San Francisco, 

CA
• Presidio Trust, San Francisco, CA

 - 41,000 Sq Ft | Gorgas Warehouse Renovation
 - 5,500 Sq Ft | Building 103 Tenant Improvement, San 

Francisco, CA
 - 4,500 Sq Ft | Building 1230 Tenant Improvement
 - 5,000 Sq Ft | Building 222
 - 5,500 Sq Ft | Building 103 Tenant Improvement
 - Commissary Design Analysis Studies
 - 3,000 Sq Ft | Chapel Upgrades Building 130

• 54,221 Sq Ft | University of California, San Francisco, 
Millberry Union, Improvement Plan & Event Center, San 
Francisco, CA

Firm: TEF Architecture & Interior Design

Education:  - Bachelor of Architecture, Rensselaer 
Polytechnic Institute, Troy, New York

Professional 
Registrations:

Licensed Architect No. 036920; Issuer: 
NY Board of Architects

Professional 
Experience:

Justin’s thoughtful, honest approach 
to project leadership puts clients first. 
With 11 years of experience, he brings 
design acumen and technical precision 
to all stages of a project.

Justin has led a number of 
infrastructure projects, including utility 
enclosures and substations for PG&E, 
most notably the award-winning Larkin 
Street Substation Expansion and the 
San Mateo Substation enclosure. His 
knowledge and experience leading a 
wide range of assignments for public 
sector and institutional clients will also 
be an asset to the team.

Justin Blinn AIA, LEED AP BD+C, LFA
Architecture - Project Manager

268



28

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Project Experience:

• 29,000 Sq Ft | PG&E Hunters Point Substation, San Francisco, CA
• San Francisco International Airport, Terminal 3

 - 595,000 Sq Ft |West Modernization, San Francisco, CA (with 
Gensler) 

• Fire Boat Station 35, Piers 22-1/2 + 24,
 - 15,0000 Sq Ft |Design Competition, San Francisco, CA

• 1,300 Sq Ft |Kaiser Oakland Pediatric Cardiovascular OR 
Renovation, Oakland, CA

• Stanford Health Care
 - 15,000 Sq Ft |Almaden Ranch Clinic, San Jose, CA
 - 42,000 Sq Ft |Burlingame Clinic, Burlingame, CA

• 183,000 Sq Ft |UC Berkeley David Blackwell Hall, Berkeley, CA* 
• 857,400 Sq Ft |Anaha Tower, Block K, Ward Village, Honolulu, 

HI* 
• 353,000 Sq Ft |Solaire, Transbay Block 6, San Francisco, CA* 
• 392,500 Sq Ft |One Ala Moana, Residential Tower, Honolulu, HI* 
• 113,000 Sq Ft |ASU Gymnasium Expansion and Renovation, 

Tempe, AZ* 

Firm: TEF Architecture & Interior Design

Education:  - Bachelor of Architecture, California 
Polytechnic State, University, San 
Luis Obispo, CA

Professional 
Registrations:

Licensed Architect No. C 37372; Issuer: 
California Board of Architects

Professional 
Experience:

Laudan has provided technical and 
design leadership to diverse projects 
at TEF, including institutional, public, 
and developer led assignments. Her 
experience ranges from large scale 
residential high rises to modest 
interventions requiring considerable 
technical precision.

Laudan has been crucial to the success 
of several major infrastructure projects 
including TEF’s Project Manager for the
SFO Terminal 3 West project, a design/
build joint venture with Gensler, led by 
Turner Construction, as well as PG&E’s 
Hunters Point Substation. She is also 
actively engaged in the application of 
LEAN and integrated design strategies 
as part of her management approach 
and brings diverse experience to inform 
smart design solutions across market 
sectors.

Laudan Siahpolo
Architecture - Architect Level III

269



C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R   D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

FEE

270



30

C A R M E L  A R E A  W A S T E W A T E R  D I S T R I C T
W W T P  R E L O C A T I O N  A L T E R N A T I V E S  P L A N N I N G  A S S I S T A N C E 

Task Project 
Manager

Lead Project 
Engineer

Project 
Engineer

Electrical 
Engineer

Biosolids 
Engineer

QA/QC QA/QC Admin Architect 
- TEF

Architect 
- TEF

Architect 
- TEF

TEF Hours GH Hours Total Labor 
Hours

TEF Fee GH Fee Total Fee

Val Frenkel Ray David Michelle 
Tran

George 
Condes

Jay Surti Andy Martin Ricardo 
Perez

Principal Project 
Manager

Architect 
Level III

Task 1 - Data Collection 8 30 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 4 78 82  $760.00  $15,864.20  $16,624.20 

1-100 Data Collection 8 30 40 2 2 4 78 82  $760.00  $15,864.20  $16,624.20 

Task 2 - Centralized Wastewater Treatment Plant Conceptual Design 44 100 140 15 30 0 4 0 2 3 27 32 333 365  $5,990.00  $73,617.75  $79,607.75 

2-100 Conceptual Design of Proposed Wastewater and Treated Water 
Conveyance Systems 

12 20 40 4 0 76 76  $-    $15,192.00  $15,192.00 

2-200 Conceptual Design of Centralized WWTP 12 30 40 30 0 112 112  $-    $26,895.50  $26,895.50 

2-300 Centralized WWTP Architectural Renderings 4 2 3 27 32 4 36  $5,990.00  $1,297.80  $7,287.80 

2-400 Centralized WRRF Opinion of Probable Construction Cost (OPCC) 8 30 30 15 0 83 83  $-    $18,376.35  $18,376.35 

2-500 Conceptual Centralized WRRF Report 8 20 30 0 58 58  $-    $11,856.10  $11,856.10 

Task 3 - Decentralized Wastewater Treatment Plants Conceptual Design 32 90 150 30 20 0 0 0 1 2 27 30 322 352  $5,460.00  $67,923.00  $73,383.00 

3-100 Determine Sub-Basins within CAWD Collection System for Locations 
of Decentralized Facilities 

8 20 40 20 0 88 88  $-    $18,109.00  $18,109.00 

3-200 Evaluation of Biosolids Treatment for Decentralized Approach 4 10 30 20 0 64 64  $-    $14,283.50  $14,283.50 

3-300 Conceptual Design of Decentralized WWTPs 4 20 20 1 2 27 30 44 74  $5,460.00  $9,314.00  $14,774.00 

3-400 Decentralized WWTP 0.25 MGD 8 20 20 10 0 58 58  $-    $13,116.10  $13,116.10 

3-500 Conceptual Decentralized WRRFs Report 8 20 40 0 68 68  $-    $13,100.40  $13,100.40 

Task 4 - Project Management, Site Visits, Meetings, Workshops 102 68 30 0 0 20 10 50 4 9 3 16 280 296  $3,670.00  $70,394.14  $74,064.14 

Project Management, Coordination 30 0 30 30  $-    $9,733.50  $9,733.50 

Reporting 20 20 0 40 40  $-    $12,016.60  $12,016.60 

QA/QC 8 20 10 0 38 38  $-    $11,069.10  $11,069.10 

Workshops and Meetings - Total 8 28 28 4 9 3 16 56 72  $3,670.00  $16,823.24  $20,493.24 

Report, Draft and Final 16 20 30 50 0 116 116  $-    $20,751.70  $20,751.70 

Total Hours 186 288 360 45 50 20 14 50 7 16 59 82 1013 1095  $15,880.00  227,799.09  $243,679.09 

Billing Rate  $324.45  $276.38  $124.43  $250.43  $324.45  $324.45  $198.45  $126.00  $325.00  $205.00  $175.00 

Total  $60,347.70  $79,597.44  $44,794.80  $11,269.35  $16,222.50  $6,489.00  $2,778.30  $6,300.00  $2,275.00  $3,280.00  $10,325.00 

Total GH Labor Cost  $227,799.09 

Subconsultant Cost  $15,880.00 

ODC Cost  $7,232.00 

GH Management Fee for Subconsultant - 5%  $794.00 

TOTAL PROPOSAL COST  $251,705.09 

FEE

271



50 California Street, Suite 1500
San Francisco, California 94111

(800) 837-9779
greeley-hansen.com

272



RESOLUTION NO. 2022-15 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO EXECUTE A 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH GREELEY AND HANSEN IN AN 

AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $251,705.09 FOR WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT 
(WWTP) RELOCATION ALTERNATIVES PLANNING ASSISTANCE FOR LONG-

TERM SEA LEVEL RISE MITIGATION PLANNING (PROJECT #22-01) 
 

-oOo- 
 
 WHEREAS, Special Condition 9 of the Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) 

WWTP Coastal Development Permit requires planning for relocation of the WWTP as a 

potential alternative to mitigate impacts of sea level rise; and 

 WHEREAS, Greeley and Hansen has submitted an acceptable proposal and is well 

qualified to provide conceptual wastewater treatment planning services at a competitive 

rate; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel 

Area Wastewater District that it does hereby authorize the General Manager to enter into 

a professional services agreement, with a not to exceed amount of $251,705.09, with 

Greeley and Hansen for WWTP Relocation Alternatives Planning. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the 

Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on March 31, 2022, by the following vote: 

 AYES:    BOARD MEMBERS: 

 NOES:    BOARD MEMBERS: 

 ABSENT:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

 
        _____________________________ 
          Ken White, President of the Board 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________________ 
  Domine Barringer, Secretary of the Board 

273



STAFF REPORT 
To: Board of Directors 

From: Barbara Buikema, General Manager 

Date: March  31, 2022 

Subject: Approval  of Job Description For A Full-Time 
Collection/Maintenance Utility Worker I-Grade 6 

RECOMMENDATION  

It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve a resolution authorizing the 
amended job description for a Full-Time Collection/Maintenance Utility Worker I at Range 
6. 

DISCUSSION 

The existing Collection/Maintenance Utility Worker I position was created to help the 
District fulfill the requirements of the River Watch Settlement Agreement and to provide 
additional entry level maintenance skills in the Maintenance and Collections departments 
versus outsourcing.  Unfortunately for the District, the employee, Alex Quintero, will be 
moving to Cal Water in Salinas for a full-time position.  The original position was term 
limited, but at the regular February 2022 meeting the Board agreed to hire a full-time 
employee with a permanent status. 

After discussion with both the Maintenance and Collections Superintendents staff they 
determined that three changes should be made to the job description prior to recruitment. 
As follows: 

1. Amendment date changed from June 2020 to February 2022
2. Eliminate “Limited 3 Year Term” under job title
3. Change “Possession of a valid California driver’s license” to “Possession of, or

ability to obtain within 18 months of hire, a Class B driver’s license.”

FUNDING 

No cost to amend the job description. 

Attachment: Full-time Collections & Maintenance Utility Work I (redline version) 

274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



RESOLUTION No. 2022-16 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE AMENDED JOB DESRIPTION FOR A FULL-
TIME COLLECTION/MAINTENANCE UTILITY WORKER I AT RANGE 6 

-oOo- 

 WHEREAS, the District has the need for a full-time Collection Maintenance Utility 
Worker I to assist with entry level maintenance functions and collection system tasks; and 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors approved said position at their regular 
February 2022 meeting and staff has determined after further review that three 
modifications should be made to the job description; and 

 WHEREAS, it is District policy to have the Board of Directors approve all job 
description changes. 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Carmel 
Area Wastewater District, which is in agreement with the staff recommendations hereby 
authorizes the changes as follows: (1) change amendment date to February 2022, (2) 
delete “Limited 3 Year Term” and (3) change driver’s license requirements to read 
“Possession of, or ability to obtain within 18 months of hire, a Class B driver’s license.” 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the 
Carmel Area Wastewater District duly held on March 31, 2022 by the following vote: 

 

AYES:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

NOES: BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSENT: BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS: 

       _______________________________ 
       Ken White, President of the Board 
ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 
 

286



STAFF REPORT      

 
To:   Board of Directors  
 
From:   Barbara Buikema, GM 
 
Date:  March 31, 2022 
 
Subject:  Authorizing Continued Remote Teleconference 

Meetings Through April 20, 2022 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors proclaim a local emergency and authorize 
remote teleconference meetings for the period April 1 through April 30, 2022. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Since March 2020, Governor Newsom has issued a series of Executive Orders (N-25-20, 
N-29-20, N-35-20) declaring the State of California has been under a State of Emergency 
aimed at containing COVID-19.  The Executive Orders modified certain requirements 
created by the Ralph M. Brown Act (Brown Act) or the state’s local agency public 
meetings law.  The District has been successfully operating under these conditions since 
they went into effect. 
 
On June 11, 2021, the Governor issued Executive Order N-08-21 which rescinds the 
modifications made to the Brown Act effective September 30, 2021.  After that date, 
agencies are required to observe all the usual Brown Act requirements as they existed 
prior to issuance of the orders.   
 
However, after discussions with the California Special District’s Association (CSDA), the 
Governor’s office, and other stakeholders, the Governor’s office modified its approach 
and Assembly Bill 361 was introduced in February 2021 and provides local agencies with 
the ability to meet remotely during proclaimed state emergencies under modified Brown 
Act requirements, similar in many ways to the rules and procedures established by the 
Governor’s Executive Orders.  Specifically, AB 361 suspends the requirements located 
in Government Code, section 54953. In short this means that during a state of emergency, 
under specified circumstances, local agencies can meet pursuant to modified Brown Act 
requirements. 
 
 

 

287



AB 361 extends public meeting teleconferencing until January 1, 2024.  With the Delta 
variant leading to a rise of cases in California, it allows local governments to continue to 
conduct virtual meetings as long as there is a state proclaimed state of emergency, but it 
will not be quite as flexible as it had been under the Executive Order.  It requires local 
officials to find that meeting in person would present an imminent safety risk to 
attendees.  The key difference between Executive Order N-29-20 and AB 361 is that AB 
361 requires a public comment period where the public can address the legislative body 
directly.  It prohibits the board from limiting public comments only to those submitted 
in advance and specifies that the board must provide an opportunity for the public to 
comment in real time. 
 
Local governments must reconsider the exemption every 30 days to ensure that the state 
of emergency proceeds and that local circumstances maintain that a health/safety risk 
exists.  Essentially, the continued exemption of the Brown Act is dependent on when the 
State COVID-19 state of emergency ends. CAWD has been open to the public for several 
months with a type of hybrid whereby the Board and legal counsel are in the board room 
and some staff members are remote.   
 
Staff is asking the board to approve continuance of open in-person meetings for the Board 
and referral of the public to the ZOOM link.  Please note that we have also found some 
participants prefer to use ZOOM rather than making the trip to our offices – it is very 
convenient to sign on from home.  We may find that we continue offering ZOOM 
meetings well after the pandemic disappears to accommodate customers who desire to 
participate virtually. 
 
Finally, the requirement is month-to-month renewal of the resolution.  We will bring this 
item back to the Board monthly as long as the State of Emergency remains in force.  
 
 
FUNDING – No Impact 

288



RESOLUTION NO. 2022-17 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CARMEL AREA 
WASTEWATER DISTRICT (CAWD) PROCLAIMING A LOCAL EMERGENCY, 

RATIFYING THE PROCLAMATION OF A STATE OF EMERGENCY BY 
GOVERNOR’S ORDER #N-25-20 DATED MARCH 4, 2020, AND AUTHORIZING 
REMOTE TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS OF THE LEGISLATIVE BODIES OF 

CAWD FOR THE PERIOD APRIL 1 THROUGH APRIL 30, 2022, PURSUANT TO 
BROWN ACT PROVISIONS. 

 
WHEREAS, the Carmel Area Wastewater District (District) is committed to 

preserving and nurturing public access and participation in meetings of the Board of 
Directors; and  
 

WHEREAS, all meetings of Carmel Area Wastewater District’s legislative bodies 
are open and public, as required by the Ralph M. Brown Act (Cal. Gov. Code 54950 – 
54963), so that any member of the public may attend, participate, and watch the District’s 
legislative bodies conduct their business; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Brown Act, Government Code section 54953(e), makes provisions 
for remote teleconferencing participation in meetings by members of a legislative body, 
without compliance with the requirements of Government Code section 54953(b)(3), 
subject to the existence of certain conditions; and 
 

WHEREAS, a required condition is that a state of emergency is declared by the 
Governor pursuant to Government Code section 8625, proclaiming the existence of 
conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property within the 
state caused by conditions as described in Government Code section 8558; and  
 

WHEREAS, a proclamation is made when there is an actual incident, threat of 
disaster, or extreme peril to the safety of persons and property within the jurisdictions 
that are within the District’s boundaries, caused by natural, technological, or human-
caused disasters; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is further required that state or local officials have imposed or 
recommended measures to promote social distancing, or, the legislative body meeting in 
person would present imminent risks to the health and safety of attendees; and  
 

WHEREAS, such conditions now exist in the District, specifically, a State of 
Emergency has been proclaimed – Governor’s order #N-25-20 dated March 4, 2020; and 

289



 
WHEREAS, a State of Emergency exists in California due to the threat of COVID-

19 and despite sustained efforts, the virus remains a threat, and further efforts to control 
the spread of the virus to reduce and minimize the risk of infection are needed; and   
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors does hereby find that due to threat from the 
COVID-19 virus, and, California Occupational Safety & Health Administration  
(Cal/OSHA) COVID-19 Prevention Standards, AND, the District’s written COVID-19 
Prevention Policy has caused, and will continue to cause, conditions of peril to the safety 
of persons within the District that are likely to be beyond the control of services, 
personnel, equipment, and facilities of the District, and desires to proclaim a local 
emergency and ratify the proclamation of state of emergency by the Governor of the State 
of California; and 
 

WHEREAS, as a consequence of the local emergency, the Board of Directors does 
hereby find that the legislative bodies of Carmel Area Wastewater District shall conduct 
their meetings without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Government 
Code section 54953, as authorized by subdivision (e) of section 54953, and that such 
legislative bodies shall comply with the requirements to provide the public with access 
to the meetings as prescribed in paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of section 54953; and   
 

WHEREAS, the District is holding public meetings but requires the public to use 
ZOOM for access.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF CARMEL AREA 
WASTEWATER DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. Recitals. The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are incorporated 
into this Resolution by this reference. 
 
Section 2. Proclamation of Local Emergency. The Board hereby proclaims that a local 
emergency now exists throughout the District, and meeting in person with members of 
the public or staff would present a risk of infection to all present in a meeting.  
 
Section 3. Ratification of Governor’s Proclamation of a State of Emergency. The Board 
hereby ratifies the Governor of the State of California’s Proclamation of State of 
Emergency, effective as of its issuance date of March 4, 2020. 
 
 
 

290



Section 4. Remote Teleconference Meetings. The General Manager and legislative body of 
the Carmel Area Wastewater District are hereby authorized and directed to take all 
actions necessary to carry out the intent and purpose of this resolution including, 
conducting open and public meetings in accordance with Government Code section 
54953(e) and other applicable provisions of the Brown Act. 
 
Section 5. Effective Date of Resolution. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 
its adoption and shall be effective until the earlier of April 30, 2022, or such time the Board 
of Directors adopts a subsequent resolution in accordance with Government Code section 
54953(e)(3) to extend the time during which the legislative bodies of Carmel Area 
Wastewater District may continue to teleconference without compliance with paragraph 
(3) of subdivision (b) of section 54953. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of Carmel Area Wastewater 
District, this 31st day of March 2022, by the following vote: 
 

AYES:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

NOES:  BOARD MEMBERS: 

ABSENT: BOARD MEMBERS:  

ABSTAIN: BOARD MEMBERS: 

 
 
     _____________________________________________ 
     Ken White, President of the Board 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Domine Barringer, Secretary to the Board 

291



 Other Items & Information/Discussion

292



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
 
Date:  March 31, 2022 
 
Subject: 2022-23 Preliminary Budget  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Board pass a motion accepting the fiscal year (FY) 2022-23 
Preliminary Budget. 
 
 
DISCUSSION 
Attached under separate cover is the CAWD FY 2022-23 Preliminary Budget document for 
your review.  Staff has provided a streamlined version of the Preliminary Budget and will 
provide the full budget with dividers inserted in the final format.  The full budget in June 
will contain all narrative elements.   
 
The Preliminary Budget must be accepted at this time so that we may proceed with 
preparation of the Prop 218 rate notice and provide 45 days of public notice as required by 
law.  A summary of major budget items, recommended by staff, and approved by the 
Budget and Salary & Benefits Committee, is detailed in the Preliminary document. 
 
A Discussion of the District Message and Budget-in-Brief may be found in the opening 
pages of the Preliminary Budget document. 
 
The Budget Committee completed its review of the Operations & Maintenance Budget and 
Rate Model on March 15, 2022.  Staff would like to acknowledge the leadership and 
guidance of the Budget Committee and the Salary & Benefits Committee.  The Board has 
consistently stood behind the District’s mission statement and commitment to not only 
protect the public health and the environment, but to do so in the most cost-effective 
manner possible.   It is not an easy task to position a small agency to undertake and 
implement planning for the long term.  While acknowledging both the short and long-term 
needs for the District, there has been a commitment to fund those needs.  Ultimately, the 
ability to fund gives the District the ability to help determine its own future.  

  

293



 
Staff Report 
 
 
 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
     
DATE: March 31, 2022 
 
SUBJECT: 2022-23 Preliminary Rate Model 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
This is a preliminary rate model only.  Final approval of proposed 2022-23 rates will occur 
at the June 2022 Board meeting.  A motion to accept this model will permit staff to move 
forward with the Prop 218 notice using the proposed rates.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
We have attached four rate model sheets for fiscal year 2022-23.  As in the past, we 
continue to utilize the rate model and guidelines provided by the State Water Resources 
Control Board (SWRCB). 
 
There are four options presented, in looking at the rate summary page for each option you 
will note: 
 

• The left side of the spreadsheet provides historical data. 
• The middle section is the result of the SWRCB model. 
• The right side of the spreadsheet shows the rates approved by the 

Budget Committee.  Because we utilize the property tax rolls all 
amounts must be in even numbers. 

 
For the District’s largest customer category, residential (roughly 65% of our customer base) 
we are proposing a $To Be Determined (TBD) per month increase which is equivalent to 
TBD%. 

  

294



 
There are certainly an infinite number of iterations that we could present.  However, the 
Budget Committee limits this to the four scenarios as follows, focusing on residential rates: 
 
 % Residential 

Increase 
 

Ranking 
 

Description 
Attachment A 6.27% lowest $2.275M Capital 

Replacement 
Attachment B 9.15% 1.3% below average $2.275M Capital 

Replacement & 
$250K Contingency 

Attachment C 11.75% 1.3% above average $2.5M Capital 
Replacement & 

$250K Contingency 
Attachment D 14.63% highest $2.5M Capital 

Replacement & 
$500K Contingency 

 
When we describe Ranking, we are referring only to the scenarios that the Committee 
examined.  There are, of course, additional scenarios possible.  The Budget Committee has 
met multiple times and has determined that the issues facing the District, as we move 
forward, are consequential enough to require the full Board’s ruling rather than rely solely 
on the committee’s recommendation.   
 
In addition to future challenges, the committee also discussed the economic environment 
we find ourselves operating in.  We all recognize that we are in inflationary times and that 
the war in Ukraine is impacting energy costs making it difficult to budget accurately.  The 
committee recommended all budgeting be in current dollars and that we employ the use of 
a “Contingency” account to handle cost overruns due to inflation.  Several of the line items 
we anticipate increasing include:  

• Paper – there is a shortage, so as a result we are budgeting a 50% increase for the 
newsletter.   

• Computers – we’ve not had any problem procuring parts or new machines yet, but 
we know that can change. 

• Fuel – we are utilizing a price point of $6.05 for regular unleaded and $6.99 for 
diesel.  The standby generator tank is full so we will not need to purchase 
immediately for that use.  Liberty Farms, our sludge hauler, has indicated they are 
not able to say now whether they will be forced to raise prices. 
 

295



• Chemicals – it seems like every order not only has an escalation in price but delivery 
is no longer a guarantee.  We are considered a critical industry, but we are certainly 
not able to stockpile.  It is just not available, deliveries are made literally just-in-
time. 

• Parts – as an example, Clark Bros. was told that the new motor control centers 
(MCC) are delayed until August.  This  is just one example, but it shows the strain 
on the distribution channels that are impacting everything. 

 
This short list is just a few of the items that are impacting our ability to accurately forecast 
and build next year’s budget.  And they are examples of how we would utilize the 
“Contingency” account to cover increased prices. 
 
The future challenges we are facing revolve around the Coastal Commission mandate that 
we move the treatment facilities away from the coast.  We acknowledge that the District 
will have to borrow funds to implement any move of the treatment facility, but until we 
reach this milestone, we believe it prudent to position the District and provide sound 
planning. The committee subscribes to the notion that cash is essentially freedom as it will 
allow us the flexibility needed to adapt/respond to the changing environment .  We have 
spent the last two years keeping rates low because we were keenly aware of the impact of 
COVID on our ratepayers.  Coming out of COVID-19 we recognize that we need to return 
to our original financing plan.   The challenges we need to prepare for include as follows: 
 

1. Operating expenses – regardless of what happens to the treatment facility we will 
continue to fund ongoing operations.  Utilizing the property tax rolls we do not 
have the ability to react in a nimble fashion and therefore recommend that $8-$10M 
in cash be maintained for one-year for operations.  

2. Compensated Absences – as a policy the District maintains a liability account for 
accrued but unpaid vacation balances.  This account tends to hover around $250K 
because accrual balances are capped at 320 hours per employee.  If one assumes the 
District is no longer an ongoing operation (i.e., consolidation with M1W) we would 
need to pay out this liability. The recommendation is to hold $250K. 

3. Land Purchase – this appears to be less likely than originally thought; however, 
should an opportunity present itself we recommend a thorough review and move 
forward if appropriate to be an estimated $8M. 

4. Sea Level Rise – we have a dedicated reserve account with a commitment to budget 
$1M annually.  In twenty years, we should have $25M.  We will certainly need to 
borrow to move the plant, but we are making an assumption that a 20-25% local 
match will be required. ($25M estimate) 
 
 

296



 
5. Return to Riparian – one of the conditions of our Coastal permit is that when the 

plant relocates that the lagoon and surrounding area, is returned  its natural riparian 
habitat.  This would include the demolition of all structures and replanting native 
plant species. It may also include removal of any underground piping which will be 
more complicated. ($4M estimate) 

6. Pump Station at current location – our system is a gravity system, so we are 
planning for a pump station at our current location to move all sewage to any new 
location.  ($10M estimate)  

7. Collection Only District – when the plant is moved, if it goes to M1W we will then 
need to convert to a Collections only district.  This would require finding a location 
for all trucks and equipment.  It would also require that we leave the much-reduced 
district with initial funding.  ($10M estimate) 

8. CalPERS Termination – should the District cease to operate in its current 
configuration we will need to fund a “termination” plan with CalPERS.  This 
involves the purchase of very conservative investment vehicles.  This ensures that 
any current or prior CAWD employees are secure in their pension.  Current 
termination estimate from CalPERS is $12.3M.  ($10M estimate) 

9. Capital Reserve – this is essentially what remains of cash after all the above uses 
have been funded.  Currently Collections has $63M in scheduled  improvements for 
the next 15 years and Treatment has $12M.  That is $75M in projects over the next 15 
years. 

 
Without considering the above capital needs, we anticipate $75M to move the facility 
exclusive of any borrowing needs (local match 25%).   
 
In selecting the rate model for the coming year, and all years into the future, the District 
needs to decide how it wants to meet its goals. The District is  well enough in advance of 
any move date to plan thoroughly and act accordingly to reach our goals.  What is critical is 
that the entire Board agrees on the roadmap of how and when we make each step forward. 
 
Below is a history of Capital Replacement funding built into the District’s rate model since 
2012. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

297



Fiscal Year Cumulative Total 
2012-13 $250,000 
2013-14 $500,000 
2014-15 $750,000 
2015-16 $750,000 
2016-17 $1,000,000 
2017-18 $1,200,000 
2018-19 $1,300,000 
2019-20  $1,650,000 
2020-21 $1,650,000 
2021-22 $2,275,000 

 
We have a range of options for 2022-23.  As indicated, there are likely an infinite number of 
options just as there are multiple ways to manipulate the assumptions.  Four options are 
charted in the graph below, the ideal scenario are the two lines that cross the “0” line.  
NOTE:  The proposed rate increase and the increase in revenues are two different terms.  We need to 
increase rates in order to arrive at the necessary increase in revenues. 
 
The option with the lowest rate increase is one that continues to add $2.275M in capital 
replacement.  This is represented by the blue line below and represents roughly a 6.27% 
rate increase for 2022-23 and 3% thereafter.  It does not meet the District long-range plans 
as detailed above. 
 
The orange line represents 6.27% for 2022-23 and 4% thereafter.  It continues to add 
$2.275M in capital replacement but, like to blue line, does not meet the District’s long-range 
plans. 
 
The gray line represents 6.27% for 2022-23 and 5% thereafter.  This option does cross the 
“0” after declining and then finally crossing back over the axis in roughly 2034-35.  This 
plan does meet the District’s long-range plans after managing through lean times. 
 
The yellow line, like all those preceding starts at 6.27% and accelerates 6% thereafter.  This 
line stays above the “0” axis and in 2033-34 starts to accelerate upwards to meet our long-
range goals.  Note that we have an aggressive capital plan for Collections that burns 
through $63M over the next 15 years and the Treatment plan envisions $12M over the same 
period.  Those capital expenditures explain why all four of the graph lines do not start to 
accelerate until 2033-34. 

298



 
 
What staff is asking the Board is two-fold, first how do we set the user rates for next year, 
and second, how does the Board wish to plan for the next 30 years?  Answer to the first 
question is needed so the Prop 218 Notice can be sent out.  The second questions is more 
complicated and certainly deserves the Board’s time and attention, which may require an 
additional Ad Hoc committee established.   The Budget Committee suggested adding long 
term financing to the retreat topics.  
 
 
FINANCIAL 
 
The proposed rate model would provide $TBD in revenues.   
 
Attachment A:  $2.275M Capital Replacement 
Attachment B:   $2.275M Capital Replacement & $250K Contingency 
Attachment C:  $2.5M Capital Replacement & $250K Contingency 
Attachment D:  $2.5M Capital Replacement & $500K Contingency 
 
 
 
 

299



Summary Rate Model History 

Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual 
User Croup Count Units 2011-12 2012-13 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017..18 2013-.19 2019-20 2020-21 

Veteri••~ Offic;,:s 3 each 724.00 776.80 1.242.32 1,406.20 1.496.16 1.621.48 1.748.92 1.892.64 1.938.78 
Animal Hoso & Board I each 1,750.00 1.876.00 3.549.50 4.017.72 4.177.74 4.636.04 5.000.44 5,411.36 5,543.28 
A,,1,-p� 4 each 1.170.00 1 255.00 2,198.30 2,369.08 ~2.487AO 2,726.44 3,002.30 3,163.94 3.339.10 
0.r 28 each 605.82 6:ffi.50 864.82 981.04 1.049.60 I 136.96 1.225.20 I 327.44 1.358.00 
BeaulvSalon 32 each 452.00 486.00 717.46 819.78 867.32 937.98 I 012.12 I 100.86 1.121.26 
Business/Govt/Retail 935 I oer IO emnlovee, 230.42 247.70 311.50 355.02 391.92 424.10 456.10 495.42 505.36 
Camera/Photo 2 each 318.92 343.00 456.96 515.96 540.98 586.62 633.34 684.52 702.20 
Churcb/Synano,ue!M 33 ERU = 150 D0.00 355.80 478.50 546.72 582.88 630.36 677.20 736.58 750.24 
Conv. llosDital 9 beds 182.26 196.00 260.20 295.10 309.56 335.34 361.40 391.50 400.58 
Dental Office 15 each Dentist 350.00 367.16 485.80 561.02 588.36 634,78 678.92 742.66 751.60 
GvmlHealth Sna 3 each 431.12 462.00 612.82 699.50 752.92 814.44 875.36 951.58 969.84 
Hotel/Motel l..:'56 room 194.78 209.40 260.68 295.60 320.50 347.20 381.48 413.22 422.82 
Laundromats 29 nermachine 334.60 360.00 587.30 676.40 727.10 784.92 840.48 918.06 930.62 
Laundrv 3 each 1.553.00 I 666.66 2.262.74 2.514.96 2.691.76 2,929.36 3 183.98 3 411.96 3.533.92 
Market 19 each 571.32 614.00 1.053.90 1.143.46 1200.06 1.313.28 l=-t.442.oo 1.525.26 1.603.04 
Medical Office 21 each Ph\li.ician 196.00 202.00 247.18 283.18 299.62 318.16 334.26 364.94 364.94 
Residential 7.113 each 388.00 417.10 514.32 575.46 647.14 703.18 767.84 825.78 851.84 
Restaurants 14.400 Seat/Meal 27.54 28.90 43.36 46.98 49.36 54.02 59.36 62.74 65.98 
Schools 2,500 Pooulation 14.90 15.94 20.76 23.88 26.84 28.98 31.04 33.90 34.36 
Service Stations 26 peroumo 1.256.94 1.346.20 1.619.06 I 830.54 1.940.98 2.104.06 2,270.46 2,455.60 2.517.14 
su�arl<ets 2 each 12,013.78 12,918.34 14.152.08 15,350.08 16.915.86 18.513.28 20.330.52 21 500.58 21 601.64 

SPECIAL 57 ERU=l50 338.02 363.50 480.32 548.60 594.48 642.96 690.84 751.26 765.36 

TOTALS 

Slnligbt Rite Model-$2.275 CIJ)Ql Replc 

RateModel2022�23 Model $2.275M ratehistory 

Actual 
2021.22 

2.043.50 
s,i;os.91i 

3.351.22 
1.374.58 
I 136.28 

511.94 
710.04 
760.26 
405.48 
763.14 
982.70 
428.08 
944.46 

3.564.90 
1.610.36 

359.92 
877.58 
66.32 
34.88 

2.546.00 
22 703.94 

775.56 

¾ 

Cha111?e 

5.40% 
1.19% 
0.36% 
1.22% 
1.34% 
1.30% 
1.12% 
1.34% 
1.22% 
1.54% 
1.33% 
1.24% 
1.49% 
0.88% 
0.46% 
-1.38% 
3.02% 
0.52% 
1.51% 
1.15% 
5.10% 

1.33% 

Rates 

2.122.01 
6,037.27 
3.470.55 
I 464.51 
1 234.31 

567.84 
740.89 
823.24 
437.95 
847.91 

1.076.87 
442.83 

I 060.60 
3.679.51 
I 706.07 

411.89 
932.59 
68.97 
39.15 

2 732.65 
23 640.92 

849.42 

S Change 
Monthly Charge 
$ increase 

Model 22-23 
% 

Cha""e 

3.84% 
7.64% 
3.56% 
6.54% 
8.63% 

10.92% 
4.35% 
8.28% 
8.01% 

II.II% 
9.58% 
3.45% 

12.30% 
3.21% 
5.94% 

14.44% 
6.27% 
4.00% 

12.24% 
7.33% 
4.13% 

9.52% 

Model 
6.27% 
$77.72 
$4.58 

Annw,I 

Est. Rel'enue 

6 366.03 
6,037.27 

13.882.21 
41.006.24 
39.497.98 

530,934.82 
1 481.79 

27.166.91 
3.941.56 

12.718.61 
3.230.61 

556.192.90 
30 757.32 
I 1.038.52 
32 415.37 
8.649.75 

6.633.480.35 
993.212.29 
97 876.89 
71.048.81 
47.281.84 

48.417.04 

$9.216 635.12 

Annual 

Rates 

2,122.02 
6.037.28 
3 470.56 
I 464.52 
1.234.32 

567.84 
740.90 
823.24 
437.96 
847.92 

1.076.88 
442.84 

1.060.60 
3.679.52 
1 706.08 

411.90 
932.60 
68.98 
39.16 

2 732.66 
23,640.92 

849.42 

Proposed 
6.27% 

$77.72 
$4.58 

Pro• osed Rates 
Monthly %Cha�• 

Rate 2022-23 

176.84 3.84% 

503.11 7.64% 

289.21 3.56% 
122.04 6.54% 
102.86 8.63% 
47.32 10.92% 
61.74 4.35% 
68.60 8.28% 
36.50 8.01% 
70.66 II.II% 
89.74 9.58% 
36.90 3.45% 
88.38 12.30% 

306.63 3.22% 
142.17 5.94% 
34.33 14.44% 
77.72 6.27% 
5.75 4.02% 
3.26 12.27% 

227.72 7.33% 
1970.08 4.13% 

70.79 9.52% 

Proposed vs. Model 

03/31122 

Annual 
Est.Revenue 

6 .166.06 
6.037.28 

13.882.25 
41,006.52 
39.498.30 

530.934.82 
1 481.81 

27.166.91 
3 941.65 

12.718.76 
3.230.64 

556.205.46 
30.757.32 
11 038.55 
32 415.56 
8.649.96 

6.633.551.48 
993.356.29 
97.901.89 
71.049.07 
47.281.84 

48 417.04 

$9,216,889.47 

254.35 

�

Q) 
C') 
:::,-

CD 
::l 

)> 

300



User Group Connt Units 

VeteriMr, Offices 3 each 

Animal Hoso & Board I each 

Baki:rv 4 each 

Bar 28 each 

BeauivSalon 32 each 

Business/Govt/Retail 935 ner IO emnlowes 

Camera/Photo 2 each 

Church/S=••"""e/M 33 ERU- 150 

Conv. Hosoital 9 beds 

Dental Office 15 each Dentist 

G=t>Jealth Soa 3 each 

Hotel/Motel 1.256 room 

Laundromats 29 ocr machine 

Laundrv 3 each 

Marlee! 19 each 

Medical Office 21 each Ph'!i-sician 

Residential 7,113 each 

Restaurants 14.400 Seat/Meal 

Schools 2,500 Population 

Service Stations 26 fier1mmn 

su�mkets 2 each 

SPECIAL 57 ERU~l50 

TOTALS 

Straight Rate Model-S2.275M Capital Replacement 

S250K Contingency 

Actual 

2011-12 

724.00 

1. 750.00 

1170.00 

605.82 

452.00 

230.42 

318.92 

330.00 

182.26 

350.00 

431.12 

194.78 

334.60 

1,;53_00 

571.32 

196.00 

388.00 

27.54 

14.90 

1.256.94 

12 .013.78 

338.02 

RateModel2022-23 Model $2.275M$250KContingency ratehistory 

Actual Actual Actual Actual 

2012-13 2014-15 2015-16 2016,,17 

776.80 1,242.32 1.406.20 1.496.16 

1.876.00 3.549.50 4,017.72 4.277.74 

1.255.00 2,198.30 2.369.08 2.487.40 

650.50 864.82 981.04 1.049.60 

486.00 117.46 819.78 867.32 

247.70 311.50 355.02 391.92 

343.00 456.96 515.96 540.98 

355.80 478.50 546.72 582.88 

196.00 260.20 295.10 309.56 

367.16 485.80 561.02 588.36 

462.00 612.82 699.50 752.92 

209.40 260.68 295.60 320.50 

360.00 587.30 676.40 727.10 

1,666.66 2.262.74 2,514.96 2,691.76 

614.00 1.053.90 1.143.46 1.200.06 

202.00 247.18 283.18 299.62 

417.10 514.32 575.46 647.14 

28.90 43.36 46.98 49.36 

15.94 20.76 23.88 26.84 

1.346.20 1.619.06 1.830.54 1.940.98 

12.918.34 14.152.08 15.350.08 16.915.86 

363.50 480.32 548.60 594.48 

Summary Rate Model History 

Actual Actual Actual Actual 

2011-18 2018,,19 2019-20 2020-21 

1 621.48 I 748.92 I 892.64 I 938.78 

4 636.04 5 000.44 5.411.36 5.543.28 

2.726.44 3 002.30 3.163.94 3.339.10 

1136.96 t 225.20 I 327.44 I 358.00 

937.98 1,012.12 1.100.86 1.121.26 

424.10 456.10 495.42 505.36 

586.62 633.34 684.52 702.20 

630.36 677.20 736.58 750.24 

335.34 361.40 391.50 "100,58 

634.78 678.92 742.66 751.60 

814.44 875.36 951.58 969.84 

347.20 381.48 413.22 422.82 

784.92 840.48 918.06 930.62 

2 929.36 3 183.98 3 411.96 3.533.92 

1.313.28 1.442.00 1.525.26 1.603.04 

318.16 334.26 364.94 364.94 

703.18 767.84 825.78 851.84 

54.02 59.36 62.74 65.98 

28.98 31.04 33.90 34.36 

2.104.06 2.�70.46 2 455.60 2 517.14 

18.513.28 20J30.52 21.500.58 21.601.64 

642.96 690.84 751.26 765.36 

Actual 

2021-22 

2 043.50 

5 608.98 

3.351.22 

I 374.58 

1.136.28 

511.94 

710.04 

760.26 

405.48 

763.14 

982.70 

428.08 

944.46 

3.564.90 

1.610.36 

359.92 

877.58 

66.32 

34.88 

2,546.00 

22.703.94 

775.56 

')', 

Ch"""• Rates 

5.40% 2.179.28 

1.19% 6 200.20 

0.36% 3 565.74 

1.22% I 504.01 

1.34% 1.267.54 

1.30% 583.15 

1.12% 760.91 

1.34% 845.40 

1.22% 449.76 

1.54% 870.66 

1.33% 1.105.86 

1.24% 454.78 

1.49% 1.089.11 

0.88% 3.779.36 

0.46% 1.752.81 

-1.38% 421.60 

3.02% 957.88 

0.52% 70.86 

1.51% 40.20 

1.15% 2,806.43 

5.10% 24.288.23 

1.33% 872.28 

$ Change 
Monthly Charge 
$ increase 

Model 22-23 

% 

Chall!!e 

6.64% 

10.54% 

6.40% 

9.42% 

11.55% 

13.91% 

7.16% 

11.20% 

10.92% 

14.09% 

12.53% 

6.24% 

15.32% 

6.02% 

8.85% 

17.14% 

9.15% 

6.85% 

15.26% 

10.23% 

6.98% 

12.47% 

Model 

9.15% 
$79.82 
$6.69 

Arumal 

Est.Revenue 

6,537.84 

6,200.20 

14,262.96 

42 112.24 

40.561.13 

545.241.35 

1.521.82 

27 898.15 

4,047.86 

13 059.85 

3.317.58 

571.197.86 

31.584.28 

11.338.07 

33.303.33 

8,853.60 

6.813,383.28 

1.020,396.11 

100.507.07 

72,967.15 

48.576.47 

49.720.21 

$9.466,588.42 

Annual 

Rates 

2.179.28 

6.�00.20 

3.565.74 

1.504.02 

I 267.54 

583.16 

760.92 

845.40 

449.76 

870.66 

1 105.86 

454.78 

1.089.12 

3.779.36 

1.752.82 

421.60 

957.88 

70.86 

40.20 

2,806.44 

24,288.24 

872.28 

Proposed 

9.15% 
$79.82 
$6.69 

03/31/22 

Pronosed Rates 

Monthly %Chang Annual 

Rate 2022-23 Est Revenue 

181.61 6.64% 6.537.84 

516.68 10.54% 6.200.20 

297.15 6.40% 14.262.96 

125.33 9.42% 42.112.52 

105.63 11.55% 40.561.13 

48.60 13.91% 545,250.70 

63.41 7.17% 1.521.84 

70.45 11.20% 27.898.15 

37.48 10.92% 4.047.86 

72.55 14.09% 13.059.85 

92.16 12.53% 3.317.58 

37.90 6.24% 571 197.86 

90.76 15.32% 31.584.57 

314.95 6.02% 11,338.07 

146.07 8.85% 33.303.52 

35.13 17.14% 8.853.60 

79.82 9.15% 6.813.383.28 

5.91 6.85% 1.020.396.11 

3.35 15.26% 100,507.07 

233.87 10.23% 72.967.41 

2024.02 6.98% 48,576.49 

72.69 12.47% 49.720.21 

$9.466.598.83 

Proposed vs. Model 10.41 

CD 

301



User Group Count Units 

VeterinaovOffices 3 each 
Animal Hosn & Board I each 
llake"' 4 each 

Bar 28 each 
BeaulY Salon 32 each 
Business/Govt/Retail 935 oer l O emlllm�� 

Camera/Photo 2 each 
Churcb/Slma�oi:ue/M 33 ERU- 150 

Conv. Hosoital 9 beds 

Dental Office IS each Dentist 
Gvmillealtb Sna 3 each 

Hotel/Motel 1,156 room 

Laundromats 29 oermachine 
Laundrv 3 each 

Market 19 each 
Medical Office 21 each Ph�iciao 
Residential 7,113 each 

Restaurants 14.400 Seat/Meal 
Schools 2.500 Pooulation 

Service Stations 26 oercumu 

Sunennarkets 2 each 

SPECIAL-' 57 ERU-150 

TOTALS 

Straight Rate Model- S2.5M CapitalReplacemmt 

$250K Contingency 

Actual 
2011-12 

724.00 
1.750.00 
1.170.00 

605.82 
452.00 
230.42 
318.92 
330.00 
182.26 

350.00 
431.12 
194.78 
114.60 

1.553.00 
571.32 
196.00 
388.00 
27.54 
14.90 

J.256.94 
12.013.78 

338.02 

Rate Model 2022-23 Model $2.SM S250K Contingency rate history 

Actual 
2012-13 

776.80 
1.876.00 
1.255.00 

650.50 
486.00 
247.70 
343.00 
355.80 
196.00 

367.16 
462.00 
209.40 

360.00 
1.666.66 

614.00 
202.00 
417.10 
28.90 
15.94 

1,346.20 
12.918.34 

363.50 

Summary Rate Model History 

Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual 
2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

1.242.32 1.406.20 1,496.16 1,621.48 1,748.92 1,892.64 I 938.78 
3.549.50 4.017.72 4,277.74 4.636.04 5.000.44 5.411.36 5 543.28 
2.198.30 2.369.08 2.487.40 2.726.44 3.002.30 3.163.94 3,339.10 

864.82 981.04 1.049.60 1..136.96 1 225.20 1J27.44 1.358.00 
717.46 819.78 867.32 937.98 1.012.12 U00.86 1121.26 
311.50 355.02 391.92 424.10 456.10 495.42 505.36 
456.96 515.96 540.98 586.62 633.34 684.52 702.20 
478.50 546.72 582.88 630.36 677.20 736.58 750.24 
260.20 295.10 309.56 335.34 361.40 391.50 400.58 

485.80 561.02 588.36 634.78 678.92 742.66 751.60 
612.82 699.50 752.92 814.44 875.36 951.58 969.84 
260.68 295.60 320.50 347.20 381.48 413.22 422.82 

587.30 676.40 727.10 784.92 840.48 918.06 930.62 
2.262.74 2.514.96 2.691.76 2.929.36 3.183.98 3.411.96 3.533.92 
1,053.90 1.143.46 1,200.06 1.313.28 1.442.00 1,525.26 1,603.04 

247.18 283.18 299.62 318.16 334.26 364.94 364.94 
514.32 575.46 647.14 703.18 767.84 825.78 851.84 
43.36 46.98 49.36 54.02 59.36 62.74 65.98 
20.76 23.88 26.84 28.98 31.04 33.90 34.36 

1 619.06 1 830.54 1 940.98 2 104,06 2.270.46 2 455.60 2.517.14 
l<l 152.08 15 350.08 16 915.86 18,513.28 20.330.52 21,500.58 21.601.64 

480.32 548,60 594.48 642,96 690.84 751.26 765.36 

Actual 
2021-22 

2,043.50 
5 608.98 
3.351.22 
I l.74.58 
1\136.28 

511.94 
710.04 
760.26 
405.48 

763.14 
982.70 
428.08 

944.46 
3,564.90 
I 610.36 

359.92 
877.58 
66.32 
34.88 

2.546.00 
22 703,94 

775.56 

% 
Cherme Rates 

5.40% 2,231.56 
1.19% 6 348.94 
0.36% 3.648.70 
1.22% 1,540.13 
1.34% 1.298.09 
1.30% 597.17 
1.12% 779.13 
1.34% 865.78 
1.22% 460.57 

1.54% 891.77 
1.33% 1.132.51 
1.24% 465.69 

1.49% 1.115.42 
0.88% 3.869.09 
0.46% 1.793.68 

-1.38% 430.78 
3.02% 980.65 
0.52% 72.52 
1.51% 4!.17 
l.15% 2 873.69 
5.10% 24,855.15 

1.33% 893.31 

$ Change 
Monthly Charge 
$ increase 

Model 22-23 
% 

Chanee 

9.20% 
13.19% 
8.88% 

12.04% 

14.24% 
16.65% 
9.73% 

13.88% 
13.59% 

16.86% 
15.24% 
8.79% 

18.10% 
8.53% 

11.38% 

19.69% 
11.74% 
9.34% 

18.05% 
12.87% 
9.48% 

15.18% 

Model 
11.74% 
$81.72 
$8.59 

Annual 
Est. Revenue 

6.694.67 
6,348.94 

14.594.79 
43,123.57 
41.538.89 

558.358.43 
1.558.26 

28.570.64 
4.145.09 

13.376.53 
3,397.53 

584.909.23 

3V47.20 
11.607.26 
34,080.00 
9 046.39 

6 975,337.13 
1.044.232.36 

102.937.18 
74 716.02 
49,710.29 

50.918.83 

$9,691 549.24 

Annual 
Rate, 

2,231.56 
6,348.94 
3 648.70 
lM0.14 
1.298.10 

597.18 
779.14 
865.78 
460.58 

891.78 
1,132.52 

465.70 
1.115.42 
3,869.10 
1,793.68 

430.78 
980.66 
72.52 
41.18 

2,873.70 
24,855.16 

893.32 

Proposed 
11.75% 
$81.72 
$8.59 

Prouosed Rates 
Monthly %Chan� 

Rate 2022-23 

185.96 9.20% 
529.08 13.19% 
304.06 8.88% 
128.34 12.04% 

108.18 14.24% 
49.77 16.65% 
64.93 9.73% 
72.15 13.88% 
38.38 13.59% 
74.31 16.86% 
94.38 15.25% 
38.81 8.79% 

92.95 18.10% 
322.42 8.53% 
149.47 11.38% 
35.90 19.69% 
81.72 11.75% 
6.04 9.34% 
3.43 18.08% 

239.48 12.87% 
2071.26 9.48% 

74.44 15.18% 

Proposed vs. Model 

03/31/22 

Annual 
Est. Revenue 

6.694.67 
6348.94 

14.594.79 
43.123.85 
41-539.21 

558,367.78 
1.558.28 

28.570.64 
4,145.18 

13.376.68 
3,397.56 

584,921.79 
32,347.20 
11. 607.29 
34,080.00 
9.046.39 

6.975.408.26 
1,044 232.36 

102.962.18 
74.716.28 
49.710.31 

50,919.40 

$9,691 669.05 

119.81 

Q) 
(") 

3 
CD 
:::, 

() 

302



303



STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
 
Date:  March 31, 2022 
 
Subject: Ballot for Election of Independent Special District Regular Member to the 

Local Agency Foundation Commission (LAFCO)  
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Staff requests direction from the Board for their vote in the election of a LAFCO Special 
District Regular Member. 
 
DISCUSSION  
 
Staff is requesting direction on the upcoming ballot for the election of an Independent 
Special District Regular Member to serve a four-year term to the Local Agency Formation 
Commission. The ballot information is attached to this report. CAWD is allowed one vote.  
The deadline to submit the ballot is April 1, 2022. 
 
This new Member will be seated by May 2022. 
 
Please note there will also be a second ballot for election of one Special District Alternate 
Member sent to CAWD after the result of this election for a Regular Member is complete.  
 
 
FUNDING  
N/A 
 

  

304



LAFCO of Monterey County 
   _ 

 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF MONTEREY COUNTY 
                                   
 
 

 MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE:           March 1, 2022 
 
TO:     Independent Special District General Managers, Fire Chiefs and CEOs 
                      
FROM:        Kate McKenna, AICP,  
 Executive Officer    
 
SUBJECT: Ballot for Election of LAFCO Commissioner – Special District 
                        Regular Member (Due April 1, 2022) 
 
This memorandum transmits a ballot, voting instructions and candidate information for 
the election of one Independent Special District Regular Member to serve a four-year 
term on the Local Agency Formation Commission of Monterey County.   Please forward 
the ballot and information to the legislative body of your District for voting and 
signature by the presiding officer (Board President) or designee.  Vote for one of the 
three candidates.  The deadline to return the ballot is April 1.  LAFCO may extend this 
deadline if more time is needed to obtain ballots from a majority of Districts. 
 
A second ballot, for election of one Special District Alternate Member, will be issued 
after the election of a Regular Member.  Sequential balloting is in accordance with 
adopted procedures to ensure diversity in representation.   
 
Thank you for participating in the election process.  Please contact me if you have any 
questions. 
 
Enclosures: 
   Ballot and Voting Instructions 
   Candidate Information 
 

                             2022  
          Commissioners 

 
                                     Chair 

                         Christopher Lopez 
                             County Member 

          
                           Vice Chair 

                        Mary Ann Leffel 
               Special District Member  
                                                         
                                        Luis Alejo 
                            County Member 

                        
             Wendy Root Askew 
 County Member, Alternate 

                                  
              Kimbley Craig 

                                   City Member  
          

                                  Matt Gourley 
                               Public  Member 
 
                                     Ian Oglesby 
                                   City Member 
 
                               Warren Poitras 
                Special District Member 
                                                                                                

                    Steve Snodgrass 
  Public Member, Alternate 

 
                 Graig R. Stephens  

  Special District Member, Alternate  
                        

                   Anna Velazquez  
     City Member, Alternate 

 
                            Counsel 

                  
                     Kelly L. Donlon 
                  General Counsel 

                            
       Executive Officer 

 
           Kate McKenna, AICP 

                  
        132 W. Gabilan Street, #102 

               Salinas, CA  93901 
 

                       P. O. Box 1369 
                Salinas, CA  93902 

 
          Voice:  831-754-5838 

               
 

        www.monterey.lafco.ca.gov 
 

305



                      LAFCO of Monterey County 
   _ 

 

                         LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF MONTEREY COUNTY 
 

March 1, 2022 
 

OFFICIAL BALLOT OF THE  
INDEPENDENT SPECIAL DISTRICT SELECTION COMMITTEE 

 
FOR ELECTION OF ONE REGULAR SPECIAL DISTRICT REPRESENTATIVE TO LAFCO 

 
Voting Instructions: 
 
1. The presiding officer of the legislative body of the District or the legislative body’s alternate officer is 

authorized to vote.  Please vote for one candidate.  A majority of Districts must return ballots in order 
to conclude the election.  The candidate receiving the most votes will be elected to a Regular Member 
seat.   
 

2. Please return this ballot to LAFCO of Monterey County at P.O. Box 1369, Salinas, CA 93902 or at 
132 W. Gabilan Street, Suite 102, Salinas, CA 93901 or by email to mckennak@monterey.lafco.ca.gov . 
 

3. Deadline - Ballots must be received in the LAFCO office by April 1, 2022, at 5:00 p.m.  LAFCO may 
extend this deadline if more time is needed to obtain ballots from a majority of Districts. 

 
 
PLEASE VOTE FOR 1 CANDIDATE (REGULAR MEMBER SEAT): 
  

David Kong (Greenfield Public Recreation District and Greenfield Cemetery District) 
      

Mary Ann Leffel (Monterey Peninsula Airport District) 
      

Gail Morton (Marina Coast Water District) 
 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 

VOTING MEMBER SIGNATURE: _________________________________________________________________________ 
 
INDEPENDENT SPECIAL DISTRICT: _____________________________________________________________________ 
 
DATE: ________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 

306

mailto:mckennak@monterey.lafco.ca.gov


LALFcXJ ofMontcrcy County

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF MONTEREY COUNTY

INDEPENDENT SPECIAL DISTRICT SELECTION COMMITTEE

NOMINATION FORM
TO DECLARE CANDIDACY AND REQUEST NAME AND STATEMENT ON BALLOTS

FOR ONE REGULAR POSITION AND ONE ALTERNATE POSITION ON
THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF MONTEREY COUNTY

Due Date: February 28, 2022

Nominations xviii be considered to fill the four-year term for one Regular seat (expiring May 2026) and the
four-term for one Alternate seat (expiring May 2026) for Independent Special District Commissioners on
the Local Agency Formation Commission of Monterey County.

Nomination Deadline and Process:

Nominations must be received in the LAFCO Office by February 28, 2022 at 5:00 p.m. Qualified persons
may submit their own nominations using this form (no Board action is needed). You may email the
completed form to rnc1<ennakmonterev.1aFco.ca.gov OR mail it to P.O. Box 1369, Salinas, CA 93902 OR
hand-deliver it to 132 ‘N. Gabilan Street, Suite 102 in Salinas.

Nomination Statement:

“I, David Kong ,hereby declare myself a candidate for the election to the position of Regular
or Alternate Commissioner of the LAFCO of Monterey County. I am an elected or appointed Monterey
County Independent Special District board member or trustee residing within the county and not a
member of a legislative body of a city or county. I request my name be placed on the official ballot and, if
elected, I will qualify and accept the office of Regular or Alternate LAFCO Commissioner for which I am
selected and serve to the best of my ability.”

Nominee Information:

Name: David Kong

Address: 348 Barbera Way

Phone and e-mail: 831-682-2812 davidrkong@gmaiI.com

District represented: Greenfleld Public Recreation District and Greenfield Cemeter’ District

Your position with the District: Board President

Number of years as a District Board Member or Trustee: 3 years

Candidate Statement for the Ballot:

Please give reasons for wanting to be an elected LAFCO Commissioner and briefly summarize
qualifications and background:

I am interested in being an elected LAFCO Commissioner because I would like to represent the South Monterey Communities on the Commission

LAFCO makes many important decisions on matters concerning South Monterey County. I have been a lifelong resident of Monterey County. I have lived in Pacific Grove,

Salinas, and now have been a South County Resident for 21 years. I have served as a city planning commissioner, County Redistricting Commissioner, and School Board member

and now serve on the Greenfield Public Recreafion District and Greenfield Cemetery District as Board President. lam interested in having good land management of

Monterey County. South Monterey County is mostly rural and agricultural. I am a good team player and I know a number of the current commissioners on LAFCO.

I would be honored to serve on the LAFCO Commission and asking for your vote.

Page 1 of2

307



Signed: /‘9$.

Name (Print): David Kong

Date: 02/25/2022

Thank you for your interest in serving on LAFCO of Monterey County.

Page 2 of 2

308



309



310



311



312



313



Carmel Area Wastewater District 

WWTP Elec/Mech Rehab and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement Project 

 

Construction Progress Report 
 

March 18th, 2022 
 

Prepared by: Patrick Treanor, Plant Engineer 

Contractor: Clark Bros Inc (CBI) 

   

   

 
                

314



 

 

Section 1: Project Summary 

Project Summary 

General Contractor   Clark Bros Inc 

Contract Value 

Contract Bid Amount   $7,291,500 

Change Orders Issued to Date   1 

Value Added Change 

Order Cost (1) 
% of Bid Amount  $28,199.96   0.37% 

Non Value Added 

Change Order Cost (2) 
% of Bid Amount  $47,839.58  0.66% 

Total Change Order 

Cost 
% of Bid Amount  $76,039.54  1.0% 

Current Contract Value   $7,367,539.54 

Open/Pending Potential Change Orders (PCO)  0 

Contract Time 

Notice To Proceed  September 7th, 2021 

Original Contract Time   550 Calendar Days 

Calendar Days Elapsed   190 Days 

Weather Days: Accepted to Date   0 Days 

Contract Change Order(s) Time Extension   0 Days 

Current Contract Completion Date   March 3rd, 2023 

Contract Progress Summary 

Total Project Time Expended   35% 

Total Project Cost Expended   27% (not including retention) 

Notes: 

1. Value Added Change Orders include: District Requested Additional Work and 

Betterments 

2. Non Value Added Change Orders include: Design Issues, and 

Unforeseen/Differing Site Conditions   

315



 

 

Section 2: Work Performed This Month 

2.1 General 

Work this month generally involved construction of the Sludge Holding Tank slab and 

electrical rough‐in work throughout the various process areas. 

2.1.1 Submittals 

Submittals reviewed this month included pipe lay drawings, grit washer resubmittals, 

valve resubmittals, aluminum railings, seismic calculations for equipment anchorage, 

and cleanup of minor details on electrical equipment circuitry. 

2.1.2 PLC Programming 

PLC programming by Frisch Engineering is in progress. 

2.2 Site Work 

2.2.1 Potholing/Locating Existing Utilities 

None. 

2.3 Sludge Holding Tank Replacement 

Tank construction was ongoing during the month. Concrete was placed for about half 

of the walls for the new tank. Underground work included pipe installation and 

electrical. 

2.4 Influent Pump Station Rehab 

Clark Bros completed demolition of the old 450 kW backup diesel generator. 

2.5 Headworks Rehab 

Electrical pullboxes were installed for the ductbank from the Headworks to the Ops 

Building.  

2.6 Chlorination Building Rehab/3W System Improvements 

The electrical subcontractor worked on conduit rough‐in and poured the concrete 

equipment pad for the new motor control center. 

2.7 Effluent Pump Station Rehab 

Electrical pullboxes were installed on the outside of the building. 

316



 

 

Section 3: Project Issues 

Over the past month Clark Bros has notified CAWD of likely delays of major equipment 

procurement due to supply chain issues. Clark Bros is currently working on a revised 

schedule to reflect new estimates for major equipment delivery. CAWD and Clark Bros 

will be discussing ways in the next month to manage the work sequencing to keep 

progress moving forward. 

 

Section 4: RFI and Submittals Review Summary 

The following table contains a summary of RFI/Clarifications and Submittals to date: 

  Total Number  

Processed 

Number Received   

in Current Month 

RFI/Clarifications  31  8 

Submittals  118  21 

 

Section 5: Change Order Summary 

Potential change orders (PCOs) are being generated for differing site conditions, owner 

requested changes, and design issues.  

 

Total Number 

Processed to 

Date 

Open PCO 

Pending 

Quote/Approval 

Number 

Generated in 

Current Month 

Total Cost 

Approved to 

Date 

Potential Change 

Orders (PCO) 

6  0  0  NA 

Change Orders  1  0  1  $76,039.54 

 

 

317



 

 

Section 6: Project Schedule and Budget 

6.1 Schedule 

The Baseline CPM Schedule has been favorably reviewed and will be used to track 

progress monthly moving forward. 

6.2 Budget 

At this time the approved change orders amount to 1% of the project cost. The project 

management team is continually monitoring the costs of potential changes to manage 

costs. 

Currently the amount to be paid to CBI is 27% (not including retention) of the total 

approved budget (30% with retention). 

 

Section 7: Photos 

 Sludge Holding Tank Replacement 

 Influent Pump Station Rehab 

 Headworks Rehab 

 Chlorination Building/3W System Improvements 

 Effluent Pump Station Rehab 

 

318



Photos:
Sludge Holding Tank 

Replacement

319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



Photos:
Influent Pump Station Rehab

327



328



Photos:
Headworks Rehab

329



330



Photos:
Chlorination Building/3W System 

Improvements

331



332



333



Photos:
Effluent Pump Station Rehab

334



335



 
STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Barbara Buikema, General Manager 
 
Date:  March 31, 2022 
 
Subject: Pebble Beach Community Services District (PBCSD & District) – Regular 

Board Meeting on February 25, 2022 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Agenda items from the February 25, 2022, meeting that are of specific interest to this 
District: 

 
• Total cash balance at the end of January 2022 was $29.6M; of that amount $16.1M was 

designated for Capital Acquisition and Outlay Reserves. Property taxes comprise 
roughly 85% of District revenues with user fees making up 12%.  
 

• The January 2022 Cash Basis Budget showed total revenues of $15.16M year to date 
and total expenditures of $8.7M. 
 

• Forest Lake Reservoir held 114 million gallons (MG) of recycled water or 99% of 
permitted capacity. Current storage volume is 6% above the historic average of 
108MG. 
 

• Total irrigation water demand for the 2021 calendar year through January was 26-
acre feet (AF). Total demand for the calendar year is 333% above the 5-year average 
of 6 AF through January. The month of January reflected a net storage increase of 
approximately 16MG. By comparison, a net storage increase of approximately 24MG 
occurred in January of last year. 
 

• Average daily wastewater flow of 461,000 gallons per day (GPD) was measured in 
January at the PBCSD-Carmel gate. This represents 35% of the total flow at the 
Carmel Area Wastewater District (CAWD) treatment facility. The measured PBCSD 
flow was 12% below the five-year average of 552,000 GPD for the month of January; 
the CAWD total flows were 10% below the five-year average of 1,458,000 GPD for 
January. 
 
 

 

336



• All three wells were taken out of service in/around September 1st in order to 
maximize the time period for ground water recovery. The 4th fairway diversion and 
the 18th green diversion facilities were taken out of service around December 9, 2021 
prior to the onset of winter storms. Total production for the 2022 calendar year 
through February is approximately 78,500 gallons. 
 

• SCADA system upgrade is tentatively scheduled to begin in April 2022. 
 

• The Board authorized the General Manager to procure replacement mixers for the 
Forest Lake Reservoir for an amount not to exceed $95K. 
 

• The Board approved an amendment to the Master Agreement with E2 Consulting 
Engineers, Inc. to provide engineering design, bid-phase services, and construction 
support for the 2022 Sewer Replacement Project for an amount not to exceed 
$130,000.  The base project includes 3,954 linear feet (LF) of 6” lines and 1,622 LF of 
8” lines. 
 

• The Board approved revisions to the District Conflict of Interest Code due to changes 
of personnel assignments. 
 

• Average daily wastewater flows measured in million gallons per day (MG) show: 
 

MONTH TOTAL CAWD FLOW PBCSD FLOW PBCSD 
July - 21 37.117 25.481 11.636 31.350% 
Aug – 21 36.578 25.206 11.372 31.090% 
Sept - 21 31.800 22.717 9.083 28.563% 
Oct – 21 35.625 24.518 11.107 31.177% 
Nov-21 33.282 22.731 10.551 31.702% 
Dec – 21 55.861 35.261 20.600 36.877% 
Jan - 22 40.807 26.530 14.277 34.987% 

Total 271.070 182.444 88.626 32.695% 
 

337


	01.A  Board Packet Cover
	3945 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923

	01.B  Public Meeting Procedure
	04.A BOD COVID Update-3.31.2022-v2
	UPDATE ON: ��COVID-19�Risk Mitigation and Response Efforts����
	Update Topics
	New State Guidance 
	No Changes for Unvaccinated
	Masking During Public Meetings
	Slide Number 6

	04.B COVID 19 ResponsePlan_Mar'22 Update with Appendix C-Final
	06.A  Pretreatment Ordinance staff report
	06.B Cover Page  V1
	06.C testExhibit A - Ord 2022-02 Pretreatment V3BB-Redline
	06.D  ORD 2022-02 Repealing ORD 2022-01 Pretreatment of WW & Adopting a New & Revised ORD as Amended
	ORDINANCE NO. 2022-02
	THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CARMEL AREA WASTEWATER DISTRICT DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:

	07.A 2-24-22 Mtng Minutes
	CONSENT CALENDAR: APPROVAL OF MINUTES, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MONTHLY REPORTS
	RESOLUTIONS

	07.B 3-8-22 Budget Minutes
	3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923
	The committee discussed the following agenda items:

	07.C 3-10-22 Budget Minutes
	3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923
	The committee discussed the following agenda items:

	07.D 3-11-22 Budget Minutes
	3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923
	The committee discussed the following agenda items:

	07.E 3-14-22 Ad hoc Construction Minutes
	26900 State Route One
	Information/Discussion Items:
	 Electrical/Mechanical Rehabilitation & Sludge Holding Tank Project – the committee was given an update of the project and costs by the Plant Engineer and the project’s contractor, Evan Currie.  The committee discussed the presented information.

	07.F 3-14-22 Salary & Benefits Minutes
	Via teleconference webinar or in person
	Information/Discussion Items:
	 Employee Negotiations
	 Salary Discussion.
	Closed Session commenced at 3:00 p.m. The committee discussed the agenda items. No other reportable action was taken.

	07.G 3-15-22 Budget Minutes
	3645 Rio Road, Carmel, CA 93923
	The committee discussed the following agenda items:

	08. H &W Independent Report - FEB 2022 GL
	09. February 2022 Cash Receipts and Disbursements Report
	0222
	graph 1.pdf
	graph 1

	Graph2.pdf
	graph 2


	10. CAWD - Feb Disbursements
	11 Recl - Feb Disbursements
	12. Feb - Financial Stmt
	13.A February 2022 Board Report
	STAFF REPORT
	FROM: Daryl Lauer, Collection Superintendent
	RECOMMENDATION

	Permits Issued
	Maintenance
	Line Cleaning Table
	CCTV Progress Graph (River Watch Settlement Agreement Target)
	Manhole Inspection Table
	Construction Activities
	 Project 19-13 the Upper Rancho Cañada Pipe Relocation field work was completed on January 3, 2022.   The Principal Engineer is presenting resolution 2022-12 in the March board meeting requesting the Board to direct the General Manager to file a Noti...
	General Comments

	13.B Cleaning Map Febuary 2022
	13.C CCTV map Febuary 2022
	14. Staff Safety Report 02- Feb '22.v1
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	15. Treatment Facility Operations Report Feb 2022
	16. 2022 February Laboratory Report
	17. Implementation Plan Schedule 3-17-22
	18. Project Summaries 3-31-2022
	            ADP Workforce Now

	19. Plant Ops Staff Report Feb 2022_
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION
	Training:
	 Staff continues to complete online training at the treatment facility from Target Solutions as CAWD implements its new safety policies for the Exposure Control Plan updates for the COVID-19 virus.
	 Staff continues to participate in scheduled tailgate safety meetings with Collections leading the way by holding the meetings in the truck bays to meet CAWD’s social distancing policy.
	• Staff continues working with Plant Engineer, Patrick Treanor, on Project #18-01, the Electrical/Mechanical Rehabilitation and Sludge Holding Tank Replacement Project for the following areas: Influent Pump Station, Headworks, Blower Building, Chlorin...
	Meetings Attended
	Discharge Permit Violations
	• There were no Reclamation Permit 93-72 discharge violations for the month of January 2022.
	  There were no violations of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Number CA0047996, Order No. R3-2014-0012 within the month of January 2022.
	 Submitted Fourth Quarter Total Dissolved Solids for Reclamation Permit 93-72. The report contained no permit violations.
	 Submitted the 2022 Annual Recycle Flows Report to GeoTracker for the California State Water Board.
	 Staff has not received feedback from Central Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board on the submitted Toxicity Reduction Evaluation (TRE) Work Plan for Order No. RCA0047996 as set forth in Section V.2.a. Toxic Reduction Requirements. This plan is...
	FUNDING
	N/A-Informational item only

	20. Maintenance Staff Report 3- March 2022
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	21. Engineering Staff Report  MAR 2022
	22.A 2022 MH Frame  Lid Project Staff Report
	22.B MH Frame and Lid Project Map 1
	22.C MH Frame and Lid Project Map 2
	22.D MH Frame and Lid Project Map 3
	22.E MH Frame and Lid Project Map 4
	22.F MH Frame and Lid Project Map 5
	22.G MH Frame and Lid Project Map 6
	22.H MH Frame and Lid Project Map 7
	22.I 0-PUBLIC NOTICE Manhole Project
	22.J RES 2022-11 Authorizing bid of 2022 Manhole  Frame Project
	23.A Upper Rancho Canada Staff Report-NOC - Graniterock
	23.B Signed NOC by Engineer District  Upper Rancho Canada
	23.C Notice of Completion to County- Rancho C project
	23.D Rancho Canada Project Summary Costs 19-13
	Sheet1

	23.E RES 2022-12 Upper Rancho Canada County Notice of Completion
	24.A #19-03 IS_MND Staff Report Carmel Meadows
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION
	NEXT STEPS

	24.B RES 2022-13 #19-03 Carmel Meadows Lift and Sewer Replacement
	RESOLUTION NO. 2022-13

	25.A Dougherty Emergency Proj-NOC - Staff Report
	25.B Signed Engineer NOC for the District
	25.C Notice of Completion to County- Dougherty Pl Emergency
	25.D RES 2022-14 Dougherty emergency proj. NOC
	26.A 3-31-22 - Auth to Execute Professional Services Contract with Greeley and Hansen for WWTP Relocation Alternatives Planning
	26.B CAWD Trmt Plant Relocation
	26.B CAWD Treatment Plant Relocation Alternatives Planning - 08-Mar-2022
	2018-19 OM Prelim.v2.0

	26.C RES 2022-15 Greeley and Hansen - WWTP Relocation Alternatives Planning
	27.A March Staff Report Approval of Job Description Updates-Full-time Collection Maintenance Utility Worker I Grade 6
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	27.B Job Description - Collections and Maintenance-Worker I Redline
	27.C RES 2022-16 Amended Job Description
	28.A  Teleconferencing 03-31-22
	28.B RES 2022-17 Authorizing Remote Teleconference Meetings
	30. Preliminary Budget - Staff Report 03-31-22
	31.A Preliminary Rate Model 22-23
	31.B  Attachment A
	31.C  Attachment B
	31.D  Attachment C
	31.E  Attachment D
	32.A LAFCO Call For Nominations-Staff Report
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION

	32.B ISD Voting Packet
	2022 Ballot for Election Cover Memo
	LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF MONTEREY COUNTY

	2022 ISD Reg Member Ballot
	LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION OF MONTEREY COUNTY
	March 1, 2022
	OFFICIAL BALLOT OF THE
	INDEPENDENT SPECIAL DISTRICT SELECTION COMMITTEE


	David Kong - ISD Nomination Form 2.25.22
	Mary Ann Leffel - ISD Nomination Form 2.25.22
	Gail Morton - ISD Nomination Form 2.28.2022

	33. Project #18-01 - Monthly Construction Progress Report - March 2022
	34. PBCSD 02-25-22
	DISCUSSION
	Agenda items from the February 25, 2022, meeting that are of specific interest to this District:

	ADPF345.tmp
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION
	NEXT STEPS

	ADP21B2.tmp
	RECOMMENDATION
	DISCUSSION




